
 

 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Monday, 5 October 2020.  

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 

     

 

 
 

Tuesday, 13 October 2020 at 2.00 pm 
Virtual Meeting - This meeting is being held remotely 

using Skype for Business 

 
 

Cabinet 
Members: 

 
Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy 
 

Agenda 

 Accessing the Meeting 
Councillors should access the meeting using the link in their calendar. 

Members of the press and public can gain access to the meeting by using the following link: 

Cabinet - 13 October 2020 

If you are using a smartphone or tablet it may be necessary to download the Skype for Business app 

before you can enter the meeting; please allow yourself time to do this. If you are using a laptop or 

desktop computer, you should be able to access the meeting via your web browser. 

When you follow the link to the meeting you will enter a virtual lobby; you will be invited into the 

meeting from the lobby just before the meeting begins. Members of the public should not use the 

Chat function in Skype for Business. This is for use by Councillors, who will use it to indicate that 

they would like to speak. 

If you have any questions about how to join the meeting, e-mail democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk. 

 
 

Cabinet  

https://meet.southkesteven.gov.uk/d3/5TGY16BF?sl=1
mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk


 

 

1.   Register of attendance and apologies for absence  
   

2.   Minutes of the previous meeting 
Minutes of the meeting held on 8 September 2020. 

(Pages 5 - 14) 

   
3.   Disclosure of Interests (if any)  

   
 Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
4.   Review of Public Space Protection Orders 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations. 
(Pages 15 - 66) 

   
5.   Community Funding 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Communities. 
(Pages 67 - 79) 

   
6.   Planning White Paper Consultation Response 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning. 
(Pages 81 - 105) 

   
7.   Award of Contract to Tunstall for Sheltered Housing Telecare System 

Report from the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning. 
(Pages 107 - 150) 

   
8.   Lease of Linchfield Road 

Report from the Deputy Leader. 
(Pages 151 - 159) 

   
 Items for information 

 
9.   Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 
Report from the Leader of the Council.  

(Pages 161 - 163) 

   
10.   Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 

Report from the Leader of the Council.  
(Pages 165 - 190) 

   
11.   Representations and questions from Non Cabinet Members  

   
12.   Cabinet Forward Plan 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2021 

Report of the Leader of the Council. 
(Pages 191 - 200) 

   
 Urgent Items 

 
Items which the Leader is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency 

pursuant to Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972 by reason of special 

circumstances.  

 
 Exempt Items for Cabinet Decision: Key 

 
Under Section 100(a)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public may be excluded 

form the meeting during any listed items of business, on the grounds that if they were to be present, 

exempt information could be disclosed to them as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Schedule 

12A of the Act. 



 

 

 
13.   St Martin's Park, Stamford project update 

Report from the Leader of the Council.  
(Pages 201 - 268) 

   



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Minutes 
Cabinet 
Tuesday, 8 September 2020 

 
 

 
 

 
The Leader: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council (Chairman) 
The Deputy Leader: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the Council 
(Vice-Chairman) 
  
Cabinet Members present  
  
Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for Communities 
Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
Councillor Rosemary Trollope-Bellew, Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor 
Economy 
 
Non-Cabinet Members present 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Phil Dilks 
Councillor Penny Milnes 
Councillor Ray Wootten 
 
Officers  

Chief Executive 
Strategic Director, Growth, 
Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations 
Strategic Director, Transformation and Change 
Assistant Chief Executive, Housing Delivery 
Interim Director of Finance 
Director of Law and Governance 
Head of Customer Experience 
Head of Leisure 
Head of Governance 
Democratic Officer 
 
 
132. Register of attendance and apologies for absence 
 
All Cabinet Members were present. 
 
 

5

Agenda Item 2



 

 

133. Minutes of the previous meeting 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 18 August 2020 were agreed as a correct record 
of the decisions taken.   
 
The Leader of the Council requested that apologies of Cabinet Members be included 
when the register of attendance was reported in the minutes. 
 
Following the last meeting of the Cabinet the Leader of the Council confirmed that 
Lindum Group had been awarded the contract for the refurbishment works for the 
property at Elm Street, Stamford. The contract had been awarded on 28 August 2020 
and was subject to the delivery agreement being signed which was currently with the 
Council’s Legal Department.  Lindum Group should be on site from 5 October 2020 
and the work would be completed between Christmas and the New Year. 
 
At the last meeting, Local Government Re-organisation had been raised. The Leader 
stated that an invitation from the Minister was still awaited, although the Minister who 
had looked after Lincolnshire, Simon Clarke, MP had recently resigned from the 
Government. PA Consulting were still working with all seven districts, putting together 
a strategic business case for re-organisation, and members had been receiving 
regular updates on the issue. 
 
134. Disclosure of Interests (if any) 
 
None disclosed. 
 
135. South Kesteven District Council Corporate Plan 
 
The Leader of the Council introduced his report on the Corporate Plan for South 
Kesteven 2020-2023. The plan detailed the key actions and priorities of the Council 
for the next three years, to enable the Council to achieve its vision of “the best district 
in which to live, work and visit.”  The Council would deliver this goal in the next three 
years by working with partners to see the district flourish.   
 
A SWOT analysis (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats) had been 
carried out to understand the context and current performance of South Kesteven 
both as a district and as a council.  The work on the SWOT analysis had been used 
to develop the Council’s five key priorities: Growth and our Economy; Housing that 
Meets the Needs of all Residents; Healthy and Strong Communities; A Clean and 
Sustainable Environment and A High Performing Council.   Under each priority area 
there was a set of actions which would help the Council achieve the outcomes 
required for the district.   
 
Key priority actions included; the investment in leisure facilities as part of the leisure 
programme; a commitment to reduce the carbon footprint of the Council; the delivery 
of key strategic sites like St Martin’s Park; the regeneration and improvement of the 
district’s town centres; the building of high quality homes of all types and tenures 
across the district; and the implementation of the Covid-19 Recovery Plan.    
 

6



 

 

A number of workshops had been held and the Leader thanked both members and 
officers for their work supporting the workshops and compiling the SWOT analysis, 
both pre and post Covid-19, which had been undertaken virtually.    There were over 
50 key actions to be taken forward to improve services.  Values that had been 
contained previously in the Corporate Strategy, which pre-dated the Corporate Plan 
had been included within the Corporate Plan.  Key Performance Indicators will be 
developed, through engagement with the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees.   
 
The Leader then spoke about the current financial pressures on Councils, particularly 
during Covid-19 but stated that South Kesteven had taken a prudent approach which 
had allowed them to respond better to the crisis then many other authorities. It was 
an ambitious, but deliverable Corporate Plan, and would enable South Kesteven to 
strive to be the best district in which to live, work and visit.  
 
All Cabinet Members agreed that the Corporate Plan was easy to read, with clear 
actions and they fully endorsed it. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED that Cabinet: 
 

1) Recommends to Council the approval of the Corporate Plan 2020-23 as 
attached at Appendix A to the Leader of the Council’s report. 

2) Notes that the key performance indicators and success criteria for each action 
will be developed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committees and the Cabinet. 

 
136. Amended Budget 2020/21 
 
The Leader of the Council thanked the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 
for his strategic direction and also the Finance Team and the Joint Budget Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for their work on the amended budget 2020/21. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources presented his report and stated that 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic an amended budget was required to reflect 
significant changes in the income and expenditure budgets.  The Joint Budget 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee had met on 26 August 2020 to discuss the 
amended budget for 2020/21. Members were supportive of the proposed 
amendments. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources highlighted two changes to the 
budget since the Joint Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee. He  confirmed that 
the £168,000 budget for the Bourne Corn Exchange refurbishment would be fully 
utilised and that the £200,000 for the artificial football pitch at Deeping St James 
would be deferred until 2021/22 provided confirmation was received from the Football 
Foundation.    The remainder of the budget remained the same.  He drew members 
attention to the recommendation which proposed an increase of 0.75% on the salary 
and member allowance budgets to meet the national pay agreement of 2.75%; 2% 
had been allocated when the budget had been approved on 2 March 2020.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources stated that he was aware that the 
Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations also had an amendment to 

7



 

 

propose.  The amended budget proposed gave a deficit position, however, the report 
detailed a number of interventions and actions that would be overseen to mitigate the 
impact on the Council’s budget stabilisation reserve.  The budget would be kept 
under close review for the remainder of the financial year.   
 
The report also detailed the Governments reimbursement scheme for fees and 
charges.  A submission for the period April to June would be made in September 
2020.   The forecast was for £1.4m and was on top of the monies highlighted in Table 
1 of the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources’ report.   
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations proposed a small amendment 
which concerned payment to waste operatives.  During the Covid-19 pandemic it had 
become apparent that one of the critical services to be maintained was the collection 
of waste.  To reward the diligence of teams during the crisis, a £50 per week bonus 
was given to the waste teams which was due to end on 30 September 2020.  South 
Kesteven waste operatives were the lowest paid waste and street scene operatives 
in Lincolnshire.  Plans were in place to correct the issue before the next year’s 
budget, however in order to put their wages on a par with their colleagues in 
neighbouring authorities it was proposed to move their bonus status to their expected 
new level from October 2020.  The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations 
proposed an amendment to:  
 
Adjust the proposed amended budgets to apply a 5% market supplement for loader 
and operational street scene staff to align their basic wage with that of the 
surrounding authorities. This would require a £93,000 adjustment to the Commercial 
and Operations service cost shown at Table 3 of the report increasing the 2020/21 
proposed service budget to £8.727m (thereby increasing the proposed service 
variance to £1,319,000) and adjusting the general funding net budget requirement 
from £20.581m to £20.674m). The amendment, if supported would increase the 
forecast net budget deficit to £1,315,000 as shown at Table 3 of the report. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources supported the proposed 
amendment. 
 
A question was asked by a Non Cabinet Member about the salaries of 
EnvironmentSK employees and it was stated that this was not a matter for the 
Council to discuss, the employees would be paid in line with market salaries. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED that: 
 
Cabinet recommends to Council: 
 

1) An increase in the salary and Members’ allowances budgets of an additional 
0.75% in order to meet the national pay agreement for 2020/21 of 2.75%. 

2) The draft proposed budget amendments for the 2020/21 budget framework 
contained within the Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources report and 
associated appendices subject to the following amendments: 
 

i. The Bourne Corn Exchange refurbishment to fully utilise the £168,000 
allocated budget. 

8



 

 

ii. The £200,000 replacement of the Deepings all weather pitch to be 
deferred until 2021/22 provided agreement is reached with the Football 
Foundation. 

iii. To adjust the Commercial and Operations service cost to apply a 5% 
market supplement from 1 October 2020 for loader and operational 
street scene staff to align their basic wage with that of the surrounding 
authorities. This will require a £93,000 adjustment to the Commercial 
and Operations service cost shown at table 3 of the report, increasing 
the 2020/21 proposed service budget to £8.727m (thereby increasing 
the proposed service variance to £1,319,000) and adjusting the general 
funding net budget requirement from £20.581m to £20.674m). The 
forecast net budget deficit will be £1,315,000 as shown at table 3 of the 
report. 

 
137. Cultural Strategy 
 
The Leader thanked the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy and the 
Chairman and members of the Culture and Visitor Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
for their work on the draft strategy.  The visitor economy was critical to ensure that 
the district thrived and the culture economy helped to support the recovery of the 
district. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy presented her report on the 
new Cultural Strategy for the district.  The Strategy provided a clear blue print of the 
cultural offer in South Kesteven to both providers and the residents of the district.  
Extensive conversations had been undertaken with a variety of organisations and the 
public.  The document brought together the Arts, Heritage, the Sciences and Sports 
and would centre on wider collaboration within the sector, to provide greater 
efficiencies and connectivity between events, projects and initiatives. 
 
It had been a challenging year for culture with the Covid-19 pandemic and events 
had been postponed or cancelled.  It had also brought into focus the vital part that 
cultural activities had played on the health and wellbeing of communities and the role 
of culture in the economic and people’s well-being. 
 
The Cultural Strategy would focus on three key messages; partnerships, 
communications and accessibility.  The Strategy provided a framework to guide 
South Kesteven District Council in supporting individual practitioners and 
organisations to re-establish the cultural landscape. Culture would be at the heart of 
the Council’s Corporate Plan and would help to underpin the work carried out with 
residents to make South Kesteven a wonderful place to live, work and visit.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy thanked the Chairman and 
members of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
together with the Head of Arts and his team for their work on the Strategy.  She also 
thanked those who had taken part in the consultations. 
 
Members of the Cabinet supported the proposals and the clear message sent by the 
Strategy and the sectors included, recognising the importance of culture and sport on 
people’s wellbeing both physically and mentally. 

9



 

 

 
A non-Cabinet Member asked about the measures for specific targets particularly in 
relation to sports and how they would be measured. He also made reference to the 
Bourne Cicle Festival. The Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy referred 
to previous conversations about the festival and she indicated that conversations 
were being held with a gentleman from Bourne about a sound business case. She 
was not in a position to say anything further at the present. Performance would be 
looked at as the Strategy was progressed. 
                                       
On being put to the vote it was AGREED that: 
 

1. Cabinet approves the adoption of the Cultural Strategy as set out in Appendix 
1 to the Cabinet Member for Culture and Visitor Economy’s report. 

2. Cabinet recognises that the adoption of a Cultural Strategy is a key action 
within the emerging Corporate Plan, which also supports improvement and 
investment in local arts and cultural venues across the district. 

3. Cabinet notes the conclusions highlighted in the Cultural Strategy and 
advocates integrating these points into the Corporate Plan Action Plan, 
supporting the Authority’s goal to become one of the best places to live, work 
and visit in the UK. 

 
138. Area Offices Customer Consultation 
 
The Leader thanked the Cabinet Member for Communities and the officers involved 
in the work that had been undertaken. The pandemic had shown how people’s 
behaviour  had changed in the way they interacted with the Council and he looked 
forward to the comprehensive improvement programme for Stamford Arts Centre. 
  
The Cabinet Member for Communities presented her report on the outcome of two 
customer consultations relating to proposed changes to the Market Deeping and 
Stamford Area office provision. Customer expectations continued to increase and the 
way in which people accessed services had changed with the introduction of a wide 
range of modern technologies, this had been highlighted with the recent Covid-19 
pandemic.   To ensure that the Council continued to meet the needs of those who 
used its services on a regular basis, the report before members considered the face 
to face customer service provision at Market Deeping and Stamford area offices.  
 
Two consultations exercises had been carried out.  One had taken place before 
lockdown and one during lockdown to understand the needs and preferences of 
those who accessed the Council’s services at these locations.   Following the closure 
of the Council’s offices in March 2020, due to lockdown, the way that people 
accessed services had changed to telephone, website and via email.  There had 
been an increase in demand across these areas and between 23 March 2020 and 31 
August 2020 the Council had received over 60,000 telephone calls and over 11,000 
emails.  
 
A second consultation exercise had been undertaken in June/July 2020 to better 
understand if there had been a shift in opinion as a result of the changes to the 
service offer for each of the sites during the Covid-19 pandemic. The Cabinet 
Member for Communities thanked all those who had provided feedback, which 

10



 

 

indicated that residents were more supportive of the proposals to access services 
digitally.  
 
A number of options had been outlined within the report to look at how the Council 
could modernise its offer to residents.  Consultations had taken place with Deepings 
Community Library to put in a kiosk and to have access to PC’s and signposting for 
those who needed to physically access services.  Thanks were given to the Deepings 
Community Library for their help with the initiative and work would be undertaken to 
ensure a smooth transition took place. 
 
The offer in Stamford would relocate to the Stamford Arts Centre.  A kiosk and 
telephone service would be put in place and Customer Service officers would be 
available to support residents during seasonal or peak demand.  PC support would 
continue to be accessible from Stamford Library.  To ensure that a high quality 
service provision was delivered effectively, investment to renovate Stamford Arts 
Centre was proposed.  This would help to improve the effectiveness of the facilities 
for those accessing the Arts and the for those accessing other Council services. 
 
Cabinet Members were supportive of the proposals. The Cabinet Member for Culture 
and Visitor Economy welcomed the use of Stamford Arts Centre and the Cabinet 
Member for Housing and Planning was happy to see the joined up approach being 
taken at Stamford by utilising the Arts Centre and also the work done at Market 
Deeping as he had been involved early on with proposals.  Questions were asked in 
relation to having a face to face option other than at peak times and it was stated 
arrangements would be made for those residents who required a face to face 
meeting. 
 
On being put to the vote it was AGREED: 
 

1) That Cabinet approves the relocation of the Market Deeping Area Office based 
on option 3 contained within the Cabinet Member for Communities’ report. 

2) That Cabinet approves the relocation of the Stamford Area Office based on 
option 3 contained within the Cabinet Member for Communities’ report. 

3) Cabinet authorises the use of the property reserve to meet any costs relating 
to the exiting of each site. 

4) Cabinet recommends to Council a funding allocation of £100k to be included in 
the 2020/21 capital programme in order to undertake a modernisation scheme 
at Stamford Arts Centre.   

 
139. Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 
 
The Leader of Council informed the Cabinet that there were no specific 
recommendations from the Council or the Overview and Scrutiny Committees.  The 
Joint Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee had met to discuss the amended 
budget proposals for 2020/21 on 26 August 2020 and he thanked the Chairman of 
the Joint Budget Overview and Scrutiny Committee and all members for their work on 
the amended budget.  
 

11



 

 

140. Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers 
 
The Leader of the Council presented his report on Key and Non-Key Decisions taken 
since the last meeting of the Cabinet. One Non-Key Decision had been taken on the 
re-introduction of recovery activity. 
 
141. Representations and questions from Non-Cabinet Members 
 
A non-Cabinet member asked about the Deepings Leisure Centre which he had 
raised previously.  It was now nine months since Deeping members had been 
promised regular updates in relation to the Deepings Leisure Centre and nothing had 
happened to date.  He referred to meetings of both the Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the 
Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee which had taken 
place at the beginning of the year, and the establishment of a leisure working group 
which would meet monthly.  He quoted from both sets of Committee notes about 
what the working group would look at and that local Ward members would also be 
involved.  He wanted confirmation that no meetings of the leisure working group had 
taken place. 
 
The non-Cabinet member then referred to a report that had been given to Deeping St 
James Parish Council in which it stated that the leisure centre would be entirely 
located on Lincolnshire County Council land and this also applied to the artificial 
pitch. The Chairman of the Parish Council had informed the non-Cabinet member 
that this was not true as the latest plans that he had, showed the artificial pitch on 
land owned by Deeping St James Parish Council.   These plans had not been shared 
with Deeping Ward members and he asked the Deputy Leader to clarify the position.  
He also asked about a ball park figure for the cost of the leisure centre. 
 
The Deputy Leader referred to when he took over the portfolio and the pandemic 
which had affected progress on the project.  He referred to the meeting held on 30 
January 2020 at which the non-Cabinet member was present, and where members 
discussed what they felt was important for a leisure facility at the Deepings.  He had 
now visited all leisure centres in the district and this included the Deepings which he 
had visited three/four weeks ago.  The wording contained in the report was incorrect. 
The artificial pitch would be located where the pitch was currently which was on land 
owned by Deeping St James Parish Council. 
 
He referred to the recent meeting of Deeping St James Parish Council where the 
leisure centre had been discussed. The Deepings Rugby Club had stated that they 
wished to retain their pavilion which meant that the proposed changing rooms on the 
outside of the leisure centre would not be needed.   Once the final plans were known 
these would be discussed with Deeping members including Market Deeping 
members. 
 
The Deputy Leader had asked for two cost prices for running the leisure centre, one 
for an eight lane swimming pool for 25 metres with a movable floor and the other for 
an eight lane swimming pool with a 50 metre pool.  It was noted that the cost of the 
50 metre pool would be very high and it was doubtful that this would be included as 
he was aware that every 50 metre swimming pool in the country ran at a loss.  He 

12



 

 

believed there was a Parish Council meeting on Thursday of that week to which 
Deeping and Market Deeping members had been invited.  In relation to the cost of 
the artificial football pitch, the Football Foundation had stated that they would provide 
80% of funding, if the pitch was used for football only.   Unfortunately, no contribution 
had come from Hockey England to enable hockey to be played there.  It was hoped 
that the changing rooms would be eventually knocked down and go into the leisure 
centre, although plans had yet to be finalised.   
 
In response to a request from a Cabinet Member regarding the evaluation of having a 
50 metre pool, Members were advised that this would form part of the  business 
case, however it was anticipated that a 50 metre pool would not be sustainable or 
viable. 
 
The Deputy Leader had discussed with the Head of Leisure what would go into the 
leisure centre; saunas, fitness suite and indoor courts which could also be used as a 
performance venue, but he stressed that nothing had been confirmed apart from the 
swimming pool and he asked members for their patience.   
 
The rough cost of the project would be in the region of £20million and the Council 
would be borrowing the money.  Once the lease on the land for the artificial pitch had 
been signed then things could be progressed. 
 
The Leader stated that it was not only the Deeping members and residents  who 
would access the leisure centre but also those members and residents who lived in 
the surrounding wards such as the Casewick Ward.  The Leader stated that 
engagement with members would happen at the appropriate time.   
 
The Strategic Director for Growth reminded members of the response given at the 
end of the last Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Service Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee in relation to the member working group and summarised 
the response given at the Committee.  Until a site was secured to develop a new 
leisure facility in Deeping St James, it was impossible to finalise work in relation to 
the design and development costs. Once work had been concluded and where clear 
options were available, the member working group would be convened.  Ward 
members would be included and a joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee would 
take place so that the appropriate level of scrutiny of the options could be 
undertaken. The options would then be presented to Cabinet and that was 
anticipated to take place towards the end of the year, November or December.  The 
working groups would take place when the time was right and there was something 
meaningful and useful for the groups to discuss, further work was needed to be done 
until that position was reached. 
 
The non-Cabinet member thanked the Deputy Leader and the Strategic Director for 
Growth for their comments.  He did sympathise that this type of project took a long 
time, but he felt that decisions were being made and he was not aware of the 
meeting on Thursday. 
 
The Deputy Leader stated that currently the lease agreement in respect of the land 
for the artificial pitch needed to be concluded.  A meeting with the Deeping St James 
Parish Council Chairman and others had been arranged for 2pm on Thursday 17 

13



 

 

September 2020.    The Leader stated that a virtual roundtable meeting would be 
arranged for all Deeping St James, Market Deeping and members from surrounding 
Wards to update them with the current position. 
 
The Cabinet Member for Commercial and Operations was asked if Lincolnshire 
County Council would be continuing with the food waste trial and whether this would 
be rolled out further, and a comment was made in relation to the proposed collection 
of paper and card by the County Council.  The Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations responded that Lincolnshire County Council would not be continuing with 
the food waste trial, however, the District Council would be continuing with the trial 
and was exploring with Lincolnshire County Council colleagues how the service could 
be expanded.  Although the County had issued a press release in relation to their 
ambitions to collect paper and card it had not been discussed with the relevant 
Districts as to whether or not they wished to carry this out.   A debate would happen 
to discuss the benefits especially in terms of cost, as it relied on residents receiving 
another bin.  It was hoped that by the time that this happened, in the next two to 
three years, the food waste would have been rolled out. 
 
A question was then directed to both the Leader and the Deputy Leader as directors 
of InvestSK in respect of the procurement process used to hire consultants at a cost 
of £155,000 for an InvestSK project.  The Strategic Director for Growth stated that he 
would reply to the non-Cabinet member’s email direct. 
 
Further comments were then made in relation to the lack of meetings held in respect 
of the leisure centre for Deeping St James and including Deeping St James members 
in any decisions that had been taken.  The Deputy Leader reiterated that no detailed 
decisions had been taken in respect of the leisure centre.  Agreement was still 
needed with Deeping St James Parish Council for the lease of the land for the 
artificial pitch.  Once agreement had been reached things could be progressed. 
 
The Leader reiterated that he would arrange a round table virtual meeting for all 
stakeholders that would include senior officers where information to date would be 
discussed. 
 
142. Cabinet Forward Plan 1 October 2020 to 30 September 2021 
 
Cabinet Members noted the Forward Plan for 1 October 2020 to 30 September 2021 
which was appended to the agenda.   The Forward Plan gave an indication of items 
to be presented to the Cabinet in the next 12 months. 
 
143. Close of meeting 
 
The meeting closed at 15:11pm. 
 
 

14



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley 

  Cabinet Member for Commercial 
and Operations 

           

 

Review of Public Space Protection Orders 

The Council is required to review the Public Space Protection Orders which apply in the district 
every three years.  This report considers whether the existing Orders should be extended and an 
additional Order implemented. 

 

Report Author 

Anne-Marie Coulthard, Head of Environmental 

Tel: 01476 406319 

Email: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Ian Yates, Assistant Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

16 September 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

16 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member for 
Commercial and Operations 

25 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the results of the public consultation on the extension of the existing Public 
Space Protection Orders and proposed Public Space Protection Order to control 
dogs at The Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery. 

2. Approves the Public Space Protection Orders relating to dog fouling and the 
requirement for dogs to be placed on leads on order of an officer for a 3 year period 
from 20 October 2020. 

3. Approves the Public Space Protection Order relating to alcohol control for a 3 year 
period from 20 October 2020. 

15

Agenda Item 4

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

4. Approves the Public Space Protection Order excluding dogs from enclosed 
children’s play areas for a 3 year period from 20 October 2020.   

5. Approves the implementation of a new Public Space Protection Order requiring dogs 
to be kept on leads of no more than 1 metre in length in The Spinney, Market Deeping 
Cemetery for a period of 3 years from 20 October 2020.  

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Public Spaces Protection Orders (PSPOs) were introduced by the Anti-social Behaviour, 

Crime and Policing Act 2014 to deal with nuisance or problems in specific areas that are 

detrimental to the local community’s quality of life, by imposing conditions on the use of that 

area which apply to everyone. They are intended to help ensure that the law-abiding majority 

can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from anti-social behaviour.  They can apply to any 

public space. The definition of public space is wide and includes any place to which the 

public or any section of the public has access. 

1.2 A PSPO can be made by the council if they are satisfied on reasonable grounds that the 

activity or behaviour concerned, carried out, or likely to be carried out, in a public space:  

• has had, or is likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the 
locality;  

• is, or is likely to be, persistent or continuing in nature;  

• is, or is likely to be, unreasonable; and  

• justifies the restrictions imposed.  

1.3 When assessing what is ‘unreasonable’ activity, guidance advises that councils will need to 

balance the rights of the community to enjoy public spaces without antisocial behaviour, 

with the civil liberties of individuals and groups who may be affected by any restrictions 

imposed. 

1.4 Orders must be reviewed every three years and can be extended by up to three years if it 

is considered that they are necessary to prevent the original behaviour from occurring or 

recurring.  The current Orders for the district expire on 20 October 2020 and cover the 

following: 

• Dog Control 

− Fouling of land by dogs.  This applies to any public space within the district and makes 
it an offence to fail to pick up dog faeces if a dog, which an individual is in charge of, 
defecates (district wide) 

− The requirement for a dog to be put on a lead at the direction of an authorised officer.  
An authorised officer can request an individual in charge of a dog in any public space 
within the district, to put (and keep) the dog on a lead, if such restraint is considered 
reasonably necessary (district wide) 

− The exclusion of dogs from specified areas. An offence is committed if a person in 
charge of a dog takes it onto or permits it to enter or remain in an enclosed children’s 
play area covered by the Order.    

• Anti-social behaviour caused by drinking alcohol in a designated public space 

− It is an offence for a person to continue to drink alcohol in a designated place after 
being asked not to do so by a police officer or other designated person. The police 

16



 
 

also have the power to require the surrender of opened alcohol containers. Those 
who fail to comply with the confiscation are liable to arrest and may be fined £500 if 
convicted. The PSPO does not prohibit responsible drinking in public spaces, only 
problematic drinking causing a nuisance to others (the four main towns). 

1.5 Should the Orders be extended, it is proposed that the requirements of the Orders remain 

unchanged, however, the following variations are proposed;  

• Alcohol Control – that the Ward boundaries are amended to reflect changes.   

• Dog Exclusion – that the list of enclosed children’s play areas is updated to incorporate 
new areas which have been constructed since the original Order was made.  

1.6 In addition to reviewing the exiting Orders, a request has been received from Market 

Deeping Town Council to consider the implementation of a new PSPO to require dogs to be 

kept on leads in an enclosed area of Market Deeping Cemetery known as The Spinney.  

This area is used for the scattering of cremated remains which are covered with a thin layer 

of soil.  The letter requesting this is at Appendix 1. 

Evidence (pre consultation) 

1.7 The appearance of the district is important to residents and the Council’s commitment to a 

higher street standard enforces this. Dog fouling, in particular, continues to prompt 

complaints and patrols are carried out in hotspot areas.  The presence of officer’s and 

signage does act as a deterrent and as a result no breaches of the PSPO have been 

identified, although existing fouling is observed. The number of dog fouling complaints 

received by South Kesteven District Council are shown below. 

Year Number of fouling complaints 

2016 312 

2017 197 

2018 188 

2019 211 

 

1.8 In respect of alcohol control, from April 2019 to May 2020, high level data from Lincolnshire 

Police shows they received 162 reports of drunken behaviour and 12 reports of street 

drinking across the district.    

1.9 No records are held relating to complaints of issues with dogs in The Spinney, Market 

Deeping prior to the request from Market Deeping Town Council.  

1.10 Before extending, varying or implementing a new PSPO there is a requirement to consult 

the public, police, landowners and any other community representatives that are considered 

appropriate.  

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 The Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the Orders at their meeting 

on 21 July 2020.  The Committee endorsed the request from Market Deeping Town Council 

to implement a Public Space Protection Order to control dogs at The Spinney, Market 

Deeping Cemetery and recommended to the Cabinet Member for Commercial and 

Operations that public consultation was undertaken in respect of the existing and proposed 

Orders.  

17



 
 

2.2 As required by the Act, a four-week public consultation was undertaken from 14 August 

2020 to 11 September 2020.  The draft Orders which were subject to consultation are at 

Appendix 2 and include the variations to the Ward boundaries and additional enclosed 

children’s play areas. 

2.3 The consultation took the form of a questionnaire on the council’s website.  This was 

promoted through social media and press release. Parish councils were provided with 

posters to display.  Materials were provided to Market Deeping Town Council for display at 

The Spinney.  Statutory consultees were contacted directly.   

Consultation Results 

2.4 Full details of the consultation, a list of consultees and breakdown of responses is at 

Appendix 3. In total, 242 responses were received. A summary of responses is detailed 

below.  

Existing Orders 

• Over 83% said that dog fouling was an issue that bothered them; 99% agreed with the 
proposal to extend the current PSPO for dog fouling. 

• Over 51% were concerned about, or had experienced dogs behaving badly off the lead; 
87% agreed with the proposal to extend the current PSPO for dogs to be placed on a 
lead when requested. 

• 32% had experienced or were concerned about dogs being off the lead in enclosed 
children’s play areas; 91% agreed with the proposal to extend the current PSPO 
excluding dogs from specific enclosed play areas. 

• 47% had experienced or were concerned about drinking alcohol in public places; 95% 
agreed with the proposal to extend the current PSPO relating to alcohol control. 

Whilst it is recognised that many dog owners act responsibly, the evidence shows that dog 
fouling is still an issue within the district and that this causes the greatest concern to 
residents.  The consultation has demonstrated wide support with the extension of the 
existing Orders, with dog fouling causing the greatest concern.  

The Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery 

To assess the local impact respondents were asked to give their postcode.  17 respondents 
reported living within the PE6 postcode area which includes The Deepings.  Their responses 
to the questions relating to the proposed PSPO for The Spinney are shown below alongside 
responses from all respondents.  

To what extent do you agree or disagree with the proposal to introduce a new public space 
protection order which will require a person in charge of a dog to put and keep a dog on a 
lead of less than 1 metre? 

From all respondents From respondents in PE6 

 Number % Number % 

Strongly 
agree 

106 56.1 16 94.1 

Agree 29 15.3 0 0 

Neither agree 
or disagree 

46 24.3 0 0 

Disagree 4 2.1 1 5.9 

18



 
 

Strongly 
disagree 

4 2.1 0 0 

TOTAL 189 100 17 100 

 

Are you concerned about, or have experienced issues with the behaviour of dogs being off 
their leads within the Spinney? 

From all respondents From respondents in PE6 

 Number % Number % 

Yes 25 14 7 43.8 

No 154 86 9 56.2 

TOTAL 179 100 16* 100 

*one respondent did not answer 

 

Will the introduction of a public space protection order for the area in the Spinney have a 
significant negative impact on you?   

From all respondents From respondents in PE6 

 Number % Number % 

Yes 5 2.7 2 11.8 

No 180 97.3 15 88.2 

TOTAL 185 100 17 100 

 

Although relatively low numbers of respondents reported living in this area, there is local 
concern about the issue of dogs being off the lead in an area used for the scattering of 
ashes and wider agreement with the proposal to implement of an Order requiring dogs to 
be kept on a 1 metre lead in this area.   

2.5 Lincolnshire Police and the Police and Crime Commissioner were contacted directly for their 

comments.  The following response was received from Inspector Gary Stewart “I would 

support the PSPOs it is important that we have the tools readily available to deal with Alcohol 

Related ASB. We have used the PSPO previously in Grantham when we had an issue with 

ASB related street drinking. It was very effective”.  

Respondents were given the opportunity to make free comments.  Stakeholder feedback is 

detailed in the consultation report at Appendix 3.  Throughout the survey, respondents have 

used the opportunity to raise areas of concern in their locality. Where details have been 

provided and where appropriate individual comments will be responded to.   

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The existing Orders could be allowed to expire.  This would remove the ability to enforce 

against the matters covered by the Orders.  

3.2 Cabinet may determine that the legal test has not been met in respect of some or all of the 

Orders.  In this case the Order(s) should not be extended/approved.  

19



 
 

3.3 If as a result of the consultation, changes to the draft Orders are proposed further 

consultation will be necessary. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 Existing PSPOs 

The consultation has demonstrated broad support for the continuation of all the existing 

Orders.  It is likely that the existing PSPOs and associated sanctions have had a deterrent 

effect and should be extended to ensure an effective enforcement mechanism is in place.   

New PSPO 

The majority of respondents across all areas, and particularly in the PE6 postcode area 

were in support of the proposal, with 25(no.) from all areas reporting that they have 

experienced or were concerned about issues associated with dogs off leads in the Spinney.  

This area is enclosed and used for the scattering of ashes.  While large numbers of people 

may not be directly impacted, it is likely that dogs that are not kept under control on a lead 

could disturb areas causing distress to relatives and visitors.  This behaviour is considered 

unreasonable and the provisions of the draft Order are therefore justified and proportionate.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 To ensure an effective mechanism is available to deal with issues detailed in the Orders.   

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 If approved, in accordance with The Anti-social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 

(Publication of Public Spaces Protection Orders) Regulations 2014, the Orders will be 

published on the Council’s website.  Signage will be erected/refreshed on or adjacent to the 

area(s) the Order relates to, setting out the effect of the Order.  Where the Orders apply to 

the entire district area, signage will be focused on populated areas.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 There will be minor budget implications in enforcing any extension of existing or new Orders.  

A new Order will require signage and signage for the existing areas will need to be refreshed 

and reviewed. It is anticipated that some additional minor spend will be required for the 

signage.  This will be identified from existing budgets and therefore does not require 

additional financing being sought. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance  

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 sets out the requirements for 

consultation.  A PSPO can be made if, on reasonable grounds, the local authority is satisfied 

that the required conditions are met. As stated in the report, the PSPOs can last for up to 

three years once approved and can be varied or extended more than once. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 An Initial Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is at Appendix 4.   The 

consultation has not highlighted any additional areas of concern.  

 

20



 
 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 PSPOs can be challenged under the Act by an individual who lives in, regularly works in or 

visits the restricted area on the grounds that the local authority did not have the power either 

to make the Order or include particular prohibitions or requirements, or that proper 

processes had not been followed as prescribed by the legislation. To mitigate against this, 

government guidance in respect of the process has been adhered to and legal services 

have been involved in the drafting of the proposed Orders.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 PSPOs were specifically introduced as a tool to deal with antisocial behaviour which is 

detrimental on the local community’s quality of life. Given that these Orders can restrict what 

people can do and how they behave in public spaces, it is important that the restrictions 

imposed are focused on specific behaviours and are proportionate to the detrimental effect 

that the behaviour is causing or can cause, and are necessary to prevent it from continuing, 

occurring or recurring. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 The existence of Public Spaces Protection Orders means that Officers will need to visit 

these areas for educational and enforcement purposes.  Officers travel on foot where 

possible and have access to electric pool car vehicles. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 No other significant implications have been identified.  

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Report and minutes of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 21 July 2020 

14.2 Non-Key Decision - Review of Public Space Protection Orders - Public Consultation, 5 

August 2020 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix 1 – Letter from Market Deeping Town Council 

15.2 Appendix 2 – Draft Public Space Protection Orders – hard copy will be available for 

Members on request 

Alcohol Control  

Dogs on Leads 

Dog Exclusion Areas 

Dogs on Leads, The Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery 

Dog Fouling   

15.3 Appendix 3 – Consultation response report  

15.4 Appendix 4 – Initial Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

20 July 2020 

21

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=3910&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1085
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1085
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15110
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15111
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15112
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15113
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15114


 
 

Previously Considered by: Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

21 July 2020 

Final Decision date   13 October 2020 

 

22



 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Request for a Public Spaces Protection Order 
Limiting the Movement of Dogs through The Spinney, 

Market Deeping Cemetery 
 
 

June 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Town Clerk: Mrs S Lydford 
 

Market Deeping Town Council 
Town Hall 

Market Place 
Market Deeping 

01778 343170 
Mdtc.townclerk@btconnect.com 

 

23

Appendix 1



The Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery 
 

Market Deeping Cemetery is located between Church Street and John Eve Way 
in the heart of a Market Deeping recreational area (see attached plan).  
 
The Spinney is a separate, attractive and peaceful area within the Cemetery set 
aside for the scattering of cremated remains.  
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
There is a pathway through from 
The Rectory Paddock, of 
approximately 40m in length, 
which leads into the main burial 
area. This is one of three 
pedestrian access routes into the 
Cemetery and it is accessible for 
all users. 
 

 
 
 
 

24



The Spinney is approximately 830m2 and is planted with trees and natural 
woodland planting. Family and friends, if they wish to do so, are able to choose 
appropriate woodland shrubs and bulbs to add to the planting that has already 
taken place as a way of commemorating those loved ones whose remains have 
been scattered. Small granite plaques can also be purchased and placed on the 
kerbstones of the path to provide a more permanent memorial. 
 
 
 
There is a wooden bench along the 
path where people can stop and sit 
for a moment of peaceful reflection 
before continuing their walk through 
the Cemetery or through The 
Paddock. 
 
 
 
The route through the Cemetery and recreational grounds is a popular 
pathway as it provides a pleasant walk linking the two main areas of the town. 
There are currently no restrictions on the movement of dogs through either 
The Spinney or the main burial area of the Cemetery. 
 
 

A Request for a Public Spaces Protection Order 
 

The following matter has recently been brought to the Council’s attention: 
 
Over the course of a few weeks The Spinney was visited by a lady who had 
recently lost her husband and who wished to have his ashes scattered there. 
On several of her visits, while sitting quietly on the bench, she was passed by 
owners walking their dogs. On 2 separate occasions, and with 2 separate dogs, 
she was upset to see that the dogs were running free amongst the wooded, 
planted areas and disturbing and scratching around in the earth where the 
scatterings take place. The lady also witnessed a dog defecating in the area.  
 
The Council welcomes dogs in both the Cemetery and The Spinney, but it is a 
matter of concern for the Council that these incidences caused the lady 
considerable distress. The lady has enquired whether something can be done 
to prevent this from happening as she cannot bring herself to scatter her 

25



husband’s ashes while there is a possibility that his ashes could be disturbed in 
this way.  
 
The route via The Paddock, The Spinney and the Cemetery is a popular route 
by dog walkers accessing the larger recreational parks, and it is unlikely that 
these witnessed incidences would have been isolated occurrences. The 
disturbance of scattered cremated remains and the potential distress that this 
has already caused, and may cause in the future, to bereaved family and 
friends, is something that the Council wish to safeguard against. 
 
 
The Council is keen to offer the 
lady reassurances so that she can 
carry out her wishes but, as there 
are no formal measures in place 
to restrict the movement of dogs, 
it is unable to do so. Currently 
there is only one sign, on the 
lesser used pedestrian access to 
the side of the cemetery. 
  
 
The Council do not consider it necessary to completely exclude dogs from The 
Spinney, but it does consider it important, and respectful, that their 
movements are restricted by ensuring that owners keep them on their leads. 
The Council request, therefore, that a Public Spaces Protection Order is granted 
for The Spinney to restrict the movement of dogs and the appropriate signage 
be put in place at the earliest opportunity.  
 

 
In the interim, the Council has placed laminated polite 
notices at either end of the pathway through The 
Spinney and has highlighted the issue on the Councils 
social media page. These are temporary measures, 
however, and the Council now seeks a more 
permanent solution for The Spinney. It requests that 
approval be granted as soon as possible. 
 
 
 

26



27



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Public Space Protection Orders – Links to documents 

 

Alcohol Control  

Dogs on Leads 

Dog Exclusion Areas 

Dogs on Leads, The Spinney, Market Deeping Cemetery 

Dog Fouling   

 

29

Appendix 2

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15110
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15111
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15112
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15113
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15114


This page is intentionally left blank



Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

Introduction

What is a Public Space Protection Order?

A Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) is a power given to local authorities as part of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing
Act 2014. Designed to target a particular nuisance in a specific area that is having a detrimental effect on the quality of life for those in
the local community, a PSPO works by prohibiting certain things or requiring that specific things should, by law, be done. Failure to
comply with a PSPO can result in a fine.

Does SKDC currently have any Public Space Protection Orders in place and if so, what are they for?  

SKDC currently has four different types of Public Space Protection Orders in place. Two of these apply to specific areas - dog exclusion
areas and alcohol control zones, and two apply district-wide – dog fouling and dogs on leads. 

Have there been any requests for additional Public Space Protection Orders?

Yes, a request has been received from Market Deeping Town Council to introduce a Public Space Protection Order for a specific location
within Market Deeping Cemetery known as The Spinney. The town council are asking that dogs are kept on their leads in an area within
the cemetery which is set aside for the scattering of ashes.

Once implemented, do Public Space Protection Orders last for ever or do they have to be renewed?

The Public Space Protection Orders within South Kesteven have been in place since October 2017. Because of the legislation that
governs them, the council is required to consult before introducing them, and prior to renewing them - which must be done every three
years. 

Before making this decision, SKDC would like to know what you think.  
Please spare us a few moments to complete this survey.

Thank you.

PLEASE NOTE THIS CONSULTATION CLOSES ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2020
 

1
31

Appendix 3



Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

Existing Public Space Protection Orders

Dog Fouling
The council is proposing to renew the existing public space protection order which requires dog owners to pick up their dog’s waste. This
order applies to all land across the district which is outside and the public are entitled or permitted to have access to. To find out more,
please click here.

1. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

2. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to
tell us about it.

3. Is dog fouling an issue that concerns you?

Yes

No

4. If yes, please give details below:

2
32

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15114


Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

Dogs on leads

The council is proposing to renew the existing public space protection order which requires a person in charge of a dog to put (and keep)
the dog on a lead of no more than 1 metre in length when requested to do so by an authorised officer, if such restraint is considered
necessary. This order applies to all land across the district which is outside and the public are entitled or permitted to have access to. To
find out more, please click here.

5. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

6. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to
tell us about it.

7. Have you experienced or are concerned about nuisance behaviour from dogs not being kept under control
by their owners whilst being walked?

Yes

No

8. If yes, please give details below:

3
33

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15111


Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

Exclusion of dogs from play areas

The council is proposing to renew the existing public space protection order which requires a person in charge of a dog not to enter or
permit the dog to enter or remain in an area that has been specified as an enclosed children’s play area. This order applies to specific
areas across the district as outlined here. 

9. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

10. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to
tell us about it.

11. Are you concerned about or have experienced dogs being permitted to enter and/or remain in enclosed
children’s play areas?

Yes

No

12. If yes, please give details below:

4
34

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15112


Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

Alcohol control zones

The council is proposing to renew the existing public space protection order which requires a person or persons to stop drinking alcohol
in a specified area if asked to do so by an authorised officer or police officer. They are also required to surrender any opened alcohol
containers, if asked to do so. The PSPO does not prohibit responsible drinking in public spaces, only problematic drinking which is
causing a nuisance to others. The order applies to specific areas across the district as outlined here. 

13. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

14. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to
tell us about it.

15. Are you concerned about or have experienced problematic behaviour associated with drinking in public
spaces?

Yes

No

16. If yes, please give details below:

17. The council wants to understand and be aware of any impacts extending or not renewing the existing
public space protection orders may have. Please use the space below to tell us about them.

5
35

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15110


Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

Potential New Public Space Protection Order

The council is proposing to introduce a new public space protection order which will require a person in charge of a dog to put (and
keep) the dog on a lead of less than 1 metre when walking through a specific location within Market Deeping Cemetery known as the
Spinney. To see the area this order will cover if approved, please click here.

18. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

19. Are you concerned about or have experienced issues with the behaviour of dogs being off their lead(s)
within the Spinney?

Yes

No

20. If yes, please give details below:

21. Will the introduction of a Public Space Protection Order for the area in Market Deeping Cemetery known
as the Spinney have a significant negative impact on you?

Yes

No

22. if yes, please give details below:

6
36

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=15113


23. Do you think there are any other options the council could consider?

Yes

No

24. If yes, please use the space below to tell us about them.

7
37



Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

About you

To help us make sure that we have taken the views of all our stakeholders into account, we would like to know a bit more about you.
Please be assured that any information you give us will only be used to measure if the views we have gathered are representative of the
communities we serve. They will not be used to identify you in any way or be passed onto anyone else.

25. Please tell us if you are …….? Please tick all that apply.

A resident of South Kesteven

A parish, town, district or county councillor

Representing a group or other organisation (please use the space below to tell us which one)

Other (please specify)

26. What is your gender? Please tick one only.

Male

Female

Prefer not to say

Other (please specify)

8
38



27. Which of the following age bands do you belong to? Please tick one only.

Under 18

18 to 24

25 to 34

35 to 44

45 to 54

55 to 64

65 and over

Prefer not to say

28. Do you consider yourself to have a disability? Please tick one only

Yes

No

Prefer not to say

29. Please tell us the first four/five digits of your postcode eg NG31 7 or PE6 2. This will only be used to see if
we have received responses from across the district. It will not be used to identify you in any way.

9
39



Public Space Protection Orders Consultation
August 2020

Anything else

30. If you have any questions or would like to comment on anything included in this survey, please use the
space below:

Name  

Address 1  

Address 2  

Village/Town  

Postcode  

Email Address  

Phone Number  

31. If you would like a response to your query, please give us your contact details. They will only be used to
contact you in relation to this query and will not be used for any other purpose or passed onto anyone else.

By letting us know your thoughts on the public space protection orders currently in place as well as a proposal to add another for a
specific area in Market Deeping, you will help to shape the approach South Kesteven takes on various issues including dog fouling and
dog control.

 Your contributions are essential and will help to inform the decision the council will take on public space protection orders across the
district. 

 Thank you for taking part. 

 THIS CONSULTATION CLOSES ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2020.

10
40



Appendix Two – Public Space Protection Order Consultation 2020 

Feedback received from individual stakeholders 

Response received from Name Details 

Dowsby Parish Council Chairman of Dowsby 
Parish Council – Mr R 

He wishes that we keep the 
PSPO criteria as it is.  He feels 
that Dowsby has a problem 
with dog fouling and litter 
that is being left behind by 
“teenage drinkers”. 
 

Lincolnshire Police Inspector G S I would support the PSPO’s it 
is important that we have the 
tools readily available to deal 
with Alcohol Related ASB. We 
have used the PSPO 
previously in Grantham when 
we had an issue with ASB 
related street drinking. It was 
very effective. 
 

Westborough and Dry Doddington 
Parish Council 

Clerk to Westborough and 
Dry Doddington Parish 
Council Mrs W. Mc 

Thank you for your poster re 
the above consultation. 
In our parish the problem of 
dog fouling has never been 
worse and has got noticeably 
worse since lockdown.  
Will you be sending this our 
electronically for circulation? 
It is easier to circulate the 
consultation electronically. 
 

Friends of Queen Elizabeth Park 
and Wyndham Park Forum 

Secretary of Wyndham 
Park Forum Mrs E B 

Can I ask about “policing” the 
policy? It is hard work and 
people have ignored the 
regulations for so long – no 
enforcement.  
S F also said we would look at 
including the new Heroes 
Commemorative Orchard as 
it is an extension of 
Wyndham Park – needing 
some official signs – people 
think because it is long grass 
they can let their dogs do 
their business and not clean 
up.  
I have also noticed that both 
parks have a number of 
damaged/knocked off signs  
 

41



Langtoft Parish Council Clerk to Langtoft Parish 
Council - S G 

Langtoft Parish Council have 
asked me to reply regarding 
the above and wish for 
Langtoft to be included in the 
extension of the PSPO for 
another 3 years. 
 

Deeping St James Parish Council Clerk to Deeping St James 
Parish Council – Mrs J F 

I refer to the letter dated 14 
August 2020 which was 
considered by the parish 
council at a meeting held on 
Thursday 27 August 2020.  
I can confirm that the parish 
council agree with the 
extension of the current 
PSPO's for another three 
years and approve of the 
additional one in Market 
Deeping Cemetery known as 
the Spinney.  
Deeping St James Parish 
Council would also like to 
request that the application 
of a Public Space Protection 
Order be considered for 
Deeping St James Cemetery 
and the play area at 
Hereward Way as a number 
of complaints are regularly 
received about dogs being 
seen in both of these areas 
and teenagers drinking and 
smoking in the park.  
Please can you let me know if 
any further information is 
needed in order for this 
request to be considered. 
 

 

 

 

 

42



 

     

   

Deborah Wyles 

September 2020 

Public Space Protection Order Consultation 
Results 

43

Appendix 3



 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

 

Table of Contents 

 Page 

Purpose and Objectives 2 

Methodology 3 

Details 4 

Results 5 

Conclusion 14 

  

44



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

Purpose 

 

1. The purpose of this report is to update members of South Kesteven District Council’s Environment 

Cabinet with the results of the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO) consultation. 

Scope 

2. This consultation was designed to gather feedback on extending the existing public space protection 

orders as well as stakeholders views on the introduction of another public space protection order for 

a specific location in Market Deeping. Designed to ensure that the thoughts of those who might be 

affected by the proposed restrictions were reflected in the responses, as well as capturing the 

feedback from those who might want to see them amended and/or renewed, as required under 

section 72 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014,  the consultation was promoted 

in a variety of different ways to various stakeholders.  

Objectives 

3. The objectives of the consultation were identified as follows: 

• To Illustrate that stakeholders had been involved in reviewing the PSPO’s already in situ 

• To show that stakeholders have been involved in the determination of any proposed amendments to 

the existing PSPO’s -should these be required 

• To Illustrate that stakeholders were included in the process prior to the decision to extend, not 

renew or approve being taken 

• To inform the decision that will be taken by the council in respect of the existing PSPO’s 

• To inform the decision that will be taken by the council in respect of the proposal to introduce a new 

PSPO in an area known as the Spinney- located within the cemetery in Market Deeping 

• To measure the degree of support or otherwise for the proposal(s) 

• To understand and be aware of any impact taking this decision may have on specific stakeholders 

• To enable respondents to suggest appropriate alternatives and amendments 

 

Timescales 

4. Preparatory work was undertaken during July and the early part of August 2020. The consultation 

was open for four weeks – from 14 August till 11 September 2020.  Analysis of the results took place 

during the third week of September with a report containing the results of the consultation available  

for a meeting of the Cabinet on 13 October 2020.  

Stakeholders 

 

5. The stakeholders were identified as follows: 

• Members of the public 

• The Police  

• Parish, town, district and county councillors across the district 

45



 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

• Other community representatives. These included street pastors and park forum groups  

Methodology 

 

6. Methodologies that reduced or negated the need for face to face contact were used in preference 

to those that required a greater degree of human interaction. This was a deliberate decision taken 

in light of the current Covid- 19 pandemic. Different methods were also used for different types of 

stakeholder. The table below identifies the method(s) used for each of the stakeholder types: 

 

Stakeholders Method(s) Details 

Members of 
the public - 
general 

Members of the public were 
made aware of the 
consultation through the 
following channels: 

Press release - to the local 
press 

SKDC Social Media Channels 

SKDC website 

Potential respondents referred to survey monkey to 
participate in the consultation. Alternatively, if they 
preferred (or had no internet access), customer 
services staff were briefed to take their details. They 
could then be contacted and asked to complete a 
survey over the phone. 

Press Officer prepared a press release promoting the 
consultation. The release included the link to the 
survey. 

Social Media Officer promoted the consultation on 
social media channels by posting on Facebook and 
tweeting on Twitter. Posts included a link to the 
survey. 

A webpage dedicated to PSPO’s contained the 
information needed as part of the consultation 
including maps detailing the areas covered by each of 
the orders – particularly relevant to dog exclusion 
zones, alcohol control zones and the Spinney area of 
the cemetery in Market Deeping. Links to appropriate 
pages of website included in the survey. 

Members of 
the public – 
specific. Those 
who walk their 
dogs through 
the Spinney – 
an area of the 
cemetery in 
Market 
Deeping 

Poster displayed at both 
ends of the Spinney in 
Market Deeping Cemetery 
promoting the opportunity 
to take part in the 
consultation.  

Poster included link to survey, QR code and how to 
take part if no access to the internet.  

Poster put up by Market Deeping Town Council.  

 

 

The Police – 
Chief Officer of 
Lincs Police and 
the Lincolnshire 
Police and 

Chief officer for Lincolnshire 
Police and the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 
contacted.  

Neighbourhoods Team contacted the chief officer for 
Lincolnshire Police and also the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Lincolnshire 

 

46



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

Crime 
Commissioner 

County/district 
and parish 
councillors 

All parishes contacted. 
Clerks asked to request 
members of the parish 
council complete the survey 
on current PSPO’s. All 
parishes received at least 
one copy of a poster to 
display on their 
noticeboard. MDTC 
received more as they 
needed to display two at 
each end of the Spinney in 
the cemetery in Market 
Deeping. 

 

District Councillors 
informed of the 
consultation via the weekly 
members email 

 

Neighbourhoods team contacted parishes by email and 
provided printed copies of the poster to each parish. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillors informed of consultation in weekly 
members email w/c 17 August 2020  

Those 
representing 
community 
groups/ other 
organisations 

Community groups emailed 
with a link to the survey 

Street Pastors and Park Forum representatives 
contacted individually  

 

 

 

Details 

7. To help inform the decision due to be taken in respect of the public space protection orders currently 

in situ across South Kesteven, as well as the additional one planned for a specific area in Market 

Deeping, the consultation officer was asked to consult various stakeholders during August and 

September 2020. Actions undertaken by the consultation officer and the neighbourhood teams team 

leader included: 

• Preparing, designing and setting up the on- line survey 

• Inputting and analysing feedback from 242 respondents 

• Preparing a report 

• Contacting all parish councils, the Police, street pastors and park forums individually by email 

 

8. The survey1 included the following sections: 

 
1 Copy of survey attached at appendix one 

47



 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

• An introduction. This included the purpose of the consultation, why their help was needed 

and how their feedback will be used to inform the decision that will take place with respect 

to existing PSPO’s and a potential additional PSPO 

• An overview of the PSPO’s currently in situ across South Kesteven – where they apply, how 

long they last for, and when they need to be renewed 

• A section on the PSPO in place in respect of dog fouling  

• A section on the PSPO in situ in respect of dogs on leads 

• A section on the PSPO in place in respect of excluding dogs from enclosed play areas 

• A section on the PSPO in situ in respect of drinking alcohol in public places (only to apply when 

individuals are behaving anti-socially as a result of drinking) 

• A section allowing people to comment on the introduction of an additional PSPO in respect of 

an area within the cemetery in Market Deeping 

• Demographic information 

• A section asking if respondents had any questions 

• A thank you and closing date for the consultation 

 

9. The consultation was promoted in the local media and on the Council’s social media channels during 

the consultation period. Individual stakeholders including parish councils were contacted during the 

second week of August.  Parish Councils were also sent a copy of a poster promoting the consultation 

which they were asked to display in the area they thought was the most appropriate. The poster 

contained both the link to the survey as well as a QR code which people could scan using their mobile 

phone to access the survey.  

 

10. The consultation closed on 11 September 2020. 242 responses were received. No respondents chose 

to complete the survey over the phone despite this being an option available to them. Some 

stakeholders chose to feedback independently instead of or as well as completing a survey. Their 

anonymised responses are attached at appendix two.2  

 

The results  

Dog Fouling 

11. The first question on the survey asked respondents to state the extent to which they agreed or 

disagreed with the proposal to extend the public space protection order currently in place across 

South Kesteven which requires dog owners to pick up their dog’s waste. An overwhelming majority 

of respondents agreed with this proposal as illustrated in the pie chart overleaf: 

 
2 Copy of anonymised responses received attached at appendix two 

48



 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

12. Respondents were then asked if they would like to see the order amended in any way, or for it to no 

longer apply. The comments made were various and have been grouped into the following themes: 

• Extending the order so that it includes other groups and organisations (including the Belvoir 

Hunt) 

• Ensuring that people know that they are required to dispose of their dog’s waste, not just 

put it in a bag 

• Undertaking more enforcement 

• Increasing the amounts that individuals are fined for contravening the order 

• Amending the order so that it includes specific areas of open space including the heroes 

commemorative orchard and the rectory paddock in Grantham  

 

13. When asked if dog fouling was an issue that concerned them, four out of five respondents (82.7%) 

said that it was. When asked why, just under 150 respondents replied. Their responses have been 

grouped into the following themes: 

• Being unable to walk (either on a public footpath or in a residential area) without encountering 

dog waste 

• Respondents mentioning specific areas where fouling is a problem. These include Elsea Park in 

Bourne, Dysart Park in Grantham and the Meadows in Stamford 

• Responsible dog owners who are shocked by the amount of dog waste not being picked up by 

other irresponsible dog walkers 

• Respondents who cannot understand why people do not dispose of the bag, having picked up 

the dog’s waste 

• Problems on some playing fields and children’s play areas 

 

 

Strongly agree
88%

Agree
11%

Neither agree nor 
disagree

1%

Disagree
0%

Strongly disagree
0%

The percentage of respondents who agreed or disagreed with 
the proposal to renew the existing PSPO in respect of dog 

fouling 

 The responses to this set of questions illustrates the strength of feeling that the issue of dog fouling 

elicits. It appears to be a problem across the district, with responses received from all areas. Support 

for extending the public space protection order currently in situ is a theme running through the 

responses, as is having the appropriate resources in place to enforce it. There are also some specific 

areas where dog fouling appears to be a significant problem. Further investigation should be 

undertaken to determine the most appropriate course of action for these sites.  

49



 
 

7 | P a g e  
 

Dogs on leads 

14. Support to renew the existing public space protection order which requires a person in charge of a 

dog to put (and keep) that dog on a lead of no more than 1 metre in length when requested to do so 

by an authorised officer was also high, with 87% of respondents agreeing with the proposal. Just over 

7% disagreed, with the remainder choosing to neither agree nor disagree. This is illustrated in the 

graphic below: 

 

 

15. Respondents were again asked if they would like to see the order amended in any way, or for it to no 

longer apply. The comments made by 40 respondents were various and have been grouped into the 

following themes: 

• Amending the order to state that dogs should always be on leads in public places, not just 

when requested to do so by a responsible officer 

• Certain spaces should be available where dogs can be let off the lead, provided they are 

under control 

• The order should include preventing the use of retractable leads 

 

16. When asked if they had experienced or been concerned about nuisance behaviour from dogs not 

being kept under control by their owners whilst being walked, just over half of respondents said that 

they were concerned or had experienced nuisance behaviour from dogs. Just under half hadn’t.  

 

17. When asked to provide details, the following themes became apparent:  

 

• Owners not being in control of their dogs when they are off the lead (in general) 

• Specific locations where owners are not in control of their dogs whilst they are off the 

lead  

• Children and adults who are frightened of dogs and don’t like it when dogs approach if off 

the lead 

50



 
 

8 | P a g e  
 

• Owners of nervous dogs who don’t react well when approached by other dogs that are 

off the lead 

• Owners dogs being attacked by other dogs when off the lead 

 

 

 

 

 

Exclusion of dogs from enclosed play areas 

18. Respondents were then asked for their opinion on a public space protection order currently in place 

in South Kesteven which requires that a person in charge of a dog cannot allow the dog to enter or 

remain in an enclosed area that has been designated as an enclosed play area. This applies to 29 play 

areas across the district. Support to renew this PSPO was very high, with over 90% of respondents 

agreeing to the proposal, as illustrated below: 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Strongly agree
78%

Agree
13%

Neither agree nor 
disagree

4%

Disagree
3%

Strongly disagree
2%

The percentage of respondents who agreed or disagreed with 
the proposal to renew the existing PSPO in respect of dog 

exclusion zones

 There was strong support for renewing the existing public space protection order which requires a 

person in charge of a dog keeps that dog on a lead when requested to do so. Dogs who weren’t being 

kept under control appeared to be less of an issue for respondents than dog fouling.  A lower 

proportion of respondents had experienced or were concerned by this issue. For those who had 

experienced it though, it remains an area of concern.  

 

51



 
 

9 | P a g e  
 

19. When given the opportunity to comment, there were a mix of responses. Grouping them into themes 

revealed the following: 

 

• Support for renewing the existing public space protection order. Dogs should not be allowed 

to enter or remain in a children’s enclosed play area under any circumstances 

• A couple of respondents thought that dogs should be allowed in, but on a very short lead 

• Others thought that signage should be improved and that the requirement to prevent dogs 

form entering or remaining in an enclosed children’s play area should be enforced 

 

20. Asked if they were concerned about, or had experienced dogs being permitted to enter or remain in 

enclosed play areas, just under a third of respondents said that they had. Just over two thirds had 

not. This seems quite high and further investigation as to why this might be the case should be 

undertaken. 

 

 

 

 

 

Alcohol Control Zones  

21. Respondents were then asked for their views on the final type of public space protection order 

currently active in South Kesteven. This relates to the drinking of alcohol in public places when the 

drinking becomes problematic and a nuisance to others. There are currently 4 alcohol control zones 

in South Kesteven- one for each of the main town centres. When asked if they supported this PSPO 

being renewed, support was nearly unanimous (95.2%). This is illustrated overleaf: 

 

 Support for renewing the existing public space protection order which requires a person in charge of 

a dog to not allow the dog to either enter or remain in a children’s’ enclosed play area was high. 

Whilst the proportion of respondents experiencing this issue was not quite as high as dog fouling or 

having dogs under control, a significant minority still viewed it as being a problem. This merits further 

investigation.  

52



 
 

10 | P a g e  
 

 

 

22. When asked if they would like to see the order amended or changed in any way, or no longer apply, 

some asked if the order could be extended to include recreational drugs, which appear to be an 

issue in some places. Respondents also mentioned specific areas which may benefit from the 

introduction of PSPO’s - including Elsea Park in Bourne, Wyndham Park (including the Heroes 

Orchard) and Queen Elizabeth Park in Grantham, Lawrence Park in Thurlby, Godsey Lane Park in 

Market Deeping and Stamford Meadows. 

 

 

23. Just under half of respondents said that they were concerned about or had experienced 

problematic behaviour associated with drinking in public spaces. Just over half hadn’t. When asked 

to provide details, the following themes became apparent: 

 

• It appears to be a problem in specific locations across the district not covered by the existing 

order. These include Elsea Park in Bourne, the Meadows in Stamford, Lawrence Park in 

Thurlby and Dysart Park, Wyndham Park and Queen Elizabeth Park in Grantham 

• The litter that is left behind from when people have been drinking alcohol in public places 

• Respondents feeling intimidated by large groups of people drinking 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 There is strong support for the PSPO which covers anti-social behaviour which may arise as a result 

of drinking alcohol in public spaces. The existing order covers alcohol control zones in the four main 

town centres. There does however appear to be an issue with some of the other areas in the district, 

particularly in relation to some of the parks. This merits further investigation. 

53



 
 

11 | P a g e  
 

Existing Public Space Protection Orders 

 

24. In accordance with the requirements of the Anti–Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
respondents were asked to detail any impacts extending or not renewing the existing public space 
protection orders may have on them, so the Council could understand and be aware of what these 
might be.  Responses fell into the following broad themes:     

 

• Strong support for renewing existing PSPO’s  

• The importance of protecting and maintaining public open space for everyone 

• Some would like to extend the remit of the existing PSPO to include other areas and other anti-

social behaviours such as urinating in the street and recreational drug use 

 

 

Potential New Public Space Protection Order  

 

25. Respondents were then asked for their views on the Council’s proposal to introduce a new public 
space protection order which will require a person in charge of a dog to put (and keep) the dog on a 
lead of less than 1 metre when walking through a specific location within Market Deeping Cemetery 
known as the Spinney. This was put forward as a proposal following a specific request from Market 
Deeping Town Council.  

 
26. Nearly three quarters of respondents (71.4%) said that they agreed with the proposal to introduce a 

PSPO to apply to the area in Market Deeping Cemetery known as the Spinney. Whilst this level of 

support may not appear to be as strong as support shown for other PSPO’s, it is important to 

acknowledge that this may be due in part to the specificity of this order. Other orders apply across 

the district, or in areas where people are likely to visit e.g. play areas, whereas this order is focused 

on one specific location. Perhaps not surprisingly, there is a much higher level of support from those 

answering this question with a PE6 postcode, with 94.1% of respondents agreeing with the 

proposal. This is shown in the table below: 

 

                All respondents                                                               Respondents in PE6 

 Number  %  Number % 

Strongly agree 106 56.1 Strongly agree 16 94.1 
Agree 29 15.3 Agree 0 0 
Neither agree nor 
disagree 

46 24.3 Neither agree nor 
disagree 

0 0 

Disagree 4 2.1 Disagree 1 5.9 
Strongly disagree 4 2.1 Strongly disagree 0 0 
Total 189 100.0 Total 17 100.0 

 

 

 

 

54



 
 

12 | P a g e  
 

 

27. When asked if they were concerned about or had experienced issues with dogs being off their leads 
whilst walking through the Spinney in Market Deeping Cemetery, most respondents hadn’t. (86%). 
This is again perhaps not surprising, given that the majority of respondents do not live in this area. 
Just under half (43.8%) of the respondents from the PE6 area stated that they were concerned or 
had experienced issues with dogs off leads in the Spinney.  

 

28. Those who had said that they had experienced issues stated that they thought dogs should be on a 
lead in an area such as the Spinney and that cemeteries were sacred places where dogs should not 
be allowed to wander at will. One respondent from the Deepings area has the ashes of their relative 
scattered in the area and another had been upset by someone not clearing up after their dog. 

 

29. The responses suggest that introducing a public space protection order for the Spinney will not have 

a significant negative impact on most people.  Nearly all those who responded to the survey (97%) 

said that introducing a PSPO for the specific area in Market Deeping Cemetery would not have a 

significant negative impact on them. Looking at the responses from those in the PE6 area, the 

percentage of respondents stating that it would have a negative effect on them was - although 

higher than the whole sample at 11.8% - still low. 

 

30. The council then asked respondents to consider if there were any other options that could be 
considered. Although the purpose of this question was to establish if there were any alternative 
solutions for the area in Market Deeping, it is clear from the answers that respondents interpreted 
this question with a much wider remit. Just over 20 respondents commented. Most took the 
opportunity to re-iterate their point of view. Themes included: 

 

• Keeping all dogs on leads at all times in parks 

• Specific areas where anti-social behaviour is a problem 

• Increasing the amount of enforcement undertaken 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Demographics 

31. To see how representative those who responded to this consultation were of all individuals living in 

our area, respondents were asked to supply some demographic information. Most respondents 

were residents (187) and some were also parish, district or county councillors (15). Five responses 

were received from those representing other organisations and thirty five did not specify.  

 

 

 Nearly half of the respondents from the Deepings area had experienced or were concerned about 

dogs being off their leads in an area known as the Spinney in Market Deeping Cemetery. Whilst the 

number of individuals taking part from the PE6 area is quite small, there does appear to be an issue 

with the cemetery which the introduction of a PSPO could help to address.  

55



 
 

13 | P a g e  
 

 

Gender 

The table below shows the percentage of respondents choosing each option compared to the 

gender characteristics of the district. Male respondents are slightly under-represented when 

compared to district level statistics. Female respondents are however, adequately represented.  

Gender Sample % District % 

Male 37.5 48.3 

Female 59.4 51.7 

Prefer not to say 2.6  

Other 0.5  

Total 100.0 100.0 

 

Age Band 

The table below shows the percentage of respondents choosing each option compared to the age 

characteristics of the district. It shows that the sample is representative of those aged between 25 

and 34 and those aged 65 and over, but under- representative of those less than 24 years old. Those 

aged between 35 and 64 are over-represented in the sample. 

Age Band Sample % District % 

Under 18 0.5 20.6 

18 to 24 1.6 5.9 

25 to 34 8.9 10.1 

35 to 44 16.7 11.4 

45 to 54 24.5 14.7 

55 to 64   24.5 14.1 

65 and over 19.8 23.2 

Prefer not to say 3.6  

Total 100.0 100 

 

Disability 

The table below illustrates that those with a disability are under-represented in the sample, those 

without are not. 

Do you consider 
yourself to have a 
disability 

Sample % Nationwide 
% 

Yes 6.8 21.0 

No 87.4 79.0 

Prefer not to say 5.8  

Total 100.0 100.0 

56



 
 

14 | P a g e  
 

 

Postcode 

 

The table below shows that responses to this consultation were received from residents and parish 

councillors across the district. This is important not only because all areas should be represented in 

the responses so that the sample is representative geographically, but also because of the 

characteristics of the public space protection orders that are currently in place. Some are designed 

to apply to all areas of land outside where the public have access- for example dog fouling and dogs 

on leads - and some relate to specific locations – for example excluding dogs from enclosed play 

areas and alcohol control zones.    

Postcode Number % 

NG23 5 2.7 

NG31 50 26.9 

NG32 28 15.1 

NG33 11 5.9 

NG34 2 1.1 

PE6 17 9.1 

PE9 23 12.4 

PE10 49 26.3 

Other (NG14*) 1 0.5 

Total 186 100 

*Presume this is a response from a visitor to the district 

Anything else 

 

32. The final question on the survey asked respondents if they had any queries or would like to 

comment on anything that had been included within the survey. The enquiries received were wide-

ranging in nature and included requests for additional public space protection orders for specific 

locations, requests for additional litter bins so that people are able to dispose of their dog’s waste 

more easily, and what happens in respect of monitoring and enforcing the various orders that are in 

place.  As part of the consultation process, each enquiry will be responded to as soon as possible by 

the consultation officer. 

Conclusion 

 

33. One of the main objectives of this consultation was to inform the decision that will be taken by 

members of the Cabinet on 13 October 2020 in respect of existing public space protection orders and 

whether an additional one should be introduced for an area in the cemetery in Market Deeping. By: 

57



 
 

15 | P a g e  
 

• Involving the stakeholders in the process of reviewing the PSPO’s already in situ 

• Allowing them to suggest amendments  

• Obtaining a measure of the degree of support or otherwise for the proposals 

• Gathering feedback on any specific impacts the PSPO’s may have on those responding 

the council can be confident that the views that have been collected will inform both the possible 

extension to the PSPO’s already in situ and the introduction of an additional order. By allowing 

respondents to comment on public space protection orders already is situ and also identify any 

additional areas of concern, it is fulfilling the requirements as set out in section 72 of the Anti-Social 

Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 20143.  

34. There is strong support to renew the public space protection orders already in situ in respect of dog 

fouling, dogs on leads, excluding dogs from specific enclosed play areas and alcohol control zones in 

each of the district’s four towns. There is also support for the introduction of a new public space 

protection order for the area in Market Deeping Cemetery known as the Spinney, although the 

number of respondents living in this area and responding to the survey is quite small. Throughout the 

survey, respondents have used the opportunity to raise areas of concern in their locality. To maintain 

confidence in the consultation process, the issues that have been raised by respondents should now 

probably be investigated to address any problems that there may be in these areas.   

 

Prepared by Deb Wyles 

Communications and Consultation 

September 2020 

 

 

 
3 Please see Chapter 2 - point 72 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/section/72/enacted 

58

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/12/section/72/enacted


 

 

 

 
 
 

 

Equality Impact 
(Initial Analysis) 

 
 

Review of Public Space Protection 
Orders 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Service Area: 
Environmental  
 
 

Lead officer: 
Anne-Marie Coulthard 

Date of Meeting  
 
25/06/20 Assessors: 

 

Neutral Assessor: 
Carol Drury 
 

  

59

Appendix 4



 

 

1. Name and description of policy/service/function/strategy 
 
 

The council must review the Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) in 
place in the district every 3 years to determine whether or not they should 
be renewed.  This review is now due.  The current PSPOs are as follows: 

1) Fouling of Land Order (district wide). This makes it an offence to fail to 
pick up dog faeces if a dog, which an individual is in charge of, defecates.   

2) Dogs on Leads Order (district wide).  An authorised officer can request 
an individual in charge of a dog to put (and keep) the dog on a lead, if such 
restraint is considered reasonably necessary. 

3) Dog exclusion Order (selected areas). This excludes dogs from 
enclosed children’s play areas in specified locations.  

4) Alcohol Control Zone (selected areas). This makes it an offence for a 
person to continue to drink alcohol in a designated place after being asked 
not to do so by a police officer or other designated person. The police also 
have the power to require the surrender of opened alcohol containers. The 
PSPO does not prohibit responsible drinking in public spaces, only 
problematic drinking causing a nuisance to others. 

A request has also been received from Market Deeping Town Council to 
consider a new PSPO which would require dogs to be kept on leads in an 
enclosed area of the cemetery (The Spinney) where ashes are scattered. 

  

 
 

Is this a new or existing policy?  Existing  
 
2. Complete the table below, considering whether the proposed 

policy/service/function/strategy could have any potential positive,  or 
negative impacts on groups from any of the protected characteristics (or 
diversity strands) listed, using demographic data, user surveys, local 
consultations evaluation forms, comments and complaints etc. 

 

 
 
Equality Group 

Does this 
policy/service/function/strat
egy have a positive or 
negative impact on any of 
the equality groups?  
 
Please state which for each 
group 

Please describe why the 
impact is positive or 
negative. 
If you consider this policy 
etc is not relevant to a 
specific characteristic 
please explain why   

Age 
 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 

60



 

 

result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Age therefore is 
not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Disability 
 

 

Neutral The provisions of the PSPOs 
relating to the control of dogs 
do not apply to any person 
who is 
registered blind in accordance 
with section 29 of The National 
Assistance Act 1948, to any 
person who is deaf and in 
charge of a dog trained by 
Hearing Dogs for Deaf People 
or to any person suffering a 
disability and in charge of a 
dog trained to assist with 
his/her mobility, manual 
dexterity, physical coordination 
or ability to lift and carry 
everyday objects and the said 
dog has been trained 
by a prescribed charity. 

Race 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Race therefore 
is not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic. 

61



 

 

Gender 
Reassignment 
 
   

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Gender 
Reassignment therefore is not 
a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic. 

Religion or 
Belief   

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Religion or 
Belief therefore is not a 
relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Sex 
 
 
   

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Sex therefore is 
not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 

62



 

 

implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Sexual 
Orientation 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility. Sexual 
Orientation therefore is not a 
relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Pregnancy and 
Maternity 
 
 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Pregnancy and 
Maternity therefore is not a 
relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Marriage and 
Civil 
Partnership 

Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 

63



 

 

result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility.  Marriage and 
Civil Partnership therefore is 
not a relevant protected 
characteristic in relation to the 
implementation of powers 
offered through the use of a 
PSPO unless the offender can 
offer mitigating circumstances 
that relate directly to this 
protected characteristic.  

Carers Neutral The application of powers and 
tools available to the district 
council under a PSPO are 
utilised in an equitable 
manner.  Any use of these 
powers will be as a direct 
result of an anti-social act 
perpetrated by an individual or 
a dog for which they have 
responsibility. 

Other Groups 
(e.g. those from 
deprived (IMD*) 
communities; 
those from rural 
communities, 
those with an 
offending past) 
 
*(IMD = Indices 
of multiple 
deprivation) 
 

None identified   

General 
comments 

 

 
 

64



 

 

3. What equality data/information did you use to inform the outcomes of 
the proposed policy/service/function/strategy? (Note any relevant 
consultation who took part and key findings) 

 

The review of the Orders includes a public consultation.  The initial 
assessment will be reviewed following consideration of any responses.  

 
If there are any gaps in the consultation/monitoring data, how will this 
be addressed? 

 
  

Any gaps in the consultation following consideration of the responses will 
be considered. 
 
Update – 14 September 2020 
The consultation attracted almost 200 responses from a range of age 
groups.  59%% of respondents were female, 38% male with the remainder 
preferring not to say.  13% said that they had a disability. 
 
There was broad support for renewing the existing Orders, and nearly 
three quarters of respondents supported the introduction of the new Order. 
 

 
 
4. Outcomes of analysis and recommendations (please note you will be 

required to provide evidence to support the recommendations made): 
Please check one of the options.    

 

a) No major change needed: equality analysis has not identified any 
potential for discrimination or for negative impact and all 
opportunities to promote equality have been taken 

 

   

If you have checked option a) you can now send this form to the Lead 
Officer and your Neutral Assessor for sign off 

   

b) Adjust the proposal to remove barriers identified by equality 
analysis or to better promote equality.  

 

   

If you have checked option b) you will need to answer questions b.1 
and b.2  

   

c) Adverse impact but continue  

   

If you have checked option c) you will need to answer questions c.1 

   

d Stop and remove the policy/function/service/strategy as equality 
analysis has shown actual or potential unlawful 

 

 

65



 

 

b.1 In brief, what changes are you planning to make to your proposed 
policy/service/function/strategy to minimise or eliminate the negative 
equality impacts? 

 
  

 

 
 
b.2 Please provide details of whom you will consult on the proposed 

changes and if you do not plan to consult, please provide the rationale 
behind that decision.   

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option b) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis 

 
c.1 Please provide an explanation in the box below that clearly sets out your 

justification for continuing with the proposed policy/function/service/ 
strategy. 

 
  

 

 
 

If you have checked option c) you will need to complete a Stage 2 equality 
analysis. You should consider in stage 2 whether there are sufficient plans to 

reduce the negative impact and/or plans to monitor the actual impact. 
 
 

 
 

Signed (Lead Officer):    Anne-Marie Coulthard 
(Name and title)   Head of Environmental 
  

Date completed:  25/06/20  
 
Signed (Neutral Assessor):  Carol Drury 
(Name and title)   Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

 
Date signed off:     26/06/20  

 

66



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Annie Mason 

  Cabinet Member for Communities 

         
  

 

Voluntary and Community Group Funding 

This report provides background information relating to the South Kesteven District Council 
funding and support platforms available to the voluntary and community sector. It outlines 
proposals to adapt the current criteria of the SK Community Fund to ensure that the funding 
available meets the needs of our residents and attains the furthest reach within our communities. 

 

Report Author 

Carol Drury, Community Engagement and Policy Development Officer 

Tel:  01476 406 161 

Email:  c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Paul Stokes, Corporate Operations Lead 21 September 2020 

Approved by: Gary Smith, Strategic Director, Commercial and 
Operations 

24 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Annie Mason, Cabinet Member for 
Communities 

25 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

1. Approves the changes to the SK Community Fund relating to eligibility, maximum 
grant allowed and the capping of the claiming period for awards to one year as per 
the amended grant criteria at Appendix A.  

2. Approves the proposals to update the approach to future grant awards from 2021/22 
onwards as outlined at 1.26 of this report. 

67

Agenda Item 5

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

3. Delegates authority to the Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Communities, to finalise arrangements 
with Lincolnshire Community Foundation/similar groups and, if appropriate, to enter 
into an agreement on behalf of the Council for a proportion of the budget  allocated 
to the SK Community Fund to be utilised to enable greater pound-for-pound 
matching of grant funding. 

 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 This report provides an overview of the Council’s current funding and support offer to the 

voluntary and community sector and specifically discusses the operation and impact to date 

of the SK Community Fund, including recommendations for amendments to its criteria to 

ensure it remains fit for purpose. 

1.2 The Council currently has three funding streams to directly support voluntary and community 

groups:   

• SK Community Fund  

Annual funding pot of £100,000 from 2020/21. Open to applications from constituted 

community groups for capital projects and events. Awards determined by a panel of 

elected Members based on agreed criteria. 

• Ward Member Scheme 

Annual funding pot – originally set at £26,000 for 2020/21 but increased to £56,000 

as a direct response to the COVID-19 outbreak. Awards determined by individual 

elected Members. 

• Foodbank Support Fund 

2020/21 one-off support fund of £15,000 for Foodbanks located within South 

Kesteven. Via the completion of a simple form, Foodbanks can access this fund to 

support their operation in any way required and for any amount whilst there is funding 

remaining in the pot.   

1.3 The Council also operates, through its provider Gatherwell, LotterySK, which offers a 

platform for groups to raise money through lottery ticket sales.   

• 60p of every ticket sale goes to support local voluntary and community groups. For 

each £1 ticket purchased in support of a good cause registered, the group will earn 

50p. The remaining 10p is allocated to the SK Community Fund. If the ticket 

purchaser does not identify a specific group to support the 60p is allocated to the SK 

Community Fund. 

1.4 The remainder of this report focuses on the SK Community Fund and includes feedback 

received from Members of Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

gathered during the Committee’s workshop (27 July 2020) and subsequent meeting of 10 

September 2020.  

1.5 Proposed changes discussed within this report will have no impact on the Ward Member 

Grant Scheme, LotterySK or the Foodbank Support Fund. These funding sources will 

continue to work to their current criteria.   

 

 

68



 
 

Background to the SK Community Fund 

1.6 The SK Community Fund was established in 2015 to offer financial assistance to voluntary 

and community groups for projects and events that benefitted the residents of South 

Kesteven. 

1.7 From its inception, and until March 2020, the fund was administrated on the Council’s behalf 

by Lincolnshire Community and Voluntary Service as part of a service level agreement 

between the two organisations.   

1.8 Under its original criteria the fund is open to applications from constituted groups delivering 

projects under five generic headings: 

Project 
Category 

Types of Projects Supported Minimum/ 
Maximum 
Grant Levels 

Community 
Amenities 

Outdoor facilities such as ’Multi-Use Games Areas’, 
shelters, recreation areas, community orchards, footpaths 

etc. 

Min =       £500  

Max = £10,000 

Community 
Buildings 

Repairs, maintenance and alterations to village halls 
and other public buildings, contributions to new build 
community buildings and the purchase of equipment to 
be used in community buildings 

Min =       £500  

Max = £10,000 

Community 
Enterprise 

Projects which generate an ongoing revenue stream 
for a community such as community owned pubs, 
shops, cafes, and community tourism initiatives 

Min =       £500  

Max = £10,000 

Supporting 
Communities  

 

 

Supporting the work of organisations that support 
communities, including social enterprises, support 
organisations and Neighbourhood Plans (to support the 
delivery of projects in Community Led/ Neighbourhood 
Plans)  

Min =       £500 
Max = £10,000 

Community 
Events  

Community celebrations, sports events, street 
festivals, arts and cultural events.  

 

Min =     £200 
Max = £5,000 

 

1.9 The fund criteria allowed applicants to seek up to 80% of project costs up to a maximum of 

£10,000 for all but community events which had a maximum contribution of £5,000. 

1.10 Across the 18 funding rounds that have taken place since the fund was introduced it has 

supported 93 capital projects and events, amounting to awards offered totalling £553,679. 

Much of this funding has been sought to refurbish village and community halls, sports fields 

and play areas. 

1.11 In March 2020 our agreement with Lincolnshire CVS came to a natural end and it was 

determined that the administration of the fund be brought in house. To this point, the funding 

pot of £150,000 had been included in the annual budget proposals. The budget for 2020/21 

reduced the fund to £100,000 per annum.  These changes provide a sensible point to review 

the criteria of the SK Community Fund to ensure that it continues to meet the needs of the 

community and the priorities of the Council. 

The Impact of COVID-19 

1.12 The fund was originally scheduled for review in March 2020 to make the necessary changes 

resulting from the change of administrative process and the reduction in available funding.  

The fund was temporarily closed to applications so that the necessary changes could be 

made.   

69



 
 

1.13 The review was put on hold at the start of the nation-wide lockdown resulting from the 

COVID-19 pandemic and the Fund remains closed to applications until the review is 

completed. 

1.14 Connection with local voluntary, faith and community groups increased significantly during 

the national lockdown as they worked collaboratively with the Authority, through its SK 

Community Hub, to support the needs of the vulnerable. 

1.15 Our connection to the voluntary and community sector has never been stronger and it is 

evident that COVID-19 and the unfailing commitment of this sector to support local 

communities throughout lockdown has come at a cost – both financially and emotionally. 

1.16 The changes proposed in this report to our most significant funding stream are intended to 

strengthen the connection we have with these groups.  Amendments to the SK Community 

Fund will make it fit better with the identified needs in our communities whilst maintaining a 

support package available to constituted groups across our district. 

1.17 Issues around mental health and wellbeing; social and rural isolation and our support for 

projects that tackle them have been debated for some time but never more than during the 

recent lockdown period response to the COVID-19 pandemic.   

1.18 Whilst many within communities rallied in practical support of their neighbours, mental 

health suffered, and feelings of loneliness and isolation were felt more acutely.   

Proposed changes to the criteria of the SK Community Fund 

1.19 This report seeks approval from Cabinet for amendments to be made to the criteria of the 

Fund to increase opportunities for voluntary and community groups working to raise 

awareness and reduce the negative impact of poor mental wellbeing, loneliness and social 

and rural isolation. Changes therefore include the introduction of a new grant category in 

support these areas of priority. 

1.20 Further proposals for change, given the reduced budget available within this funding stream, 

are for the maximum grant allowance to be streamlined so that all applications would qualify 

for a grant of up to £5,000 toward the cost of a project or event.  This will bring all awards 

from the SK Community Fund in line with the current maximum grant allowed for applications 

in the community events category and will help to ensure that funding remains widely 

available to support projects within the District.   

1.21 Changes also include a reduction in the time period allowed for groups to claim awards, 

from two years to one year, to provide parity with the budget process and the removal of 

parish and town councils from the eligibility criteria as these organisations have alternative 

means of raising revenue to meet their localised spending requirements such as the Town 

and Parish Council Precept. 

1.22 Members of Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee were in agreement 

of these amendments to the criteria and recommended to Cabinet their immediate 

introduction, thereby allowing the Fund to re-open for applications. The amended criteria for 

the Fund can be found at appendix A. 

1.23 At its meeting of 10 September 2020, Members of the Rural and Communities Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee were further asked to consider and make recommendation on the 

future operation of the Fund for 2021/22 onwards based on the following options:  

• Maintain the status quo of the SK Community Fund leaving the funding pot 

open to all eligible groups. 

70



 
 

• Increase focus on areas of priority by leaving the funding pot open to all eligible 

groups but apportion it so that, in its first year, 20% of the total would be 

ringfenced for applications relating to mental health and wellbeing, loneliness 

and isolation.   

• Increase focus on areas of priority by leaving the funding pot open to all eligible 

groups but build into the Fund’s criteria a weighting mechanism for individual 

applications so that projects supporting areas of priority would score higher 

than general applications. 

1.24 Under the first option the Fund would continue in its current format but with the introduction 

of the new category in relation to the areas of priority. 

1.25 Option two would allow the Fund to be more focused on areas of priority through the 

ringfencing of funding to support priority projects. This option would not be actioned until the 

next financial year (2021/22).  Under this option it is further proposed that this percentage 

split is increased to a 30/70% allocation in 2022/23 and 40/60% split in 2023/24 in favour of 

the areas of priority as the voluntary and community sector develops and adapts and 

evidence of need is identified.  Apportioning the fund in this way would create a concentrated 

focus for how we want to distribute grant funding across the district however, demand on 

each allocation could cause imbalance if the funding is ringfenced in this way, potentially 

resulting in over-subscription to one part of the pot and under-subscription in the other. 

1.26 Option three would also allow the Fund to be more focused on areas of priority by use of a 

weighted scoring matrix for applications eligible for funding. This approach, whilst still 

favouring the priorities (projects of priority scoring higher on the matrix), would mean the 

Fund remains open to all. Operating to this method would ensure an equitable approach to 

eligibility for funding for projects across the district and provide opportunity to gain evidence 

of demand from within the voluntary and community sector for funding to projects that meet 

the priorities. The potential negative to operating the fund in this way is that the funding pot 

could continue to only be utilised for the more generic projects and not provide the impetus 

for the voluntary and community sector to deliver projects that meet the identified priorities. 

As with option two, this option would not be introduced until the financial year 2021/22.   

1.27 Based on discussion, Members of Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee made the recommendation to Cabinet to approve the introduction of option 

three. 

Further funding opportunities and initiatives 

1.28 The Council is currently working in collaboration with the Lincolnshire Community 

Foundation (LCF) to raise funds via a Total Giving crowd funding initiative to support local 

groups working across our district as a direct response to the COVID-19 crisis.  To further 

maximise the funding offer available to voluntary and community groups in South Kesteven 

we are also exploring further opportunities to work with the LCF to boost our funding offer 

whereby the Foundation can match pound-for-pound an agreed proportion of the funding 

we have to support voluntary and community groups. 

1.29 Based on recommendation from Members of Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee and with agreement from Cabinet we will continue to explore with the LCF 

potential options for mutual benefit and seek support to enter into an agreement with the 

LCF if a good arrangement can be reached. 

 

71



 
 

Going Forward 

1.30 A single grant register has been established to reduce the risk of double funding of groups 

applying to more than one funding pot for the same project.  This will mean that grants from 

the SK Community Fund, Foodbank Support Fund and Ward Member Grant Scheme cannot 

unknowingly give grants to the same initiative. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Feedback from the workshop held on 27 July 2020 and the meeting of Rural and 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 10 September 2020 has been included 

in this report. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 Alternative options are contained within this report. 

4   Preferred Option 

4.1   The preferred option in relation to the future of the Fund is to leave it open to all eligible 

groups but to build into its criteria the additional category which focus on areas of priority.  

Those being: mental health, social and rural isolation and loneliness. Projects focusing on 

areas of identified priority would be given additional weighting within the Fund’s scoring 

matrix from 2021/22. 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The recommendation to amend the criteria will allow for the Fund to re-open to applications.  

5.2 Recommending the introduction of priorities to reduce loneliness and isolation and will 

further assist groups and charities to work in communities to positively impact on mental 

health and mental wellbeing.  

5.3 Working in partnership with others to boost our funding offer will enable greater match 

funded grants. It will also provide a platform to consider opportunities for some 

strategic/thematic campaigns around issues/geographic areas of priority. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Following approval from Cabinet to make the proposed changes, the SK Community Fund 

will re-open for applications. The re-launch will be supported by a communications 

campaign to promote the Fund to the voluntary and community sector in South Kesteven.  

Web platforms that currently promote the Fund will be updated to reflect the new criteria 

and provide information on how to apply for funding support. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The financial governance arrangements in respect of the Fund administration are robust 

and the proposal to reduce the claim period from 24 to 12 months will improve the accuracy 

of committed funds that otherwise could be made available to other schemes.  The allocation 

of funding for the community fund scheme (and all the other funds referred to in the report) 

are considered by Council on an annual basis and therefore the options for future allocations 

are subject to Council funding being approved each financial year.   

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

 

72



 
 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 There are no further legal implications other than as set out in the report. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The SK Community Fund remains open to applications from constituted voluntary and 

community groups.  The process is equitable and awards from the Fund are determined on 

set criteria that are applied by an awarding panel of Elected Members. The potential for 

positive impact and opportunities to foster good relations are increased if agreement is 

reached through Cabinet to actively seek applications that tackle issues such as social 

isolation, loneliness and mental health and wellbeing. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 No high-level risks identified. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None identified. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Not applicable. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None identified. 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Community Fund Criteria for Application 2015 

14.2 Review of Community Fund 2017 

14.3 Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee Action Notes 10 Sept 2020 

15 Appendices 

15.1 Appendix A – SK Community Fund Criteria 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

14 September 2020 

Previously Considered by: Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

10 September 2020 

Final Decision date   13 October 2020 

 

73

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3189#AI17376
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MID=3501#AI20228
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=3995&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 

 

 

 
South Kesteven District Council Community Fund  

Criteria, Application Process and Conditions 
of Funding 

 

 

 

 

If you require this document in an alternative format, please contact the Corporate Operations 
Team on Tel: 01476 406080 (extn 6161) or e mail: communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 
Please read these guidance notes carefully and refer to them when completing the application form. 

 

 
 

1.1 The South Kesteven Community Fund has been established to support and develop community                  
initiatives within South Kesteven District. South Kesteven District Council’s Corporate Operations 
Team administers this fund. The Team will also be able to assist groups with all aspects involved in 
choosing the correct fund and completing the application forms.  
 

1.2 Grants are available for groups and organisations that are involved in community projects and events 
that benefit the residents and communities in the district.  Groups and organisations  

must demonstrate how their project or event will deliver wide benefit, contributing to the sustainability, 
vitality and well-being of South Kesteven’s communities and the Council’s priorities.   

 

 

 
 

2.1 The fund total of £100,000 is available and it is intended that the full amount will be awarded.   

 
2.2 Payment will be made in 2 stages, with 75% of the grant being paid prior to commencement of the 

project or event and 25% after completion. 
 
2.3 80% of total eligible costs, up to a maximum award of £5,000 can be applied for toward the cost 

of community projects or events. The minimum contribution (match funding) required from 
applicants is 20%. This can be made up of own cash contribution, donations, grants and 
sponsorship and a maximum of 10% (of total costs) in-kind volunteer time or materials. 

 
2.4 The value of volunteer in-kind time should be calculated at the average hourly pay rate of £9.90. 

 
2.5 The kinds of projects and events that can be supported by the Community Fund are shown in 

the table below.  

1. Introduction 

2. How much money is available and what can be funded? 

75

Appendix A

mailto:SKCommunityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk


 2 

 

 

 
2.6 Awards towards the maximum figure available will require significant levels of match funding and 

demonstrable community need and support. 
 
 

Project 
Category 

Types of Projects Supported 

Supporting 
Communities  

 

 

 

Supporting the work of organisations that support communities.  Projects 
that support communities to tackle issues of loneliness, social or rural 
isolation, mental health and wellbeing.  

Community 
Amenities 

Outdoor facilities such as ’Multi-Use Games Areas’, community shelters, 
recreation areas, community orchards etc. 

Community 
Buildings 

Repairs, maintenance and alterations to village halls and other public 
buildings, contributions to new build community buildings and the 
purchase of equipment to be used in community buildings. 

Community 
Enterprise 

Projects which generate an ongoing revenue stream for a community 
such as community owned pubs, shops, cafes, and community tourism 
initiatives. 

Community 
Events  

One-off community celebrations, sports events, street festivals, arts 
and cultural events.  

  

 

 
 

3.1 The SK Community Fund is not open to applications from Parish and Town Councils, clubs that 
require people to pay a membership fee in order to participate, closed groups e.g. resident’s 
associations (set up costs for new groups and free, open-access events may be eligible). Other 
events/projects that will not be supported include: 

 
i. Projects or events that are for private gain. 
ii. Events primarily intended to pass on surplus income to other organisations, e.g. 

charity concerts. 
iii. Revenue costs - salaries, project officer or other employee costs, rents, statutory 

training etc. (Sessional worker fees requested as part of an Events application may 
be considered). 

iv. Projects or events that already receive South Kesteven District Council funding (e.g. 
SKDC Ward Member Grant Scheme, Foodbank Support Fund etc). 

v. Regular events (unless they have a significantly new and different aspect). 
vi. General appeals or sponsorship. 

vii. Activities of a mainly political or religious nature, improvements to the fabric of church 
buildings, and its fixtures and fittings (non-religious community activities only, held 
within a place of worship, may be eligible). 

viii. Piece-meal adaptations/refurbishments to community facilities. 
ix. Contingency funds, income deficits, bridging loans or security against a loan. 

 
 

3. What will not be funded? 

76



 3 

 

 

 
 

4.1 We welcome applications from constituted community and voluntary groups, charities and social 
enterprises to deliver projects that benefit communities in South Kesteven District. We do not 
accept applications from individuals. 

 

4.2 Applications will be assessed on their ability to: 
• Deliver wide community benefit, contributing to the sustainability, vitality and well-

being of SKDC’s communities, such as encouraging volunteering and 
participation 

• Contribute to locally identified community needs and priorities (such as loneliness, 
social or rural isolation, mental health and wellbeing etc.) 

• Contribute to South Kesteven District Council’s priorities 

• Demonstrate value for money (through obtaining written quotes and estimates) 

• Measure the success of a project or event 

• Demonstrate equality of opportunity and the elimination of discrimination 
 

4.3 To apply to the SK Community Fund your group or organisation must have: 

• A written governing document or constitution 
• A bank or building society account in the name of your group or organisation with at 

least two signatories who are unrelated and do not live at the same address 
• Relevant policies and procedures 
• Where possible photographic evidence should be supplied with your application. 
 

4.4 You are required to provide all necessary documentation to support your application including 
copies of two written quotes for all items of expenditure of £50 - £2,499 (including VAT) and 
three quotes for all items of expenditure of £2,500 and above. The written quotes and 
estimates must display the relevant company names and addresses and be less than six 
months old. Your chosen quotation should be highlighted and should exactly match the 
amount on your application form. 
 

4.5 Grants will not be awarded retrospectively (i.e. for work or equipment already purchased or 
events which have already taken place). 

 
4.6 We will not make more than one award in a financial year to the same organisation or group. 

Groups can apply up to a maximum of 3 times.  All applications must be for clearly identifiable 
different projects or events and previously funded projects must have been completed prior 
to the submission of any subsequent application. 

 
4.7 It is unlikely that the SK Community Fund will be able to provide grants for all potentially eligible 

applications. Therefore, we reserve the right to prioritise applications to achieve best value for 
money. We also reserve the right to decline applications which do not meet the stated criteria. 
 

4.8 Financial information provided along with any application is open to question by the Awarding 
Panel. The Panel reserves the right to question an applicant’s non-commitment of funds if a 
bank statement shows sufficient funds are available to support a project without a grant being 
given.  The Panel will also question a stated commitment of funds when there is insufficient 
evidence to show such funds are available to the applicant. 
 
 

4. Criteria for funding 

77



 4 

 

 

 
 

5.1 On receipt of your application we will make an initial assessment to check that your group or 
organisation and project or event are eligible and that all required supporting documentation 
has been provided. The Corporate Operations Team may contact you to obtain missing 
information, documentation or for clarification; however, the emphasis is on the applying 
organisation to ensure the application is complete and accurate. 

 
5.2 The Corporate Operations Team will aim to acknowledge receipt of your application within 

five working days of receiving it. This will be by email where you have provided an email 
address but otherwise will be by letter. 
 

5.3 Eligible applications that are accompanied by the required supporting documentation will be 
put before the Awarding Panel for consideration. The Panel is a forum of elected members 
capable of decision making for community bids that will influence the delivery of community-
based projects and initiatives. Projects and events must provide wide community benefit and 
contribute to the sustainability, vitality and well-being of communities in the South Kesteven 
district. 

 
5.4 The Panel will meet at regular intervals to review applications.  It is expected Panel meetings 

will take place approximately 4-6 weeks after the closing date for applications being submitted 
for consideration. 

 
5.5 Applicants will be informed (usually by email) whether or not the Panel has recommended their 

project or event to receive a grant, within five working days of the meeting taking place. 
 

5.6 South Kesteven District Council’s Awarding Panel’s decision is final and cannot be changed 
(no appeals or discussions will be entered into). 
 

5.7 Payment will be made in two stages, with 75% of the grant being paid prior to commencement 
of the project or event and 25% after completion. 
 

5.8 A Project Completion Form must be completed and submitted by the applicant on completion 
of their project or event in order to draw down the final 25% payment. 

 

 
 

6.1 Grants must be spent within one year of an award being made (from the date on the grant 
offer letter). 

 
6.2 Grants awarded must be spent on the purpose stated in the application. If for any reason your 

circumstances change or you wish to vary the way in which you spend your grant, you are 
required to contact the Corporate Operations Team to request written permission to do so. 
 

6.3 In the event of a group or organisation ceasing to operate or failing to undertake or complete 
the project or event for which the grant was offered, South Kesteven District Council reserves 
the right to withhold payment, to reduce an award or seek its recovery. 

 

5. How your application is dealt with 

6. Conditions of funding 

78



 5 

 

 

6.4 Financial support provided by South Kesteven District Council should be acknowledged on all 
relevant printed publicity, on websites and in information given to the press. Relevant 
guidance will be provided to applicants at the time of a grant offer being made. 

 
6.5 Your group or organisation must ensure that its project or event operates within the 

requirements of all legislation. 

 
6.6 Your group or organisation should ensure equality of opportunity and the elimination of 

discrimination in the delivery of its project or event. 

 
6.7 You are required to inform the Council when your project or event has been completed and to 

submit a Project Completion Form within three months of completion (The Corporate 
Operations Team will provide you with a template). You will also need to provide relevant 
invoices and bank statements showing payments made. Groups or organisations that do not 
complete and return a satisfactory Project Completion Form and provide the required 
documentation within the agreed timetable will not be eligible to draw-down the final 25% of 
any grant awarded and may be required to return the funding paid to them at the outset of the 
project. Groups that do not fulfil this obligation will not be considered for future funding (no 
appeals or discussions will be entered into). 
 
 

 
 

Applications will be assessed at regular intervals. Please refer to South Kesteven District Council’s 
website for current timelines and dates. http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk   

 
 

Contact the Corporate Operations Team: 
 
The Corporate Operations Team 
South Kesteven District Council 
St Peter’s Hill 
Grantham 
Lincolnshire 
NG31 6PZ 
 

 Tel: 01476 406080 (extn 6161) 
 Email:  communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk 

7. Application timetable 

79

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid=8363
mailto:communityfund@southkesteven.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Planning White Paper Consultation Response 

To consider a response to the Government White Paper on planning reform.  
 

 

Report Author 

William Tse, Special Projects and Regeneration Officer 

Tel:  01476 406376 

Email:  w.tse@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Key All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Roger Ranson, Head of Planning Policy 24 September 2020 

Approved by: Paul Thomas, Strategic Director for Growth 24 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

25 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To consider the Government White Paper on Planning Reform. 

2. To submit a formal consultation response to the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government by the 29 October 2020. 

3. Delegate the responsibility for submitting a response to the Government White 
Paper on Planning Reform to the Chief Executive in consultation with the Cabinet 
portfolio holder for Housing and Planning. 

81

Agenda Item 6

mailto:w.tse@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Planning for the Future White Paper launched in August 2020 intends to reform the 

planning system to provide a modern and streamlined approach to the complete planning 

process. 

1.2 The consultation with the general public and interested parties will last until the 29 October 

2020 and provides the opportunity for the Council to respond to the Government’s proposals 

as set out in the White Paper. 

1.3 The White Paper seeks responses on multiple components of the planning system in 

England with a focus on reforming the way planning is structured and achieving the 

Government ambitions of ensuring:  

- A transparent and streamlined planning process. 

- Introduction of modern technologies to supplement planning. 

- Delivery of housebuilding targets of 300,000 per year. 

- Communities retain involvement in plan making processes. 

- Greater support for home ownership and affordability. 

- Businesses benefit from the planning system with greater opportunities. 

- Developments achieve net gain in quality of built and natural environment . 

- A virtuous circle of renewal and regeneration for all place settings.  

1.4 Details of the White Paper and its consultation can be found here: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future  (Background Paper 

1). 

1.5 The Town and Country Planning Association has produced a frequently asked questions 

document to supplement the White Paper Consultation (Background paper 2). 

Planning for the Future Consultation Proposals 

1.6 In summary, the White Paper proposes the following in terms of the operation of the current 

planning system in England:  

1.7 Local Plans would be simplified and focus on identifying three categories of land:  

1. "growth areas" that are "suitable for substantial development";  

2. "renewal areas" that are "suitable for development"; and  

3. "protected areas".  

1.8 In “growth areas”, outline approval would be automatically granted for forms and types of 

development specified in the plan. Development in renewal areas would "cover existing built 

areas where smaller scale development is appropriate" and could include the “gentle 

densification” of residential areas, development in town centres, and small sites in and 

around villages. There would be a "statutory presumption in favour of development" 

specified in the plan. Protected areas, including green belt, conservation areas and Areas 

of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs), would still be subject to “more stringent” 

development controls and full planning applications would be required for new schemes. 

82

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future


 

 
 

1.9 Local Plans should be subject to a single and “simplified” statutory "sustainable 

development" test, replacing the existing "tests of soundness". Local Plans would need to 

be visual, map-based, standardised and based on the latest digital technology. 

1.10 The legal Duty to Cooperate, which requires local planning authorities to continuously and 

effectively engage with neighbours on strategic issues such as housing need, "would be 

removed". However, it adds that "further consideration will be given to the way in which 

strategic cross-boundary issues, such as major infrastructure or strategic sites, can be 

adequately planned for, including the scale at which plans are best prepared in areas with 

significant strategic challenges". 

1.11 The Government is considering scrapping the five-year housing land supply requirement. 

The document says its "proposed approach should ensure that enough land is planned for, 

and with sufficient certainty about its availability for development, to avoid a continuing 

requirement to be able to demonstrate a five-year supply of land". However, it proposes to 

"maintain the housing delivery test and the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development as part of the new system". 

1.12 Councils and the Planning Inspectorate would be required through legislation to meet a 

statutory timetable of no more than 30 months for (Local) Plan preparation with "sanctions 

for those who fail to do so". 

1.13 The planning process would be increasingly digitised, moving from “a process based on 

documents to a process driven by data”. Local authorities would be helped to use digital 

tools to support “a new civic engagement process for local plans and decision-making”. 

1.14 Under a proposed new “fast-track for beauty”, proposals for high-quality developments that 

reflect local character and preferences would benefit from “automatic permission”. New 

development would be expected to create a “net gain” to areas’ appearance. Design codes, 

which would be expected to be prepared locally, would be made “more binding” on planning 

decisions. A new body would be established to support the delivery of design codes across 

the country. 

1.15 The standard housing need method would be changed so that the requirement would be 

“binding” on local planning authorities who would “have to deliver [it] through their local 

plans". The new method "would be a means of distributing the national housebuilding target 

of 300,000 new homes annually". It says the requirement would be focused on areas where 

affordability pressure is highest and on brownfield land. It would also have regard to the 

"size of existing urban settlements" in an area and the "extent of land constraints". 

1.16 A new ‘single infrastructure levy’ will replace the existing developer contributions system of 

Section 106 Agreements and the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). The Government 

proposes that the new levy will be a nationally-set, flat rate charge and would be based on 

the final value (or likely sales value) of a development. The new levy could be used to 

"capture a greater proportion of the land value uplift that occurs through the grant of planning 

permission and use this to enhance infrastructure delivery. But such a move "would need to 

be balanced against risks to development viability". The scope of the levy "could be 

extended to capture changes of use through permitted development rights". Such a move 

"would allow these developments to better contribute to infrastructure delivery and making 

development acceptable to the community. 

1.17 Large building sites would be split between developers to accelerate delivery. The 

government proposes to revise the National Planning Policy Framework to make it clear that 

83



 

 
 

masterplans and design codes for sites prepared for substantial development should seek 

to include a variety of development types from different builders, which would allow more 

phases to come forward together. 

1.18 Community consultation at the planning application stage is to be “streamlined”. Instead, 

there would be “a new emphasis on engagement at the plan-making stage”. 

1.19 The determination of planning applications "should be faster and more certain, with firm 

deadlines". The "well-established time limits of 8 or 13 weeks for determining an application 

from validation to decision should be a firm deadline. Penalties for councils that fail to 

determine an application within the statutory time limits could involve "the automatic refund 

of the planning fee for the application". Ministers also "want to explore whether some types 

of applications should be deemed to have been granted planning permission if there has 

not been a timely determination". Applications should be "shorter and more standardised". 

There should be just "one key standardised planning statement of no more than 50 pages 

to justify the development proposals". 

1.20 Where applications are refused and the decision is overturned at appeal, the paper 

proposes that "applicants will be entitled to an automatic rebate of their planning application 

fee". 

1.21 Each local planning authority would be required to have a Chief Officer for Design and 

Place-making. 

1.22 Fees should continue to be set nationally but "cover at least the full cost" of processing 

applications, "based on clear national benchmarking". It added that this "should involve the 

greater regulation of discretionary pre-application charging to ensure it is fair and 

proportionate".  The costs of operating the planning system should be "principally funded" 

by developer contributions "rather than the national or local taxpayer". Currently, the 

document says, "the cost of development management activities by local planning 

authorities is to a large extent covered by planning fees". However, the "cost of preparing 

local plans and enforcement activities is now largely funded from the local planning 

authority's own resources. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 In ensuring the Council provides a balanced and open assessment of the Planning for the 

Future White Paper Consultation, the views of the planning committee have been consulted 

(Background Paper 3 - Planning Committee Presentation).  This has informed the initial draft 

response to the White Paper set out in Appendix 1. Cabinet is requested to comment on the 

White Paper and the initial draft response so that this can be finalised by the consultation 

deadline. 

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 To submit a consultation response to Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government addressing the questions posed in the White Paper. This option provides the 

Council an opportunity to shape the future reform of the planning system regarding the items 

which impact our local planning processes. The Council will also provide insight on how 

items within the reform uniquely affects the District. 

3.2 To withhold our response to the Planning for the Future White Paper precludes the Council 

in effectively engaging in the planning reform process. The Council will be unable to shape 

and develop the future structure for planning in England. Other opportunities will be 

84



 

 
 

available for future consultation; however, this will be much narrow in focus and the 

opportunity to influence the extensive planning reform will be forfeited. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 To effectively engage in the consultation (option 3.1) and provide the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government with a defined response to the planning reform.  

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 It is important to establish and maintain a planning system which functions effectively within 

South Kesteven. The reform will lead eventually to primary and secondary legislation which 

will impact on planning decisions affecting residents, communities and businesses. 

5.2 Through the consultation response, the Council as the Local Planning Authority has the 

opportunity to input and help shape the nature and content of the reforms proposed by 

Government. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 The Council will produce a final document for submission to the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government for their consideration. It is recommended that, due to 

the restrictive deadline for consultation responses, that the final version of consultation 

response submitted by the Council is delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning. Cabinet is requested to comment on the 

White Paper and the initial draft response (Appendix 1) so that this can be finalised by the 

consultation deadline.  

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The decision within this Cabinet report has no identifiable implications on current Council 

finances for the planning function. Once the reforms have been agreed, some items for 

change may affect Council’s operation of the planning function, and so have financial 

implications for the Council. 

7.2 The planning reform refers to future models of proposed funding for the planning system 

which includes; developer contributions and funding the new planning system. The 

proposed models are at a preliminary stage of development and have been summarised 

below. 

7.3 Developer contributions will be streamlined and charged on the final value of a development 

against a set Infrastructure levy. The levy will be subject to thresholds which ensure 

developments of a smaller nature are not penalised whilst developments with significant 

uplift are levied at a greater proportion. The Council may borrow against future Infrastructure 

Levy revenue to forward fund delivery; the full model of operation is to be confirmed. 

7.4 The government is seeking to ensure affordable housing is included and delivered via the 

Infrastructure Levy and the scope of the levy may extend to other planning approvals to 

capture Change of Use permissions. 

7.5 The proposal for funding the new planning system states that funding will be received from 

the beneficiaries of planning gain (developers and landowners). If the new approach to 

development contributions is implemented, a proportion of income to the Council can be 

used towards: 

- Overall planning costs. 

85



 

 
 

- Preparation and review of Local Plans including Design Codes. 

- Enforcement activities. 

7.6 Neighbourhoods may also receive a share of the Infrastructure Levy to support local projects 

ensuring a greater flexibility of expenditure by the Council. 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Gillian Goddard, Senior Financial Accountant 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 At this current stage of consultation, the Council will not be legally bound to any 

recommendations and views noted in the consultation response. Future changes to 

regulation and legislation will be communicated by the Ministry of Housing Communities and 

Local Government or as appropriately by the Government. 

8.2 The planning reform notes that a framework of amendments to primary and secondary 

legislation for the planning system will be required. These changes will impact how the 

Council ensures effective delivery of the planning service. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 In responding to the consultation, the recommendations and response will not identifiably 

impact negatively upon equality or affect the safeguarding of others. 

9.2 The reforms set out in the consultation seek to ensure the planning system is accessible, 

accountable, digital and transparent. This will lead to an increase in access and engagement 

for all groups and individuals. 

9.3 In addition to the Council’s response, all communities, families, groups and individuals are 

encouraged to have a say on the future of places where they live via the consultation. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 There are no significant risks identified at this stage as the report only deals with responses 

to Government proposals as set out in the White Paper.  

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 In responding to the consultation, the Council continues to ensure community safety is 

maintained throughout the district. 

11.2 The proposals within the consultation may influence the ability for the Council to enforce 

planning standards and building regulations which ensure local individuals and communities 

are protected from hazardous or unsafe developments. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 For the Council and the District, proposed plans in the consultation paper are likely to lead 

to support the Council’s declaration of a climate emergency. 

12.2 The Planning for the Future White Paper proposes to provide high environmental standards 

and address long-term sustainability in the planning process. 

12.3 The reforms will deliver the commitment for all new homes to achieve net-zero by 2050. 

86



 

 
 

12.4 Digital innovations will also reduce the need for significant documentation retention and 

seek to modernise the way the national planning system will operate in the future. 

13 Other Implications (where significant)  

13.1 None 

14 Background Papers 

14.1 Planning for the Future: White Paper (August 2020) 

https:www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future 

14.2 Town and Country Planning Association – Frequently asked Questions regarding the 

White Paper Consultation 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3981  

14.3 Planning Committee Presentation - Planning for the Future 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3981  

15 Appendices 

15.1 Initial draft White Paper Response (South Kesteven District Council) 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

15 September 2020 

Final Decision date   13 October 2020 

 

87

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/planning-for-the-future
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3981
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=164&MId=3981


This page is intentionally left blank



South Kesteven District Council 
White Paper Consultation Response [Draft] 

 
1 Introductory comments 

1.1 It is recognised that the planning regime in England has become over-complex, plans take 
too long to prepare, assessments of housing need and environmental impacts have become 
too complex and opaque, the process for negotiation of developer contributions has become 
protracted and unclear, and there is more than needs to be put in place to improve the quality  
design in new development. 

 
1.2 The White Paper needs to recognise that the national shortfall on housing delivery is a 

complex matter going beyond the reform of the planning system. 
 
1.3 The White Paper is short on detail as to the form of any subsequent primary and secondary 

legislation and as to how many of the ideas in the White Paper will be taken forward.  It is 
noted that the Government intends to undertake further consultation on specific issues and 
this is welcomed.   The lack of detail and further consultation is likely to impact on the 
proposed legislative and implementation timetable.      
      

2 Proposal 1: The role of plans should be simplified 

2.1 The White Paper sets out what might change through plan making, but is not clear about the 
fact that key aspects of current plan preparation and decision making will continue to be 
integral to the system.  Consequently, it gives the impression that there will be much less 
work to preparing plans than is likely to be the case. 

 
2.2 In plan-making under the present system it is established good practice to identify the issues 

and opportunities the plan needs to address, sets out a vision for the area together with 
strategic objectives, and develops an overall strategy to shape the future of the area.  
Without clarity about these higher-level issues, any plan which seeks to go straight to site 
related proposals will not necessarily be soundly based, or capable of being demonstrated to 
be robust.  These features will be just as important in any changed system as now, and the 
Government should be encouraged to make this clear as it develops its proposals further. 

 
2.3 In particular, it will continue to be crucial that there should be a clear vision and strategy for 

the area, which addresses the key issues and explores the real choices available, to set out 
the framework which underpins all that follows.   

 
2.4 There is much within the White Paper about the need for housing, but very little on the wide 

range of other matters which plans deal with.  It gives little or no attention to the local 
economy, the interrelationship between development and infrastructure, the quality of life for 
local people, and important matters such as minerals and waste planning.  There seems only 
passing reference to climate change rather than identifying this as a focal point in planning 
for the future.  This is in marked contrast to the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 
which sets out succinctly the very wide number of matters which plans are likely to need to 
address.  

 
2.5 Given that it has been judged to be in the public interest that local plans should address this 

range of issues, it is presumed that they will continue to need to do so in the future, albeit 
with a greater emphasis on their role in formulating the plan proposals than as topics to be 
addressed in their own right.  The Government should remove uncertainty by making this 
clear in further developing its proposals. 

 
2.6 A large part of plan preparation involves the collection of evidence to inform the plan and 

assist in decision making about it.  The White Paper describes the burden of evidence as 
disproportionate, and in principle this is recognised.  The intention is expressed to simplify 

89

Appendix 1



 

the process of environmental assessment, and this is supported in principle.  We welcome 
the opportunity to comment further on future proposed consultation regarding this. It would be 
appreciated if further guidance is provided on how the evidence base might actually be 
slimmed or simplified. The provision of a definitive list of required evidence required along 
with standard templates for key evidence would help reduce the volume, cost and time taken 
to prepare evidence and would limit the scope for challenge of evidence 

 
2.7 Important decisions cannot be allowed to be made on the basis of unsubstantiated 

assumptions, opinion, or misinformation; they need to be well founded.  So, given the wide 
range of matters which the NPPF requires plans to address, further guidance from the 
Government would be appreciated as to the practical scope to significantly reduce the burden 
of evidence.             
  

2.8 Any planning process is about balancing a wide range of factors and making choices, which 
requires consideration of the real alternatives available to the Local Planning Authority (LPA), 
and their appraisal.  There is no mention of consideration of alternatives in the White Paper, 
but it will still be an essential part of plan making to ensure that the best solutions are chosen.  
Developers will still wish to have their potential sites properly and fairly considered, and 
communities and individuals will still wish to be able to see the options available and express 
their preferences.  Local Plan Inspectors will need to be able to confirm whether the main 
elements that make up the plan amount to the right choices to deliver sustainable 
development. 

 
2.9 The discussion under this proposal focuses on the assignment of land to one of the three 

categories of growth, renewal and protection areas.  But it does not consider how that might 
be done.  The world is complex, and so are cities and towns, so it is no surprise that the 
NPPF identifies so many matters which need to be considered in preparing plans.  As noted 
above, LPAs will still need evidence about such matters and take them into account as 
appropriate to the area in making decisions of principle about where growth should take 
place.  They will still need to consider valid alternatives.  And they will still need to set out an 
overall strategy to set the framework for decisions on the three types of areas. 

 
2.10 Moreover, the White Paper appears to assume that once land has been assigned to one of 

the three categories of growth areas, renewal areas and protected areas, and development 
management policy has been transferred to the NPPF, there will be no need for local plans to 
address other matters. There is no information about whether such designations should 
cover the whole of an LPA’s area, or whether it is acceptable to have areas which are not 
subject to one of the three categories, or indeed areas which might be covered by two 
categories. For example an area might be “protected” for one or more reasons (such as a 
conservation area) but could also be considered as a “renewal” area too.  

 
2.11 However, in formulating their plans, planning authorities will still need to address all the 

relevant considerations that bear upon their decisions about whether land is suitable for 
development, and the form it should take.  As noted above, the NPPF sets out the matters to 
be considered. 

 
2.12 Most of the matters identified by the NPPF are not about development management policy, 

but are important matters of principle to be addressed by local plans, including (purely as 
examples) such matters as the proportion of affordable housing, density standards and their 
areas of operation, economic strategy, specific measures to encourage walking and cycling, 
and local parking standards.  Such matters require the development of solutions which reflect 
the local circumstances, and are generally not capable of being dealt with by national 
development management policies.           
             
    

3 Proposal 2: Development management policies established at national scale 

90



 

3.1 One of the reasons many local plans are so lengthy is that they commonly contain large 
numbers of relatively detailed development management policies, which are repeated in 
different forms from plan to plan.  So the proposition that there should be no repetition of 
national policy within local plans is fully supported.  So too is principle is the proposal that the 
NPPF should be developed to include a suite of standardised development management 
policies.  In addition, it is considered that there is a good case for a national set of conditions 
to run alongside this. 

  
3.2 The White Paper effectively assumes that all the LPA will need to be able to deal with 

planning applications will be the assignment of sites to the three categories, master plans 
and design codes, and the NPPF development management policies.  LPAs should have the 
discretion to add development and location specific conditions.  

 
3.3 Many of the matters which the NPPF requires local plans to address are plan making 

matters, not development management policy.  Suitable policies (or rules) will continue to be 
needed to deal properly with such matters and be taken into account in decision making on 
planning applications. 

 
3.3 Moreover, there are some types of development management policy which are not suitable 

for national policy.  These include: policies which quantify requirements, such as the 
percentage of affordable housing, density levels, and parking standards; policies which 
delineate the area over which a policy or requirement will apply (examples are the definition 
of the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas, the areas where different density 
levels will be expected, and areas where tall buildings are appropriate) and policies to 
address particular circumstances which are specific to the particular area.  

 
3.4 It is also questioned whether all matters which are in the nature of development management 

policies can be dealt with through single national development management policies, to apply 
everywhere in the country.  There are rich differences in character between different areas 
which require approaches which respond to the local circumstances.  The danger is that 
national policies will have to be so generalised that they will have limited practical use in 
dealing with actual proposals; or that inadvertently they will steer development in ways which 
are simply wrong when applied to specific local circumstances.  The better solution is to 
accept that there should remain some flexibility to ensure that development management 
policies suit the local situation. 

 
 
4 Proposal 3: A single sustainable development test to replace the existing soundness 

tests 

4.1 At this time there is little detail of what the proposed sustainable development test would 
involve.  Further information from the Government is appreciated; acordingly, some questions 
are posed to assist the development of the proposals: 

 Given the expressed intention to replace sustainability appraisal by a simplified 
environmental impact assessment, how can a plan be tested for the economic and 
social pillars of sustainability if there is no appraisal process for them? 

 It is proposed that the testing of sustainable development should be against the 
policies of the NPPF.  But the NPPF does not address all the aspects of sustainability, 
so how can this work?  As an example, reducing the need to travel is a familiar 
sustainability objective, but it is not mentioned in the NPPF. 

 If the present “positively prepared” test is to be abolished, will there be no testing of 
whether the plan meets the mandatory housing requirement? 

 Will the demise of the “justified” test mean there will be no consideration of whether 
the plan represents a suitable strategy that it is supported by evidence, and that 
reasonable alternatives have been considered? 

91



 

 How will the deliverability aspect of the “effective” test be incorporated into the new 
sustainable development test? This is an essential element of ensuring that not only is 
sufficient land identified to meet development need but that it will actually be 
delivered. 

 Is it really intended that in abolishing the “national policy” test, so that the Inspector 
will be precluded from considering whether the plan conforms with national policy? 

 What will happen if the Inspector concludes that additional housing sites are needed 
to fully meet the mandatory housing requirement, or that a proposed site should be 
removed from the plan and replaced?  How will the additional site(s) be identified if 
there is no testing of how the plan has considered alternative sites (the justified” test) 

 
4.2  Questions such as these will need to be fully resolved before making any significant change 

to the examination process. 
 
4.3 An alternative approach to the soundness test is mooted in the White Paper, which is to 

include reserve sites in plans.  It is not clear how this could work with the three categories.  
They could not be growth areas with outline planning permission, nor could they be subject to 
a presumption in favour of development as renewal areas, and they would certainly not be 
protected areas. 

 
5 Proposal 4: A binding housing requirement for each LPA 

5.1 The White Paper says that plans should be for a minimum period of 10 years.  It is not clear 
whether this would be from the time of preparation of the plan or the anticipated date of 
adoption. 

 
5.2 No reason is given for departing from the current requirement that plans should be prepared 

for a minimum period of 15 years.  If the Government is minded to bring this change forward, 
it is urged to set out clearly its reasons for the proposed change, so that interested parties 
can respond.  At this time the point needs to be made that a risk with a shorter plan period is 
that plans could become less strategic in nature, and more likely to be based on 
incrementalism. There is also a significant risk that a 10 year horizon does not provide 
sufficient time for major development proposals, particularly those which require additional 
infrastructure to be planned and delivered, reducing the effectiveness of the “growth area” 
designation in delivering new homes and jobs. 

 
Binding housing requirements 

5.3 It has been suggested that binding requirements would be set through the use of an 
algorithm, which would factor in considerations such as the extent of land constraints, the 
scope to use brownfield land, and the needs for other types of development. 

 
5.5 Further work and consultation with LPAs would be appreciate to determine how local 

circumstances could be taken into account within any proposed algorithm.  A whole series of 
questions arise, which would need to be resolved in designing an algorithm, or any other 
methodology for that matter: 

 How would the land requirement for types of development other than housing be 
quantified, without substantial evidence and work to assess targets or needs? 

 How would LPAs with very tight boundaries be dealt with, such as Birmingham, 
Bristol, Liverpool and Newcastle?  Such LPAs have very little opportunity land to meet 
housing and other needs. 

 What would happen where the consideration of identified local constraints led to the 
requirement being set substantially below the “raw” standard method need figure?  
Would that element of the national requirement be simply lost, or would it need to be 
transferred to adjoining authorities with more land potential?  If the latter, what would 
be the mechanism to deal with this? 

92



 

 Where an LPA believed it had strong reasons to be able to set a higher requirement 
figure, would they be prevented from doing so?  If it would be allowed, how would this 
work? 

 How would the potential from brownfield development and densification be addressed 
without consideration of the particular local circumstances?  As an example, in some 
areas, the increased construction costs of higher densities would make development 
less viable and therefore less likely to be delivered 

 Since the Green Belt is listed as one of the constraints to be take into account, is 
there a presumption that there would be no release of land from the Green Belt?  Or, 
since the White Paper says that Green Belt policy will continue unchanged, will there 
still be the potential for Green Belt boundaries to be changed where exceptional 
circumstances are demonstrated?  Will the government decide where there should be 
Green Belt releases? 

 Why is flood risk treated as if it is an absolute constraint?  In areas with no or very 
limited alternatives, suitable measures can be taken to prevent or mitigate the risk of 
flooding, as provided for in the NPPF sequential approach 

 Where an authority produced robust evidence that binding target could not be met, 
and the local plan Inspector concluded this was valid, what would happen? 

 If binding targets are to be set, what testing will there be of the methodology and its 
application to individual LPA areas?  Would there not be the prospect of LPAs or 
others resorting to legal challenge where they considered the basis on which the 
requirement was set was flawed? 

 Given the proposal that the 5-year land supply requirement would be discontinued, 
how could it be assessed whether a draft plan would deliver sufficient housing in the 
short term? 

 
5.6 It is contended that to be able to set binding targets which would stand up to scrutiny, the 

Government could not safely seek to depend on an algorithm – there are too many factors 
where locally specific assumptions would need to be made.  Rather, it would need to 
commission a series of sub-regional studies to assess the requirements and potential 
capacity for all kinds of development for LPAs or groups of LPAs.  These would have to 
deliver their outputs before material progress could be made on the local plans for those 
areas. 

 
6 Proposal 5: Growth and renewal areas 

 Growth areas 

6.1 The White Paper proposals for zoning have some merit and may be appropriate in some 
limited areas, but it is difficult to see how these will work in practice.  Zoning is not considered 
flexible enough to apply across the board.  It is considered that a finer grained approach with 
detailed arrangements between zones together with an overlay of other criteria would be 
likely to work better.             
  

6.2 The White Paper proposes that on adoption of a local plan, growth areas would automatically 
receive outline planning permission.  It does not address the fact that when dealing with an 
outline planning application, the LPA has to address all considerations which have a bearing 
on whether the principle of the development should be accepted, as part of their duty to 
consider the public interest in decision making. 

 
6.3 The particular considerations will depend upon the circumstances of the site and the 

proposals.  They may include matters such as the proportion of affordable housing, 
infrastructure requirements, greenspace requirements, the need to protect features on the 
site, measures needed to avoid adverse environmental impacts, measures to protect the 
amenity of adjoining properties, matters requiring prior site investigation (such as land 
contamination or stability). Statutory consultees play an important role in identifying measures 

93



 

required to be able to safely issue outline permission.  A further practical question is how 
issues such as ground conditions or unknown infrastructure might be considered at the plan 
making stage. There is a risk that sites zoned for growth may later transpire to be 
undeliverable.  It is stressed that these are not matters of detail which can be dealt with as 
reserved matters, but need to be resolved upfront in making the decision of principle whether 
to grant outline permission. 

 
6.4 The same would have to apply to the decision to grant outline permission through the local 

plan.  The same kinds of matters would need to be investigated and resolved to properly 
address the public interest.  Effectively, matters presently dealt with at outline planning 
application stage would be brought forward to be addressed at plan making stage. 

 
6.5 The amount of work required by both the LPA and landowners or developers is likely to be 

considerable.  As with an outline planning permission there will need to be cooperation and 
negotiation between them, to establish the form the outline permission should take to meet 
both their needs.  Moreover, elected members and community groups, aware that there will 
be no further opportunity to address matters of principle at the time of a planning application, 
will be concerned to ensure that nothing of relevance is missed or inadequately addressed.  
There is little information on how the community will be able to engage with this part of the 
process once the plan has gone beyond the early engagement stage. This will increase the 
scrutiny which emerging proposals for growth areas will receive. 

 
6.6 It follows that where a local plan puts forward substantial growth areas, considerably more 

work will be required than is currently the case in deciding whether to allocate land.  That will 
impact significantly upon the resources and time needed to prepare the local plan.   
  

6.7 The Government therefore needs to take account of the fact that proposals for growth areas 
are likely to entail substantial additional work, cost and time in preparing local plans – this will 
be exacerbated where there are significant changes to the calculation of the Local Housing 
Need which may well trigger significantly differing impacts on infrastructure. That investment 
may be returned in time by reductions in work dealing with planning applications.  But it will 
still bear upon the workload involved in preparing plans, and the time they take to prepare. 

 
6.8 It is possible that developers will be willing to invest the necessary resources to provide 

evidence to the LPA to demonstrate that their site is suitable for the effective grant of outline 
planning permission.  However, for a large site which raises a lot of issues, there could be 
very considerable cost involved.  The question therefore arises of whether they will feel able 
to make such an investment, before they know that the LPA has made a firm decision that it 
wishes to make the site a growth area.  That position would only be reached when the plan 
had reached quite an advanced stage. 

 
6.9  Outline planning permissions commonly include significant numbers of planning conditions 

which are necessary to set out how significant considerations need to be dealt with or 
resolved, and without which permission could not be safely granted.  A mechanism will be 
required to bring the matters currently dealt with by conditions into the local plan.  These 
could take the form of site-specific standards or requirements, or “rules” to use the language 
of the White Paper; and their scope will necessarily go further than the matters cited in 
paragraph 1.20 of the White Paper. 

 
6.11 The White Paper appears to assume that Section 106 agreements deal only with provision of 

infrastructure, and can therefore be replaced by the proposed consolidated CIL.  However, 
Section 106 agreements are often used to deal with other matters where it is not appropriate 
to use a planning condition to mitigate an impact of the proposal and enable planning 
permission to be granted.    In addition, Section 106 agreements are used to cover important 
issues such as affordable housing and minerals restoration.  Since a Section 106 agreement 
relates to the principle of development, it has to be entered into at the time the decision in 
principle is made.  So for an outline application it must be resolved at that time, and cannot 

94



 

be left for the reserved matters stage.  The planning permission is only issued when the 
signed Section 106 agreement is in place. 

 
6.12 Since the identification of growth areas in local plans is likely to require the preparation of 

Section 106 agreements, in further developing its proposals the government will need to 
address how this can be dealt with.  If the matter is not resolved, it would appear that any site 
for which it was established that a Section 106 agreement would be needed, could not be 
identified as a growth area. 

 
6.13 In addition to the matters raised above, the further development of the proposals for growth 

areas will need to consider a number of practical questions which arise, including how 
biodiversity net gain will be addressed.  Because a developers’ overall scheme will be 
required to be able to demonstrate that there are the means of securing net gain on site 
before outline permission is created. 

 
Renewal areas 

6.14 The White Paper proposes that renewal areas should be subject to “a general presumption in 
favour of development”.  It is not clear what is meant by this.  Is it intended to apply to any 
form of development?  Because that could include development which could have a harmful 
impact in the area, eg a hot food take-away next to a school; or development which planning 
policy seeks to steer such uses towards particular areas, eg retail development. Or will it 
apply more narrowly, in the way that current local plans commonly contain a policy supporting 
residential development within existing settlement areas? 

 
6.15 The discussion of renewal areas does not go into much detail about what they might cover.  It 

is assumed that to give developers and communities reasonable certainty about what might 
be permissible in a particular area, different types of renewal area will be identified for, by 
way of example, residential areas, town centres, and employment areas.  The presumption 
would then apply only to conforming development. 

 
6.16 Taking this further, rather than designate large parts of urban areas uniformly as residential 

renewal areas, with the same policy principles applying, it would seem desirable for LPAs to 
be able to have different types of residential renewal areas.  This would enable plans to 
differentiate between the kind of approaches required for areas of very different built form 
and character.  The ability to differentiate renewal areas would also enable particular areas of 
opportunity to be highlighted, as well as areas where there are distinctive local issues which 
need to be dealt with.  The same would apply to employment areas, where it would be 
desirable to indicate particular areas of opportunity.  It would certainly appear to be 
necessary within town centres, which commonly contain areas where redevelopment is 
desired alongside areas which are more stable and have high conservation value. 

 
6.17 Looking beyond residential and employment areas within cities and towns, issues arise about 

other types of development.  A range of questions and comments come to mind which would 
need to be resolved in further developing the proposals, including: 

 How would the sites of community facilities such as hospitals, clinics, doctor’s 
surgeries, community centres, leisure facilities, and local shopping centres (as against 
town centres) be dealt with? 

 What about infrastructure such as depots, pumping stations, gasholders? 

 Would they have to be individually delineated as renewal areas in their own right, or 
would they be washed over by the surrounding renewal areas, and dealt with as 
necessary by policy? 

 Would all villages where some redevelopment or infilling is deemed appropriate have 
to be delineated as renewal areas?  Some current plans do not define boundaries for 
smaller villages, but rely on criteria-based policies.  To have to delineate a large 

95



 

number of new boundaries could lead to a lot of representations about where lines 
should be drawn, which could add considerably to the scale of plan examinations 

 On the other hand, to put a village in open countryside in a protection area, but have 
policy which allowed for limited development, would send mixed messages and 
potentially cause confusion 

 
6.18 The White Paper (at paragraph 2.33) refers to pre-specified forms of development being 

subject to a new decision route which gives automatic consent if the scheme meets design 
and other prior approval requirements.  This takes no account of the fact the local plans will 
continue to need to contain policy or rules for matters which are not capable of being dealt 
with by national development management policies. 

 
6.19 Moreover, within established urban areas the determination of planning applications often 

requires the consideration of matters other than design principles, normally referred to as 
material considerations.  Some examples are the impact upon a conservation area or listed 
building, significant matters of amenity for neighbours such as over-shadowing, loss of 
community facilities, localised flooding issues, possible land contamination.  Such matters 
cannot be left to be dealt with as reserved matters, but need to be considered at the time of 
the decision on the principle of the development. 

 
6.20 Given the fact that relevant policies will still be required, and material considerations will still 

arise, they will still need to be taken into account in decision making, so the proposal appears 
to be unworkable. 

 
6.21 The point is made above that in dealing with biodiversity net gain, the LPA will need to see 

the developer’s proposals before the creation of outline planning permission, to be able to 
confirm that on site provision to achieve net gain is achievable.  The same issue will arise in 
relation to any mechanism intended to create a planning permission in a renewal area.  This 
needs to be resolved before any legislation is brought forward. 

 
 Protected areas 

6.22 The White Paper says that development proposals in protected areas would be assessed 
against policies in the NPPF.  But the NPPF identifies a wide range of matters which can only 
be addressed by the development of local policies to reflect the particular local 
circumstances.  Where such a plan policy was relevant to a particular proposal in a protected 
area, it would still need to be taken into account.  This would be particularly relevant in the 
case of a larger proposal in a protected area which offered benefits which could lead to the 
grant of approval. 

 
6.23 The areas to be treated as protected areas are described as areas where their particular 

environmental characteristics would justify more stringent controls.  Apart from designated 
areas, there is reference to areas of open countryside outside of growth or renewal areas.  
This needs to be explored further, because urban areas are often fringed by uses such as 
sports grounds, golf courses, and other activities which do not have the character of open 
countryside.  However, given the intention of the White Paper to give further emphasis to 
development being plan led, it would appear necessary to include such land within protected 
areas, on the basis that it is not identified for growth or renewal. 

 
6.24 An alternative would be to reserve protected area status for areas where there really is 

something which needs to be protected, and for plans to also be able to identify areas of land 
which is not assigned to either of the three categories in the White Paper.  In such areas 
there would be no presumption in favour of development, but neither would they be 
presented as being protected. 

 
6.25 Issues also arise about parks, playing fields, amenity greenspace, school grounds and other 

greenspace within towns.  Such areas are very important to community life and well-being, 

96



 

and will need to be retained.  However, they are not covered by any of the designations listed 
in the White Paper.  The implication is that they would be included within renewal areas, but 
in such areas there will be a presumption in favour of development.  This cannot be right, and 
would send the opposite message to what is intended.   

 
6.26 The implication the points made here is that it would not actually be possible or sensible to try 

to force every scrap of land into one of the three categories.  The logical solution would be to 
have an additional designation which does not carry a presumption either in favour of or 
against development, with some such areas being subject to appropriate policies specific to 
them. 

 
6.27 Finally in relation to Proposal 5, the White Paper suggests that Conservation Areas would be 

included as protected areas.  However, large parts of many town centres are covered by 
Conservation Areas, and these areas are considered suitable for minor development and 
redevelopment so could be considered suitable for a “renewal” area designation, so key 
growth areas would be protected areas, which would be confusing and misleading.  This 
needs further consideration. 

 
7 Proposal 6: Faster decision -making 

7.1 We welcome the intention and proposals to harness modern technology to speed the 
validation of applications, improve case management software, move to shorter and more 
standardised applications, improve planning registers, standardise planning decisions and 
some elements of developer contributions, improve planning notices, standardise technical 
supporting information and introduce national standard planning conditions.  Provided such 
changes are well-designed in liaison with prospective users, there is considerable scope to 
both speed and simplify processes, and make planning information more readily accessible 
to the full range of potential users.  Whilst speedier decisions and certainty is important, but 
most would agree that the most important thing is getting the right decision.  
  

7.2 In developing the ideas, it will be important to ensure that the full range of potential material 
planning considerations, reflected by but not restricted by the range of content of the NPPF, 
can continue to be addressed.  Where a proposal raises a valid material consideration, the 
form of the local plan or the consent process should not prevent it being given proper 
attention. 

 
7.3 There has been speculation that these proposals might be developed in such a way that they 

would enable artificial intelligence to read development proposals, assess whether they 
conform with plans, codes, and the NPPF, and determine the application.  It is considered 
that in the case of minor and straightforward applications there is substantial scope for 
artificial intelligence to carry out much of the appraisal process and point toward the likely 
decision.   

 
7.4 However, more complex applications commonly comply with some policies and conflict with 

others, and raise issues which are particular to the specific proposal, so that a balancing 
exercise is required to come to a judgement on the merits of the application.  It should be 
clearly recognised that artificial intelligence can assist in the processing of such applications, 
but not replace that exercise of judgement. 

 
7.5 The White Paper proposes the delegation of decisions to planning officers where the 

principle of development has been established.  The implication is that there will be a national 
scheme of delegation.  The effects of this could be that elected members and people averse 
to development, knowing they will have little say at the planning application stage, will 
scrutinise local plan proposals more extensively to try to ensure that any possible adverse 
implications are resolved in the local plan.  This will add time to plan preparation. 

 

97



 

7.6 Second, at application stage there is likely to be forensic examination of compliance with 
master plans and design codes, accompanied by representations to officers that proposals 
do not comply and should be refused. This in itself means that design codes, masterplans etc 
must all be adopted at the same time as the local plan to ensure that the detail is available to 
use to determine whether an application complies with it. Those will have to be worked 
through and properly responded to.  So it cannot be assumed that the work involved in 
dealing with applications, particularly where they are contentious, will necessarily be reduced. 

 
7.7  The possibility is mooted that where a planning authority does not determine an application 

within the time limit, the application fee should be automatically be refunded.  This assumes 
that all the information needed to determine the application will be provided at the time of 
application.  The reality is that in many cases the LPA has to request information which was 
not included, that the observations of consultees require further information or changes to the 
proposals, and that the LPA needs to negotiate changes to an application to make it good 
enough to be approved.  In all those matters much depends on how quickly the applicant 
responds.  LPAs should not be punished for the tardiness of applicants. 

 
7.8 The White Paper also proposes that where a decision is overturned at appeal, the application 

fee should be rebated.  However, often the reason for refusal is that the application has not 
provided information needed to be able to properly determine the application.  In such cases, 
applicants commonly provide the missing information to the Inspector, or proposes changes 
to resolve concerns by the LPA, which then allows the grant of approval.  It would be unfair 
where the failing was with the applicant, for the LPA to be penalised. 

 
7.9 As a final comment on this proposal, there is unfavourable comment in the introduction to the 

White Paper about notices on lamp posts.  Whilst supporting the intention to enable people a 
range of means of finding out about planning proposals, for many in the community the most 
reliable and straightforward way of becoming aware of an application will be to spot such a 
notice.  Then, with that awareness, they can be enabled to more readily access the details 
and comment upon them. 

 
8 Proposal 7: Visual, map-based, standardised plans 

8.1 The principle that plans should become much easier to read and use, and harness new and 
emerging technology to do so, is supported in principle.  What needs to be fully appreciated 
is that a considerable amount of development work will be required to produce workable 
systems which meet all the functions of local plans and their scope. 

 
8.2 That development activity would take place alongside the preparation of plans, and demand 

extensive input by the same planning staff whose role it is to prepare the plan.   This will 
require a specific programme of up-skilling planners to ensure the technology and skill base 
is available – otherwise it will become a very costly and time consuming approach follows 
that whilst in the longer term the innovations should help speed up plan preparation; in the 
shorter term the overall work involved in preparing plans would be significantly increased. 

 
8.3 It will also be important to ensure that the new models for plans will be accessible to all in the 

community, and not exclude people who do not have a computer or mobile phone, for 
instance.  Guidance will be required through templates or examples of how this might work or 
it might even be appropriate to consider the development of a national software to support 
us. This might help to achieve a common style and approach across the country for the 
benefit of communities and developers. 

 
9 Proposal 8: A statutory plan preparation timetable 

9.1 The ambition for shorter plans, which can be produced more quickly, is welcomed as a 
principle, as is the concept of focusing community engagement on the plan making stage, 
rather than when planning applications are made. 

 

98



 

 Community engagement 

9.2 However, the proposals for community engagement within the proposed statutory process 
will not enhance community engagement but drastically restrict it. 

 
9.3 The proposal seeks to increase engagement at the formulation stage of the local plan, and 

specifically in the first stage of calling for suggestions for sites and areas under the three 
categories.  That will enable people who have an interest, and representative bodies such as 
Parish councils, to make representations on things they would like to see in the plan.  In 
principle this is desirable. 

 
9.4 However, the great majority of the population and representative bodies such as parish 

councils will not be seeking to promote development.  Rather their interest in the plan will be 
to understand how it may affect them, and in particular how it may affect the area where they 
live.  So the appropriate time for them to get involved is when there are actual proposals by 
the LPA to respond to. 

 
9.5 Under the current plan making process the normal opportunity to see and comment on the 

emerging plan proposals is the draft plan stage.  People can examine the proposals of the 
draft plan, to consider whether they may affect them, whether favourably or in a manner 
which they feel will harm their interests.  They can submit their comments on the proposals, 
and have these considered by their elected members, who will decide whether to make 
changes to the plan before moving towards its submission.  This gives ordinary citizens a 
genuine opportunity to influence the plan, and elected members the occasion to consider the 
effect upon the people they represent. 

 
9.6 Under the White Paper proposals there would be no draft plan stage.  Rather, having 

formulated the plan the LPA would submit it for examination, and at the same time publicise it 
for people and organisations to comment.  Given that the period proposed from submission 
to the Inspector’s decision on the plan is only six months  that would give the LPA, as the 
democratic body charged with preparing the plan, no practical opportunity to consider the 
comments received, and decide whether it wished to make changes in the light of those 
comments. 

 
9.7 There would be no opportunity for elected members to represent the interests of their 

electors by considering comments they make on the plan to decide whether they can improve 
it before submission.  That function would be taken away from the LPA and passed to the 
Inspector, whose function would not be to consider the particular concerns of members of the 
public and communities, but to assess in a much more limited way whether the plan met the 
sustainability test.  Whilst they would have the right to have their comments considered by 
the Inspector, ordinary people would not have the expertise to argue their position at 
examination hearings. 

 
9.8 Thus, whereas the White Paper has a stated aim to improve the opportunity for people to 

genuinely influence the plans for their areas, the proposed process would actually 
substantially reduce the scope for them to do so.  Instead, the main opportunity to influence 
the content of plans would reside with landowners and developers, who would be able to use 
their resources to promote sites for inclusion in the plan; together with some interest groups, 
which would have the capacity to engage effectively in the examination. 

 
9.9 What must be considered likely is that without the opportunity to comment on a draft plan, 

people and groups will take up the only opportunity available to them, which would be to 
make representations on the plan and have them considered by the Inspector.  If large 
numbers of people did this that would greatly extend the work of the Inspector, because with 
no stage for the LPA to consider and respond to such representations, the Inspector would 
have the full responsibility for doing so.  This could impact significantly on the length of the 
examination process. 

99



 

 
9.10 Having had limited opportunity to influence the local plan, people who were unhappy about 

particular proposals would hope to have their concerns heard at planning application stage.  
However, the White Paper proposals taken together seek to shift decision making from the 
planning application stage to the plan making stage, and reduce the scope of what can be 
considered where planning applications are required.  So people seeking to engage at that 
stage would find that they had little real opportunity to influence proposals which gave them 
concern. 

 
 The timetable 

9.11 These observations have made several points about the amount of work which will be 
involved in preparing plans.  The White Paper says that proposals will be brought forward for 
how the evidence requirements for plans will be reduced.  This is certainly welcomed, and 
practitioners will look forward to seeing the Government’s proposals.  However, there is some 
justified scepticism, because as these observations have pointed out, most of the matters 
covered by current local plans are likely to still need to be addressed, either in making 
decisions about what land should be identified as growth areas, renewal areas or protection 
areas; or as necessary supporting policy tailored to the circumstances of the area. 

 
9.12 Moreover, where land is being considered for identification as growth areas, there will be 

substantial additional work to address all the considerations which need to be resolved 
before outline planning permission can be created.   There will also be considerable additional 
work in preparing masterplans and design codes. 

 
9.13 At the same time as dealing with these matters, LPAs will have to develop and adapt to the 

use of new and emerging technology, to change the way plans and evidence are presented 
and made accessible – desirable but with a resource and time cost. 

 
9.14 The view is therefore taken that unless the Government is able to come forward with radical 

proposals for the simplification of evidence requirements which will work and genuinely 
reduce the work involved, the reality may be that the new regime will involve as much or 
more work overall, not less. 

 
9.15 It is also likely that despite change to the tests of soundness, local plan examinations would 

actually take longer, because the Inspector would have to deal with representations on 
matters which under the present system, the LPA would deal with as comments on the draft 
plan. 

 
9.16 It follows that the timetable as set out is most unlikely to be achievable, however motivated 

the LPA.  It further follows that the government should not contemplate the introduction of a 
statutory duty to adopt a plan by a specified date or within a specific timescale, unless it has 
demonstrated conclusively the actual measures which will make this achievable. 

 
10 Proposal 9: Retention of neighbourhood plans 

10.1 The intention to encourage the preparation of more neighbourhood plans in smaller areas of 
towns is welcomed, but further guidance is likely to be required as to how this could be 
achieved. 

 
10.2 The White Paper says the Government will want to consider whether their content should 

become more focused to reflect the proposals for local plans.  This can be read as an 
intention to narrow their scope, which would act as a disincentive to prepare them. 

 
10.3 It is challenging to see how Neighbourhood Plans will fit in with this new style of Local Plan 

and it is recommended that the Government will need to provide detailed guidance on this 
matter.  There is potentially a greater role for NPs in developing local design codes and 

100



 

pattern books; however, as always this raises issues of skill set and the level of support 
required for groups. 

 
11 Proposal 10: Stronger emphasis on build out 

11.1 The intention to develop further options to support faster build out on large sites is welcomed, 
and we look forward to seeing proposed measures. Such proposals must however become 
an important part of the new process in recognition that build out rates are affected by 
external influences beyond the control of the Local Plan. 

 
11.2 The proposal needs to pay attention to the spatial and sequential elements in the physical 

development of sites, such as access, security, construction management issues and 
absorption rates which affects the completion rate on large sites. 

 
12 Proposal 11: Design guidance and codes 

12.1 The objective in the White Paper of improving the quality of development is welcomed.  As a 
general observation, since until recently securing good design did not figure strongly in the 
planning system, there is a shortage of skills and confidence to address design.  It must be 
anticipated that it will take some time for this situation to be rectified, so design codes and the 
like may not be able to come forward at the pace one would hope. This is particularly 
important as it is difficult to see how decision making can be undertaken without the design 
codes being in place at the outset of the area designations 

 
12.2 That point made, the proposals are generally supported. 
 
13 Proposal 12: A body to support the delivery of design codes 

13.1 The intended creation of a successor body of the Centre for the Built Environment is 
welcomed. 

 
13.2 The proposal that each LPA should have a chief officer for design and place-making would 

assist in the delivery of improved design in new development. 
 
14 Proposal 13: Homes England’s objectives 

14.1 This is supported, and we look forward to seeing the developed proposals. 
 
15 Proposal 14: A fast track for beauty 

15.1 The proposal that master plans should be prepared for substantial areas of development, 
which will include design coding is warmly welcomed.  These work best where they are 
prepared through collaboration between the LPA and the developer, in dialogue with the local 
community, so that their interests and concerns are addressed through the development 
process. 

 
15.2 The White Paper promotes the concept of pattern books for particular areas which will reflect 

the local character.  As a concept this is supported, because much of the dissatisfaction with 
new housing is that developers’ standard house types are used with no regard to the local 
vernacular or the forms and styles of housing in the area. 

 
15.3 However, the proposal for pre-approval of designs through permitted development misses 

the crucial point, that development within an existing urban area commonly raises material 
considerations other than appearance.  This is commented upon above in relation to 
Proposal 6.  Considerable care needs to be taken to ensure that proposals for permitted 
development do not remove the means for material considerations which relate to existing 
residents’ quality of life to be addressed.   

 
15.4 This will also require a programme of up-skilling planners as well as address capacity within 

LPAs. 

101



 

 
16 Proposal 15: The NPPF and climate change 

16.1 The intention to make tackling climate change a prominent factor in revisions to the NPPF to 
reflect the new system is welcomed. 

 
16.2 The need for such policies on climate  is welcomed.  It should also be recognised that there 

will be an ongoing need for local policy solutions which address other matters to reflect the 
particular circumstances of the area. However it is not clear how such measures can be 
effectively encompassed within the three designations proposed.  

 
17 Proposal 16: A simplified process for assessing environmental impacts 

17.1 It is agreed that the present regimes for considering environmental assessment are complex 
and time consuming, and a simpler system which remains effective is very much to be 
welcomed.  We shall await specific proposals and the opportunity to comment upon them. 

 
17.2 However, there is cause for concern at the proposal to abolish sustainability appraisal, so 

that the only appraisal regime will be environmental appraisal.  Whilst the environment is very 
important, it is a strength of sustainability appraisal that it also addresses economic and 
social impacts.  The issue arises whether the loss of such appraisal would be to the detriment 
of good planning.  Moreover, it is questioned how a local plan inspector can assess whether 
a plan represents sustainable development if there is no appraisal process to support this.  
The White Paper refers to the assessment being made against the policies of the NPPF, but 
the NPPF does not and cannot address every aspect of sustainability. 

 
18 Proposal 17: Conserving historic buildings 

18.1 The intention to review the planning framework for Conservation Areas and listed buildings is 
noted.  Further comment will be offered in response to the specific proposals. 

 
19 Proposal 18: Energy efficiency standards 

19.1 The intentions set out here are strongly supported.  Further comment will wait on sight of 
specific proposals. 

 
20 Proposal 19: A consolidated infrastructure levy 

20.1 The White Paper gives the impression that Section 106 agreements are used solely for 
securing infrastructure and can be abolished.  However, they are also used to secure other 
matters for which the use of planning conditions would not be suitable, and would therefore 
need to continue. 

 
20.2 The core proposal is for a mandatory nationally set rate or rates as a fixed proportion of the 

development value above a threshold. 
 
20.3 The text reads as through the same rate would be levied for all development across the 

country.  However, there are considerable differences in development viability between 
different uses, as demonstrated by CIL charging schedules where viability evidence has 
commonly led to substantial rates for retail and residential development, but low or zero rates 
for employment and other uses. 

 
20.4 Moreover, there are considerable differences in viability between different local authority 

areas.  These are not simply regional variations: there can be big differences in viability 
between near neighbours. 

 
20.5 It follows that to apply a single national rate across the country it would have to be set very 

low, to avoid rendering particular types of development wholly unviable, or making 
development generally unviable in some areas.  This would certainly not meet the stated 

102



 

objective of increasing the overall yield nationally from a consolidated CIL compared to that 
from the present system.   

 
20.6 A more differentiated system would clearly be necessary, which would need to have different 

rates for different types of development, and for different areas.  Assuming that viability 
evidence would still be required as part of plan making, the evidence would be available to 
support such an approach. 

 
20.7 The White Paper proposes that the levy would be payable at the point of occupation, rather 

than up-front, as is the case with CIL.  For larger developments this would mean that the 
revenue could come substantially later, which would have a significant impact upon the flow 
of funds for infrastructure in the shorter term.  However, there could also be benefit because 
the LA would share in increased values. 

 
20.8 There are also issues about how the collecting authority would know when a development or 

part of it (eg individual houses on an estate) would come into occupation.  Prevention of 
occupation would not be an effective sanction for non-payment if the development could 
already be occupied before that became known to the authority. 

 
20.9 The proposal that local authorities would be able to borrow against future revenue is 

welcomed, because under the present system an authority has to build up CIL funds over 
some years before there is sufficient to pay for or contribute to the cost of required 
infrastructure, leading to delays in its provision.   

 
21 Proposal 20: Extend the scope of the levy to change of use permitted development 

21.1 The principle of this proposal is supported. 
 
22 Proposal 21: Affordable housing should be delivered through the reformed levy 

22.1 The requirement for and the provision of affordable housing through developments is a 
complex process.  A key consideration here is that the Government should be able to 
demonstrate that the consolidated levy will generate the level of funds intended, ie more than 
currently brought in by CIL and S106 taken together.  Whilst the principle of delivering 
affordable housing through a reformed national levy would provide more certainty to 
developers and investors, there is a real concern that this will be at the expense of local 
considerations of the nature, distribution and timing of affordable housing on site. 
Consideration also needs to be given to how Registered Providers will be involved. 

 
22.2 The White Paper makes the point that affordable housing should continue to be delivered on-

site, and that this would be mandatory where the LPA wished to do so.  Whilst there is 
discussion of how this would be achieved, it will be crucial that the mechanism to require on-
site provision, funded as in-kind delivery of the levy, is effective, and does not create 
loopholes or recreate the need for case by case negotiation. 

 
23 Proposal 22: More freedom for LAs on how they spend the levy 

23.1 The purpose of the levy is to provide funding towards important infrastructure.  All authorities 
which currently operate the CIL are able to show that is an infrastructure funding deficit to 
which to which CIL will contribute.  It is considered essential that use of levy funds is 
restricted to the purpose for which they are raised, and not made available as a general 
funding stream.  The administration and management of a national levy will still create a 
burden on LPAs which will need to be funded by that levy.  

 
24 Proposal 23: Resources and skills strategy 

24.1 The Government should be in no doubt that the proposals in the White Paper will create 
considerable additional work and cost for LPAs in developing masterplans, design codes, 
new data formats for plans and extensive changes to development management systems 

103



 

and practices.  Nor, for the reasons set out in these observations, will the work of preparing 
plans be significantly reduced. 

 
24.2 This means that increased resources for planning services will be essential, especially in the 

short term while innovations are being implemented. The ability and availability of digital 
solutions to mapping and consultation which will be fundamental to delivering the proposal to 
time The proposals for a proportion of the consolidated national levy to be directed towards 
plan-making, together with time limited funding will therefore be essential if those innovations 
are to be effectively delivered. 

 
24.3 Similarly, the need to develop new skills among practitioners should not be under-estimated.  

Without adequate funding, LPAs will not be able to enhance the capabilities of their staff to 
make the achievement of good design and beauty a reality and to ensure that new digital 
mapping and consultation techniques can be effectively incorporated across the coutnry. It is 
important to note too that there will be a time lag for those currently training and newly 
qualified planners to begin to learn the new system which is of course not yet being taught in 
our planning schools. 

 
25 Proposal 24: Strengthened enforcement powers 

25.1 The principle here must be right.  We shall be pleased to work with Government as it 
develops its proposals. 

 

104



 

 

105



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Robert Reid 

  Cabinet Member for Housing and 
Planning 

           

 

Award of contract to Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Ltd 

Award of contract for the annual sheltered housing telecare maintenance and digitalisation of the 
telecare equipment. The contract period will be for five years. 

 

 

Report Author 

Celia Bown, Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer 

Tel:  01476 406063 

Email:  c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Competitiveness Key Two or more Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Helen Clarke, Head of Housing 10 September 2020 

Approved by: Chris Stratford, Interim Assistant Director of Housing 24 September 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

29 September 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

Cabinet is asked to: 

1. Approve the award of the digitalisation and maintenance contracts to Tunstall 
Healthcare (UK) Ltd for a contract period of five years through a direct award from 
the Procurement for Housing framework.  

2. The total contract values in respect of the digitalisation and maintenance contracts 
is £500,000 and £780,000 respectively, totalling £1,280,000 over the five year period. 

107

Agenda Item 7

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 Tunstall equipment is currently installed in the Sheltered Housing Schemes and connected 

to the alarm monitoring service provided by Lincare (City of Lincoln Council Alarm 

Monitoring Centre).  This is a BT analogue phone system and 2025 is the end date by which 

BT expects to have changed all UK phone lines from analogue signalling to  “IP Voice” which 

is an IP/digital connection.  To ensure the Council delivers the alarm monitoring service, the 

infrastructure of the Tunstall equipment requires upgrading to meet the BT digitalisation 

programme.  In addition, the Tunstall fire detection requires renewing in the same period as 

the life span of the equipment ends. 

1.2 The capital cost of upgrading the equipment in preparation of digitalisation will be £125K 

per annum, over a 4-year period (£500,000) in total.  The budget is included in the Housing 

Revenue Account capital programme. 

1.3 The annual alarm maintenance and monitoring service is also due for contract renewal.  

This will cost £103K for the alarm monitoring including BT and £53K for the alarm 

maintenance for the year.  The payment of this is already budgeted for on an annual basis. 

1.4 It has been confirmed by Welland Procurement that a direct award through the Procurement 

for Housing (PfH), Telecare and Telehealth Services Framework can be made and the sole 

supplier of PfH Telecare Framework Lot 3 is Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Ltd. 

1.5 The HRA Capital allocation was approved with an anticipated project start date of April 2020 

and completion by March 2024.  It is essential for approval to be given prior to 2021, to 

ensure the Tunstall equipment already installed within the sheltered housing schemes, is 

updated over the next four years, in preparation for the commencement of digitalisation in 

2025. 

1.6 A contract for the annual alarm maintenance and monitoring needs to be put into place as 

well and for this reason, the proposal for which approval is being sought is that they are 

combined for a five year period. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Not applicable.  

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 As we already have Tunstall infrastructure and equipment installed, it is possible to make a 

direct award rather than considering other options, which would delay critical replacement 

and support to the telecommunications infrastructure and add additional costs. The PfH 

framework proposed has already completed due diligence and quality checks on Tunstall 

as the preferred manufacturer and provider of the equipment.  Tunstall is the specialist and 

are top ranked in their field on the framework so direct call off is recommended. 

3.2 Within the installation element there will also be less down time for the warden call system 

as Tunstall is the incumbent. The Tunstall systems are backward compatible and thus the 

obsolete system will continue to work whilst the upgrade in underway. 

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 To directly award the contract to Tunstall. This is an excellent opportunity to merge the three 

services of upgrades, maintenance and alarm monitoring of the warden call system together 

and which will provide a reliable and high-quality consistent service for our residents. 

108



 

 
 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 The annual alarm maintenance and monitoring service is due for contract renewal and the 

telecare equipment needs to be upgraded in preparation of digitalisation in 2025. It is critical 

that the necessary infrastructure and maintenance support is secured to ensure efficient 

and effective alarm response services are provided to our sheltered housing schemes. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Agree a detailed workplan with Tunstall telecom and BT to achieve the introduction of digital 

technology and appropriate maintenance support. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 This scheme was approved by Council on 1 March 2020 and is included in the HRA capital 

programme for the period 2020/21 to 2022/23. The proposed contract extends beyond this 

period and so the capital programme being developed for the period 2021/22 – 2023/24 will 

include further funding to meet the contract period. The HRA revenue budget includes 

£132k provision for the cost of alarm monitoring and the maintenance service. It is 

anticipated that the budget shortfall of £24k will be met from a review of service charges.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 A direct award to Tunstall via the PfH Telecare and Telehealth Services Framework is in 

accordance with the Council’s Contract and Procurement Procedure Rules and the Public 

Contract Regulations 2015. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shelley Hardy, Legal Services 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 The award of contract to ensure a seamless transition from analogue to digitalisation will 

mean that residents of the sheltered housing schemes (which are occupied by people who 

are elderly and/or disabled), will continue to be safeguarded through the telecare system. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 If the equipment is not maintained and upgraded, the safety and wellbeing of the residents 

of the sheltered housing schemes will be at risk.  This will be mitigated through maintenance 

and upgrade. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None known 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Carbon neutral – no implications known. 

13 Appendices 

13.1 Appendix 1 – Tunstall contract award notice 

13.2 Appendix 2 – Tunstall Safeguarding Policy 2020 

13.3 Appendix 3 – Tunstall Equality Policy Statement 

109



 

 
 

13.4 Appendix 4 – Tunstall Terms and Conditions for Goods and Services 

13.5 Appendix 5 – Tunstall Business Continuity overview 

 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

7 August 2020 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable 

Final Decision date   13 October 2020 

 

110



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 1 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

1 / 10

This notice in TED website: https://ted.europa.eu/udl?uri=TED:NOTICE:209333-2019:TEXT:EN:HTML

United Kingdom-Birchwood: Health and social work services
2019/S 087-209333

Contract award notice

Results of the procurement procedure

Services

Legal Basis:
Directive 2014/24/EU
Section I: Contracting authority
I.1) Name and addresses

Official name: Procurement for Housing
Postal address: 2 Olympic Way, Woolston Grange Avenue
Town: Birchwood, Warrington
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: WA2 0YL
Country: United Kingdom
E-mail: mhough@pfh.co.uk 
Telephone:  +44 8458645100
Fax:  +44 8458645115
Internet address(es):
Main address: http://www.procurementforhousing.co.uk
Address of the buyer profile: https://www.mytenders.co.uk/search/Search_AuthProfile.aspx?ID=AA26067

I.2) Information about joint procurement
The contract is awarded by a central purchasing body

I.4) Type of the contracting authority
Body governed by public law

I.5) Main activity
General public services

Section II: Object
II.1) Scope of the procurement

II.1.1) Title:
Telecare and Telehealth Services

II.1.2) Main CPV code
85000000

II.1.3) Type of contract
Services

II.1.4) Short description:

111

Appendix 1

mailto:mhough@pfh.co.uk
http://www.procurementforhousing.co.uk
https://www.mytenders.co.uk/search/Search_AuthProfile.aspx?ID=AA26067


OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 2 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

2 / 10

Established in 2004, Procurement for Housing (PfH) is a national procurement consortium dedicated to the
social housing sector and supported by the National Housing Federation (NHF), Chartered Institute of Housing
(CIH) and HouseMark.
PfH wishes to establish a Framework Agreement for Telecare and Telehealth Products and Associated Services
across 3 lots:
Lot 1: Equipment and Associated Services;
Lot 2: Monitoring Services;
Lot 3: Managed Services.

II.1.6) Information about lots
This contract is divided into lots: yes

II.1.7) Total value of the procurement (excluding VAT)
Value excluding VAT: 90 000 000.00 GBP

II.2) Description

II.2.1) Title:
Equipment and Associated Services
Lot No: 1

II.2.2) Additional CPV code(s)
35113000
71317200
71317210
80330000
80550000
45233292
35121700
50000000
50116100
35120000
35121000
32500000
45314000

II.2.3) Place of performance
NUTS code: UK

II.2.4) Description of the procurement:
Telecare and Telehealth products support individuals or groups of individuals in their independent living.
Equipment and services may be delivered to individuals living in their own homes, or through community/
grouped living schemes such as sheltered housing or Extra Care.
Lot 1 of the framework will provide equipment and associated services including supply of equipment, delivery,
installation, servicing, maintenance and repair.
The following minimum requirements of this lot include but are not limited to:
— national geographical coverage to supply, install, upgrade, repair and maintain products and/or services and/
or works to a potential 900 plus PfH members (including those with multiple sites) in England, Wales, Scotland,
and Northern Ireland,
— being able to provide a comprehensive range of Telecare and Telehealth products and services as set out in
the tender documentation.

112



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 3 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

3 / 10

Contract periods may vary from an expected minimum 12 months to an expected maximum of 4 years and/or
will be project based. However, PfH members will be free to select the most appropriate contract period for their
needs which may vary from these expected periods.
It is the intention of PfH to award to a maximum of 5 (five) suppliers on this lot, although PfH reserve the right
but not the obligation to alter this number depending on the tenders submitted.

II.2.5) Award criteria
Quality criterion - Name: Quality / Weighting: 50
Price - Weighting: 50

II.2.11) Information about options
Options: no

II.2.13) Information about European Union funds
The procurement is related to a project and/or programme financed by European Union funds: no

II.2.14) Additional information

II.2) Description

II.2.1) Title:
Monitoring Services
Lot No: 2

II.2.2) Additional CPV code(s)
79711000
35121700
98000000
79511000
79512000

II.2.3) Place of performance
NUTS code: UK

II.2.4) Description of the procurement:
Telecare and Telehealth products support individuals or groups of individuals in their independent living.
Lot 2 covers the monitoring of calls from a range of sensors/devices including but not limited to dispersed
alarms, telecare and telehealth devices, door entry/access control systems, lifts and communal areas, intruder
alarms and hardwired community/grouped living schemes.
Call monitoring services for Telecare and Telehealth may be required 24/7/365 or on an out-of-hours basis only,
depending on PfH Member specific requirements.
Equipment and services may be delivered to individuals living in their own homes, or through community/
grouped living schemes such as sheltered housing or Extra Care.
The following minimum requirements of this Lot include but are not limited to:
— national geographical coverage to supply services to a potential 900 plus PfH members (including those with
multiple sites) in England, Wales, Scotland, and Northern Ireland,
— being able to provide call monitoring and associated services as set out in the tender documentation.
Contract periods may vary from an expected minimum 12 months to an expected maximum of 4 years and/or
will be project based. However, PfH members will be free to select the most appropriate contract period for their
needs which may vary from these expected periods.
It is the intention of PfH to award to a maximum of 5 (five) suppliers on this lot, although PfH reserve the right
but not the obligation to alter this number depending on the tenders submitted.

113



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 4 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

4 / 10

II.2.5) Award criteria
Quality criterion - Name: Quality / Weighting: 60
Price - Weighting: 40

II.2.11) Information about options
Options: no

II.2.13) Information about European Union funds
The procurement is related to a project and/or programme financed by European Union funds: no

II.2.14) Additional information

II.2) Description

II.2.1) Title:
Managed Services
Lot No: 3

II.2.2) Additional CPV code(s)
35113000
71317200
71317210
80330000
80550000
45233292
35121700
50000000
50116100
35120000
35121000
79711000
98000000
72220000
72221000
72224000
72224100
72227000
72228000
72246000
79400000
79417000
79420000
79511000
79512000
45314000
32500000

II.2.3) Place of performance
NUTS code: UK

II.2.4) Description of the procurement:

114



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 5 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

5 / 10

Telecare and Telehealth products and services support individuals or groups of individuals in their independent
living.
Lot 3 offers managed services for the design, implementation, benefits realisation and continuous improvement
of products and services (in Lots 1 and 2 inclusive) and associated products and services.
A managed service must have as its core objective the provision of products and services relating to telecare,
telehealth or tele-coaching.
Any products and services required to deliver the managed service should — in the main — be drawn from
the products and services within Lots 1 and 2 (subject to periodic review of those products and services) with
the addition of wraparound services and third-party products to supplement a fully managed service to meet
member needs.
Equipment and services may be delivered to individuals living in their own homes, or through community/
grouped living schemes such as sheltered housing or Extra Care.
The following minimum requirements of this lot include but are not limited to:
— national geographical coverage to supply equipment and services to a potential 900 plus PfH members
(including those with multiple sites) in England, Wales, Scotland, and Northern Ireland,
— being able to provide Telecare Managed Services as set out in the tender documentation.
Contract periods may vary from an expected minimum 12 months to an expected maximum of 4 years and/or
will be project based. However, PfH members will be free to select the most appropriate contract period for their
needs which may vary from these expected periods.
It is the intention of PfH to award to a maximum of 3 (three) suppliers on this lot, although PfH reserve the right
but not the obligation to alter this number depending on the tenders submitted.

II.2.5) Award criteria
Quality criterion - Name: Quality / Weighting: 70
Price - Weighting: 30

II.2.11) Information about options
Options: no

II.2.13) Information about European Union funds
The procurement is related to a project and/or programme financed by European Union funds: no

II.2.14) Additional information

Section IV: Procedure
IV.1) Description

IV.1.1) Type of procedure
Open procedure

IV.1.3) Information about a framework agreement or a dynamic purchasing system
The procurement involves the establishment of a framework agreement

IV.1.6) Information about electronic auction

IV.1.8) Information about the Government Procurement Agreement (GPA)
The procurement is covered by the Government Procurement Agreement: yes

IV.2) Administrative information

IV.2.1) Previous publication concerning this procedure
Notice number in the OJ S: 2019/S 030-067296

IV.2.8) Information about termination of dynamic purchasing system

IV.2.9) Information about termination of call for competition in the form of a prior information notice

115

https://ted.europa.eu/udl?uri=TED:NOTICE:67296-2019:TEXT:EN:HTML


OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 6 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

6 / 10

Section V: Award of contract
Lot No: 1

Title:
Equipment and Associated Services

A contract/lot is awarded: yes

V.2) Award of contract

V.2.1) Date of conclusion of the contract:
30/04/2019

V.2.2) Information about tenders
Number of tenders received: 7
Number of tenders received from SMEs: 4
Number of tenders received from tenderers from other EU Member States: 2
Number of tenders received from tenderers from non-EU Member States: 0
Number of tenders received by electronic means: 7
The contract has been awarded to a group of economic operators: yes

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Tynetec
Postal address: Unit 10 Cowley Road, Blyth Riverside Park
Town: Blyth
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: NE24 5TF
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1670-352371
The contractor is an SME: no

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Ltd
Postal address: Whitley Lodge, Whitley Bridge, Yorkshire
Town: Whitley Bridge
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: DN14 0HR
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1977660370
The contractor is an SME: no

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: CarelineUK trading as Appello
Postal address: Oregon House, 19 Queensway
Town: New Milton
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: BH25 5NN
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1425626300
The contractor is an SME: yes

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Welbeing

116



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 7 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

7 / 10

Postal address: 3-4 Technology Business Park
Town: Eastbourne
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: BN22 8LD
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1323644422
The contractor is an SME: yes

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Close Circuit Security Services Ltd
Postal address: Stuart House, Valepits Road
Town: Birmingham
NUTS code: UKG
Postal code: B33 0TD
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1216044499
Fax:  +44 1216244999
The contractor is an SME: yes

V.2.4) Information on value of the contract/lot (excluding VAT)
Initial estimated total value of the contract/lot: 30 000 000.00 GBP
Total value of the contract/lot: 30 000 000.00 GBP

V.2.5) Information about subcontracting

Section V: Award of contract
Lot No: 2

Title:
Monitoring Services

A contract/lot is awarded: yes

V.2) Award of contract

V.2.1) Date of conclusion of the contract:
30/04/2019

V.2.2) Information about tenders
Number of tenders received: 6
Number of tenders received from SMEs: 3
Number of tenders received from tenderers from other EU Member States: 1
Number of tenders received from tenderers from non-EU Member States: 0
Number of tenders received by electronic means: 6
The contract has been awarded to a group of economic operators: yes

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Ltd
Postal address: Whitley Lodge, Whitley Bridge, Yorkshire
Town: Whitley Bridge
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: DN14 0HR
Country: United Kingdom

117



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 8 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

8 / 10

Telephone:  +44 1977660370
The contractor is an SME: no

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Progress Housing Group
Postal address: Sumner House, 21 King Street
Town: Leyland
NUTS code: UKD4
Postal code: PR25 2LW
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1772450642
The contractor is an SME: no

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: CarelineUK trading as Appello
Postal address: Oregon House, 19 Queensway
Town: New Milton
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: BH25 5NN
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1425626300
The contractor is an SME: yes

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Centra Care and Support
Postal address: Level 6, 6 More London Place
Town: London
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: SE1 2DA
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 3003336511
The contractor is an SME: no

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Welbeing
Postal address: 3-4 Technology Business Park
Town: Eastbourne
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: BN22 8LD
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1323644422
The contractor is an SME: yes

V.2.4) Information on value of the contract/lot (excluding VAT)
Initial estimated total value of the contract/lot: 30 000 000.00 GBP
Total value of the contract/lot: 30 000 000.00 GBP

V.2.5) Information about subcontracting

Section V: Award of contract
Lot No: 3

118



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 9 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

9 / 10

Title:
Managed Services

A contract/lot is awarded: yes

V.2) Award of contract

V.2.1) Date of conclusion of the contract:
30/04/2019

V.2.2) Information about tenders
Number of tenders received: 2
Number of tenders received from SMEs: 1
Number of tenders received from tenderers from other EU Member States: 1
Number of tenders received from tenderers from non-EU Member States: 0
Number of tenders received by electronic means: 2
The contract has been awarded to a group of economic operators: no

V.2.3) Name and address of the contractor
Official name: Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Ltd
Postal address: Whitley Lodge, Whitley Bridge, Yorkshire
Town: Whitley Bridge
NUTS code: UK
Postal code: DN14 0HR
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 1977660370
The contractor is an SME: no

V.2.4) Information on value of the contract/lot (excluding VAT)
Initial estimated total value of the contract/lot: 30 000 000.00 GBP
Total value of the contract/lot: 30 000 000.00 GBP

V.2.5) Information about subcontracting

Section VI: Complementary information
VI.3) Additional information:

This Framework may be used by any contracting authority listed in or referred to in the OJEU Notice. This
includes:
— all current members of PfH at the time of the OJEU notice for this procurement,
— any registered provider of social housing (or Welsh registered social landlord, or Scottish registered social
registered social landlord) that becomes a member of PfH during the period of the Framework Agreement,
— any public authority (as defined in the Freedom of Information Act 2000 for public authorities in England,
Wales, Northern Ireland and UK-wide public authorities based in Scotland, or as defined in the Freedom of
Information (Scotland) Act 2002 for Scottish public authorities) that becomes a member of PfH at any time
during the period of the Framework Agreement,
— any local authority (as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 for public authorities in England and Wales
or as defined in the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 for Scottish local authorities or as defined in the
Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 1972 for local authorities in Northern Ireland) that becomes a member
of PfH at any time during the period of the Framework Agreement,
— any housing Arm's Length Management Organisation (ALMO) that becomes a member of PfH during the
period of the Framework Agreement,
— any wholly owned subsidiaries of any of the above organisations, and

119



OJ/S S87
06/05/2019
209333-2019-EN

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure 10 / 10

06/05/2019 S87
https://ted.europa.eu/
TED

Services - Contract award notice - Open procedure
Supplement to the Official Journal of the European Union

10 / 10

— any other Contracting Authority listed on the following page of the PfH website: http://
procurementforhousing.co.uk/permissible-users/ at the time of the OJEU notice for this procurement.
Note: To register your interest in this notice and obtain any additional information, please visit the myTenders
website at https://www.mytenders.co.uk
Note: To register your interest in this notice and obtain any additional information please visit the myTenders
website at https://www.mytenders.co.uk/Search/Search_Switch.aspx?ID=213001
The buyer has indicated that it will accept electronic responses to this notice via the Postbox facility. A user
guide is available at https://www.mytenders.co.uk/sitehelp/help_guides.aspx
Suppliers are advised to allow adequate time for uploading documents and to dispatch the electronic response
well in advance of the closing time to avoid any last minute problems.
Note: To register your interest in this notice and obtain any additional information please visit the myTenders
website at https://www.mytenders.co.uk/Search/Search_Switch.aspx?ID=213887
The buyer has indicated that it will accept electronic responses to this notice via the Postbox facility. A user
guide is available at https://www.mytenders.co.uk/sitehelp/help_guides.aspx
Suppliers are advised to allow adequate time for uploading documents and to dispatch the electronic response
well in advance of the closing time to avoid any last minute problems.
(MT Ref:215784)

VI.4) Procedures for review

VI.4.1) Review body
Official name: Procurement for Housing
Postal address: 2 Olympic Way, Woolston Grange Avenue
Town: Birchwood, Warrington
Postal code: WA2 0YL
Country: United Kingdom
Telephone:  +44 8458645100
Fax:  +44 8458645115
Internet address: http://www.procurementforhousing.co.uk

VI.4.2) Body responsible for mediation procedures

VI.4.3) Review procedure

VI.4.4) Service from which information about the review procedure may be obtained

VI.5) Date of dispatch of this notice:
02/05/2019

120

http://procurementforhousing.co.uk/permissible-users/
http://procurementforhousing.co.uk/permissible-users/
https://www.mytenders.co.uk
https://www.mytenders.co.uk/Search/Search_Switch.aspx?ID=213001
https://www.mytenders.co.uk/sitehelp/help_guides.aspx
https://www.mytenders.co.uk/Search/Search_Switch.aspx?ID=213887
https://www.mytenders.co.uk/sitehelp/help_guides.aspx
http://www.procurementforhousing.co.uk


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 1 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Safeguarding Policy for Adults at Risk and Children 

Contents 

Section: Page Number 

  1. Introduction 2 

  2. Scope and Purpose of the Policy 2 

  3. Safeguarding Adults at Risk of Abuse or Neglect 3 

  4. Safeguarding Children and Child Abuse 4 

  5. Consent and Confidentiality   6 

  6. Adults Lacking Capacity 6 

  7. Sharing Confidential Information  7 

  8. Safeguarding Enquiries, Investigations and Multi-Agency Meetings 7 

  9. Recruitment, Selection and Training  7 

10. Whistle-Blowing 8 

11. Safeguarding Allegations Against Staff  8 

12. Complaints 9 

13. Approval and Review of this Policy 9 

14. Dissemination 9 

15. Underpinning Legislation and Guidance 9 

APPENDICES:  

Appendix A - Safeguarding Reporting Process Flowchart 13 

Appendix B – Safeguarding Concern Form 14 

Appendix C – Area Contact Details 19 

  

121

Appendix 2



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 2 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

1. Introduction 

Safeguarding is about protecting children, young people and adults at risk from significant and serious harm 

and keeping them safe.  It involves identifying adults at risk and children who have suffered harm, or who may 

be at risk of harm and working with them and other agencies in order to protect them from avoidable harms.  

Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Ltd [hereafter referred to as Tunstall] is committed to safeguarding the welfare of 

children, young people and adults at risk and recognises everyone’s right to live in safety, free from abuse and 

neglect.  

This policy outlines the duties and responsibilities of employees and contractors working on behalf of Tunstall 

in relation to the protection of children, young people and adults at risk of abuse or neglect.  

2. Scope and Purpose of the Policy 

This policy applies to all employees and contractors working on behalf Tunstall.  It applies to the provision of 

services and support to customers in their own homes.  

Policy Statement  

Safeguarding is Everyone’s business – Tunstall is committed to safeguarding and promoting the welfare of 

children, young people and adults at risk. It expects all staff and contractors to share this commitment. 

This policy and supporting procedures are there to safeguard and protect adults at risks who are subject to, or 

at risk of abuse, who are aged 18 years or over and who may already be in receipt or in need of community 

care services by reason of mental or other disabilities, age or illness, and who may be unable to take care of 

themselves or unable to safeguard themselves against significant harm or exploitation. 

Tunstall also recognises its responsibility for safeguarding children and other adult family members of 

vulnerable customers whilst providing help and support.   

Tunstall staff and contractors will promote a safe environment for children, young people and adults at risk to 

live full and happy lives within their communities.  

The organisation will collectively manage risks and reduce the likelihood of abuse by: 

• the provision of up to date safeguarding policies and procedures that reflect current safeguarding 

legislation and guidance 

• operating in line with Local Authority multi-agency safeguarding policies and procedures  

• having robust safer recruitment and selection procedures  

• promoting and using safer working practices  

• the provision of induction and ongoing training  

• developing and maintaining a culture of vigilance and managing risk   

Tunstall staff have a responsibility to ensure they understand their responsibilities, knowing what to do if they 

have a concern that a child, young person or adult is at risk of being abused or neglected in line with this 

policy, local multi-agency procedures and with national guidance and legislation, including the Care Act 2014 

and Mental Capacity Act 2005.  

122



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 3 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

3. Safeguarding Adults at Risk of Abuse or Neglect 

The term ‘Adults at Risk of Abuse or Neglect’ was introduced in the Care Act 2014 replacing the previous term 

‘vulnerable adult’ which originated from the former adult protection guidance ‘No Secrets- DoH 2000’. For the 

purpose of this policy and associated procedures both terms are interchangeable and mean the same, with 

both being used by a host of different agencies.  

All adults have the right to live a life free from abuse and neglect. Abuse is a violation of an individual’s human 

and civil rights by any other person or persons.  

Adult safeguarding is the process of protecting adults with ‘care and support needs’ from abuse or neglect. It is 

an important part of what many public services do, and a key responsibility of local authorities (Care Act 2014). 

The aims of adult safeguarding are to: 

• stop abuse or neglect wherever possible; 

• prevent harm and reduce the risk of abuse or neglect to adults with care and support needs; 

• safeguard adults in a way that supports them in making choices and having control about how they 

want to live; 

• promote an approach that concentrates on improving life for the adults concerned; 

• raise public awareness so that communities as a whole, alongside professionals, play their part in 

preventing, identifying and responding to abuse and neglect; 

• provide information and support in accessible ways to help people understand the 

• different types of abuse, how to stay safe and what to do to raise a concern about the safety or well-

being of an adult; and 

• address what has caused the abuse or neglect 

Duty to Safeguard Adults at Risk 

Safeguarding is mainly aimed at people with care and support needs who may be in vulnerable circumstances 

and at risk of abuse or neglect by others. In these cases, local services must work together to spot those at risk 

and take steps to protect them. 

The safeguarding duties apply to an adult who: 

• has care and support needs (whether or not the local authority is meeting any of those needs) and; 

• is experiencing, or at risk of, abuse or neglect; and 

• as a result of those care and support needs is unable to protect themselves from either the risk of, or 

the experience of abuse or neglect. 

‘Care and Support Needs’ 

The threshold for eligible care and support needs is based on identifying how a person’s needs affect their 

ability to achieve relevant outcomes, and how this impacts on their wellbeing.  

If an adult has a physical or mental impairment or illness and they are unable to achieve at least two of the 

below wellbeing outcomes, and as a consequence of being unable to achieve one of the outcomes there is, or 

is likely to be a significant impact on the adult’s wellbeing then they are eligible for care and support by the 

local authority.  

123



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 4 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Wellbeing areas: 

• personal dignity (including treatment of the individual with respect) 

• physical and mental health and emotional wellbeing 

• protection from abuse and neglect 

• control by the individual over day-to-day life (including over care and support provided and the way it 

is provided)  

• participation in work, education, training or recreation  

• social and economic wellbeing  

• domestic, family and personal relationships  

• suitability of living accommodation  

• the individual’s contribution to society 

In response to the Care and Support Statutory Guidance (issued under the Care Act 2014) we will benchmark 

our safeguarding arrangements against the following six Safeguarding Principles, which are:  

• Empowerment - Presumption of person led decisions and informed consent.  

• Protection - Support and representation for those in greatest need.  

• Prevention - It is better to take action before harm occurs.  

• Proportionality – Proportionate and least intrusive response appropriate to the risk presented.  

• Partnership - Local solutions through services working with their communities. Communities have a 

part to play in preventing, detecting and reporting neglect and abuse.  

• Accountability - Accountability and transparency in delivering safeguarding. 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance   

The six safeguarding principles noted above highlight the concept of promoting the individual’s wellbeing and 

ensuring that Safeguarding Adults is a person-centred and outcome-focused approach. The Care Act advocates 

that all partners make safeguarding a personalised experience, aiming to achieve the outcomes identified by 

the adult at risk of harm and abuse.  

Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) aims to ensure that adults involved in safeguarding investigations and 

decisions, are fully engaged and consulted throughout the procedure and that their wishes and desires are 

central to the final outcome as far as is possible.  

Tunstall is committed to delivering the six key principles and MSP wherever possible. Staff when exploring 

safeguarding adult issues with clients will wherever possible: - 

• Have conversations with people about how best to respond in safeguarding situations. This will be 

done in a way that enhances their involvement, choice and control as well as improving their quality 

of life, wellbeing and safety.  

• See the adult at risk as experts in their own lives and work alongside them recognising that the pace 

and locations of conversations must be guided by the individual’s needs and circumstances. 

• Consider and explore if the adult requires advocacy to help support them through any discussions 

about safeguarding issues.  

4. Safeguarding Children and Child Abuse  

Tunstall recognises its responsibilities for safeguarding children and young people of vulnerable clients whilst 

providing help and support.  

124

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 5 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

The terms child and young person are interchangeable and refer to children who have not yet reached their 

18th birthday. The term ‘children’ and ‘child’ is used mainly in this document for ease of reading.   

Definition  

In ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’ safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is 

defined as: 

• protecting children from maltreatment; 

• preventing impairment of children's health or development 

• ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of safe and effective 

care; and 

• taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes  

Safeguarding is the process of protecting children from abuse or neglect, preventing impairment of their 

health and development, and ensuring they are growing up in circumstances consistent with the provision of 

safe and effective care that enables children to have optimum life chances and enter adulthood successfully. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2  

Definition of ‘Significant Harm’ 

The Children Act 1989 introduced the concept of ‘significant harm’ as the threshold which justifies compulsory 

intervention in family life in the best interests of children. 

‘Significant Harm’ 

There are no absolute criteria upon which to rely when judging what constitutes significant harm; sometimes a 

single traumatic event may constitute significant harm. More often, however, significant harm is a compilation 

of significant events, both acute and long- standing, which interrupt, change or damage a child’s physical and 

psychological development. 

Within the Children Act 1989, the following guidance is offered: 

Significance is not defined within the Children Act although it is to be ‘measured’ in terms of: 

• A child’s health and development; and  

• That which could reasonably be expected of a similar child 

• ‘Harm’ means ill treatment or the impairment of health or development 

• ‘Development’ means physical, intellectual, social, emotional or behavioural development 

• ‘Health’ means physical or mental health 

• ‘Ill treatment’ includes sexual abuse and forms of treatment that are not physical, including for 

example, impairment suffered from seeing or hearing the ill treatment of another. 

Tunstall recognises that some clients may share information about their own family (including children) 

dynamics, stresses and triggers.  We will promote effective and early identification of safeguarding concerns in 

respect of children. 

  

125

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 6 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

5. Consent and Confidentiality 

It is a fundamental principle of English law that adults have the right to make decisions on their own behalf, 

and are assumed to have the capacity to do so. This is known as the ‘presumption of capacity’ and extends to 

decisions that may entail personal risks and that may not be in accordance with an objective view of their best 

interests.  

Tunstall is committed to helping customers who need support and guidance in very difficult situations.  Staff 

will usually obtain the consent of a client before sharing any information with family and friends or with 

trained professionals in order to facilitate further help and support.  

Confidentiality is an important part of Tunstall’s ethos. However, there are certain situations where 

interventions are needed to protect clients and other vulnerable groups and consent is not needed.  i.e. public 

interest of safeguarding children and adults at risk or to prevent an adult at risk from being drawn into violent 

extremism or terrorism.  

Public Interest 

There are occasions when staff will need to raise a safeguarding concern without the person’s consent, 

because: 

• It is in the public interest, for example there is a risk to other people, or the concern is about 

organisational or systemic abuse 

• The person lacks mental capacity to consent and a decision is made to raise a safeguarding concern in 

the person’s ‘best interests’ (Mental Capacity Act 2005)  

• A person is subject to coercion or undue influence, to the extent that they are unable to give consent 

and it is in their best interests 

• A person is exposed to life threatening risk and they appear to be unreasonably withholding their 

consent 

• Where it is essential to share information in order to prevent a crime or to protect others from harm 

(e.g. ‘Hate Crime’ – there is a statutory responsibility to report this).  This is supported by the Crime 

and Disorder Act 1998. 

6. Adults Lacking Capacity  

Adults lacking capacity to make decisions that would protect and promote their own interests are potentially 

extremely vulnerable. Although, in accordance with the principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005, adults 

lacking capacity should be at liberty to participate as far as possible in decision-making, and express their 

views, emphasis should shift to ensuring that decisions made on customers’ behalf promote their overall best 

interests. 

Where an adult lacks capacity, information can be disclosed in accordance with the Mental Capacity Act 2005, 

where, in the opinion of the member of staff, it would be in the incapacitated person’s best interests.  

Where an adult lacks capacity to consent to disclosure it is usually reasonable to assume that they would want 

people close to them, or directly involved in their care to be given appropriate information about their illness, 

prognosis and treatment, unless there is evidence to the contrary. 

126



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 7 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

On the rare occasion that Tunstall staff has to make a decision on behalf of a customer who has lost capacity 

they will do so in that person’s best interest, using the common checklist of factors in the Mental Capacity Act 

Code of Practice (See Appendix H Safeguarding procedures for more information).  

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/mental-capacity-act-making-decisions#mental-capacity-act-

code-of-practice  

7. Sharing Confidential Information 

All staff employed by Tunstall are subject to a Common Law Duty of Confidentiality and must abide by this.  

The duty of confidence only applies to ‘person identifiable information’ and not to aggregated data derived 

from such information or to information that has otherwise been effectively anonymised i.e. refusal to provide 

name or address and if it is not possible for anyone to link the information to a specific individual. 

Personal information held by Tunstall is subject to a legal duty of confidentiality and will not normally be 

disclosed without the consent of the individual. However, the right to confidentiality and respect for private 

and family life (Article 8, Human Rights Act, 1998) is not absolute. 

The only exceptions to this are where confidentiality can be overridden either by a court order or other legal 

authority (e.g. Prevent Duty), or in the public interest i.e. in order to safeguard a child or adult at risk. 

Public interest justifications usually relate to disclosures to prevent significant or serious harm to third parties 

or to prevent or to prosecute a serious crime. e.g. suicide pacts, terrorist threats, unsupervised young child. 

Tunstall will ensure all staff are clear about situations when they can share information with appropriate 

agencies and professionals, working together within local information sharing protocols. i.e. when they believe 

an adult is at risk of abuse or neglect or a child has suffered or is likely to suffer serious or significant harm.   

Tunstall staff will give due regard to relevant legislation, guidance and local information sharing protocols 

when making decisions on sharing information. (See Appendix F of Safeguarding Procedures for further 

guidance) 

8. Safeguarding Enquiries, Investigations and Multi-Agency Meetings  

The contribution of information from Tunstall staff to safeguarding enquiries and investigations for either 

adults or children (Adults - Section 42 Safeguarding Enquiry; Children – Child in Need Section 17 or Children at 

Risk of Significant Harm Section 47), can be invaluable and priority should be given to attendance at multi-

agency meetings and sending a report to any meetings wherever possible.  

9. Safer Recruitment, Selection and Training  

Tunstall is aware of its responsibilities for ensuring that it carries out safer recruitment practices including 

appropriate enhanced DBS disclosure checks on applicants for any position that qualifies for such a check. 

Tunstall identifies that training and raising awareness of safeguarding issues, policies and procedures is 

fundamental to the development and maintenance of a safer environment, safer organisation and safer staff. 

It will ensure that appropriate safeguarding training is provided to all staff, especially through induction 

training, to assist them in: 

127

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/mental-capacity-act-making-decisions#mental-capacity-act-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/mental-capacity-act-making-decisions#mental-capacity-act-code-of-practice


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 8 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

• preventing abuse 

• recognising abuse  

• recording concerns 

• responding appropriately to allegations of abuse  

• know who to tell, and  

• when information can be shared.   

It is the responsibility of line managers to ensure that all staff within their teams are familiar with Tunstall’s 

current safeguarding procedures and to ensure that all staff undertake appropriate training, where applicable.  

10. Whistle-Blowing 

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 introduced protection for workers from reprisals for disclosing 

information in the public interest. It emphasises the importance that the role ’whistle-blowing’ can play in 

deterring and detecting malpractice and abuse of children and adults at risks.  

Tunstall will promote practical arrangements for whistle-blowing to enable staff to voice their concerns, made 

in good faith, without fear of repercussion. Any staff member who uses the ‘whistle blowing’ procedure will be 

made aware that their employment rights are protected. 

Staff members will be supported in this individual responsibility to bring matters of concern to the attention of 

senior management and/or relevant external agencies.  This is particularly important where the welfare of 

children, young people and vulnerable adults are at risk.  

Tunstall will: 

• Ensure they have appropriate whistle-blowing policies in place 

• Ensure that they have clear procedures for dealing with allegations against staff. 

• Encourage and support staff to report any behaviour by colleagues that raises concern regardless of 

source. 

National Whistle Blowing Helpline 

On 1st January 2012, the NHS whistle-blowing helpline for NHS staff was extended to staff and employers in 

the social care sector.  The helpline number is 08000 724 725 and further information can be found on the 

website http://wbhelpline.org.uk/  

11. Safeguarding Allegations against staff  

Tunstall will refer all safeguarding concerns or allegations about its staff to the appropriate local authority 

social services safeguarding team (adults or children). 

It is a matter of policy that any staff about whom a safeguarding allegation is made will be suspended without 

prejudice immediately, pending investigation. This will be the case even if the allegation is not linked to their 

role or activity with Tunstall, (See Tunstall – Disciplinary Procedures).  

Such instances will be rare occasions and any decision to suspend will not be taken lightly. The decision will be 

taken after full discussions with the UK Managing Director.  Further advice should be sought from external HR 

and legal support before such a decision is made.  

128

http://wbhelpline.org.uk/


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 9 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

During any investigation of an allegation against a suspended member of staff, Tunstall recognise they have a 

continuing duty of care. They will ensure a link person is nominated (not connected to the investigation) to 

provide support and guidance and be able to signpost those suspended to other external support networks. 

e.g. local G. P’s or Samaritans. 

12. Complaints  

All complaints that are received about the conduct or behaviour of Tunstall staff will be dealt with according to 

the Tunstall Complaints policy. (Refer to Tunstall Complaints Policy) 

If any complaint is identified as a potential Safeguarding concern or issue or risk then this complaint will be 

referred directly into Safeguarding Procedures and forwarded to the Designated Safeguarding Officer who will 

fully investigate the situation with the UK Managing Director in order to respond to the complaint. 

Under no circumstances will safeguarding reports be delayed whilst waiting for the client to make a formal 

written complaint. 

13. Approval and Review of this Policy 

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to approve this policy and to undertake a review every 3 years, 

unless significant changes to national or local safeguarding arrangements require an earlier review. The 

Designated Safeguarding Lead is responsible for reviewing the policy.   

14. Dissemination 

Following approval by the Directors this policy will be disseminated to all staff to read and ensure they 

understand their responsibilities within the scope of the policy.  

It is the responsibility of all staff to ensure that this policy is adhered to. Failure to adhere to this policy may 

result in disciplinary action.   

15. Underpinning Legislation and Guidance 

The Children Act 1989 places a legal duty on the local authority to make enquiries if they have 

reasonable cause to suspect a child is suffering or likely to suffer significant harm to enable them to decide 

whether to take any action in order to safeguard or promote the child’s welfare. 

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts1989/ukpga_19890041_en_1   

The Children Act 2004 Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 placed duties on a range of organisations 

and individuals to ensure their functions, and any services that they contract out to others, are discharged 

having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, e.g. Police, NHS, Local 

Authorities, Probation, Prisons and Offending services. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents  

129

http://www.opsi.gov.uk/acts/acts1989/ukpga_19890041_en_1
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 10 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Working Together to Safeguard Children - HM Government 2015:  A Guide to inter-

agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. These documents define the categories of 

child abuse and provide a useful list of signs and symptoms.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2  

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child - Families and Babies 

believe that every child has the right to be loved and cared for and to be safe and well, to be offered a good 

standard of education, to be protected from exploitation and to have opportunities for rest and play (1991). 

Similarly, all children have the same rights and the same value, regardless of age, race, culture, gender, 

disability, or social/economic background. 

http://www.unicef.org/crc/   

What to do if you’re worried a child is being abused (DOH 2015) - The guidance is 

accompanied with flowcharts following the procedure from referral, initial assessment, emergency action that 

might need to be taken, through to what happens after a strategy discussion and child protection review 

conference. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419604/What_to_do_if_

you_re_worried_a_child_is_being_abused.pdf  

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 – (as amended by the Protection of Freedoms Act 

2012) Created the Independent Safeguarding Authority along with Vetting and Barring Scheme to help prevent 

unsuitable people from working (paid or otherwise) with children and Adult at Risks. In 2012 The Criminal 

Records Bureau (CRB) and the Independent Safeguarding Authority (ISA) merged into the Disclosure and 

Barring Service (DBS). CRB checks are now called DBS checks.  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted  

Care Act 2014 – HM Government – This act replaces ‘No Secrets’ DOH 2000 guidance in respect 

of safeguarding adults at risk. The terms ‘vulnerable adult’ and ‘adult at risk of abuse or neglect’ are 

interchangeable and mean the same. This act puts the creation of Safeguarding Adult Protection Boards, 

vetting and training as mandatory for the first time. The Act came into force April 2015.  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted/data.htm  

Care and Support - Statutory Guidance on Implementation of the Care Act 

2014 – The Government issued statutory guidance in Oct 2014 which explains how the new Care Act 2014 

Regulations which come into effect from April 2015 will work in practice. They made changes that included 

clarifying the guidance on adult safeguarding and revising the eligibility criteria to focus on outcomes and 

better address social isolation. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-

guidance#safeguarding-1  

130

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
http://www.unicef.org/crc/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419604/What_to_do_if_you_re_worried_a_child_is_being_abused.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/419604/What_to_do_if_you_re_worried_a_child_is_being_abused.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted/data.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#safeguarding-1
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance#safeguarding-1


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 11 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Mental Capacity Act DOH 2005 – provides a statutory framework to empower and protect 

vulnerable people who are not able to make their own decisions. It makes it clear who can take decisions, in 

which situations and how they should go about this. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-capacity-act-code-of-practice  

Safer Working Practices DCSF 2009 – Whilst this practice guidance is archived, it continues to 

provide clear advice on appropriate and safe behaviours for all adults working with children in paid or unpaid 

capacities, in all settings and in all contexts.  

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100202180143/http://www.dcsf.gov.uk/everychildmatters/r

esources-and-practice/IG00311/  

A revised edition was published in 2015 by the Safer Recruitment Consortium, however this is specifically 

aimed at educational settings. There is however useful information within the guidance document. 

http://www.saferrecruitmentconsortium.org/GSWP%20Oct%202015.pdf  

Recruiting Safely – CWDC 2009 – Whilst this document is now archived it continues to provide an 

overview for individuals and organisations seeking to understand the task of safer recruitment within the 

wider safeguarding agenda. It provides a list of key issues that need to be considered when undertaking safe 

recruitment.  

http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130403233802/https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/

eOrderingDownload/summary%20guidance%20on%20safer%20recruitment%20nov%202009.pdf  

This document needs to be read in conjunction with information on the below website for making safer 

recruitment decisions. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/helping-employers-make-safer-recruiting-decisions  

The Equality Act 2010 – this puts a responsibility on public authorities to have due regard to the need 

to eliminate discrimination and promote equality of opportunity. This applies to the process of identification of 

need and risk faced by the individual child and the process of assessment. No child or group of children must 

be treated any less favourably than others in being able to access effective services which meet their particular 

needs. 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents  

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance  

Data Protection Act 1998 – The Data Protection Act 1998 gives effect throughout the United 

Kingdom to an EC Directive of 1995. It requires compliance with eight Data Protection Principles which set out 

standards for processing and handling information.  

Where you have concerns that the actions of some may place children at risk of significant harm or adults at 

risk of serious harm, it may be possible to justify sharing information with or without consent for the purposes 

of identifying people for whom preventative interventions are appropriate. 

131

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mental-capacity-act-code-of-practice
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100202180143/http:/www.dcsf.gov.uk/everychildmatters/resources-and-practice/IG00311/
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20100202180143/http:/www.dcsf.gov.uk/everychildmatters/resources-and-practice/IG00311/
http://www.saferrecruitmentconsortium.org/GSWP%20Oct%202015.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130403233802/https:/www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/summary%20guidance%20on%20safer%20recruitment%20nov%202009.pdf
http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20130403233802/https:/www.education.gov.uk/publications/eOrderingDownload/summary%20guidance%20on%20safer%20recruitment%20nov%202009.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/helping-employers-make-safer-recruiting-decisions
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 12 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

https://www.gov.uk/data-protection/the-data-protection-act  

Sharing Information DCSF 2015 – This HM Government advice is non-statutory, and has been 

produced to support    practitioners in the decisions they take when sharing information to reduce the risk of 

harm to children and young people. This advice is for all frontline practitioners and senior managers working 

with children, young people, parents and carers who have to make decisions about sharing personal 

information on a case by case basis. It might also be helpful for practitioners working with adults who are 

responsible for children who may be in need. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice  

Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 – Section 26 of the Act places a duty on partners of 

Local authorities and certain bodies, in the exercise of their functions, to have “due regard to the need to 

prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance  

 

 

 

  

132

https://www.gov.uk/data-protection/the-data-protection-act
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/safeguarding-practitioners-information-sharing-advice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevent-duty-guidance


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 13 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Appendix A - Tunstall Safeguarding Reporting Process – Flowchart 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Designated Safeguarding Lead  Sonia Belfield, Group HR Director 

     T: 01977 660577   M: 07739979843 

Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead  Yael Bannister, HR Business Partner T: 01977 660528                  

      Helen Barrass, HR Business Partner  T: tbc 

Safeguarding email address  safeguarding@tunstall.com  

UK Managing Director   Gavin Bashar 

     T: 01977 660282               M: 07712 899442 

Staff member has concerns about a customer or other child/adult at risk. 

Is the adult / child at risk of immediate harm? 

YES NO 

Immediate telephone call to 
Social Services/Police, followed 

by written referral report  

Inform Designated 
Safeguarding Lead and 
complete Safeguarding 

Concern Form 

Designated Safeguarding Lead  

assesses and reviews the concern  

Public Interest or Serious Harm 
Threshold met  

Consent sought from client (if 
safe)  

Referral to Social Services or GP 

Complete Safeguarding Concern 
Form within 24hrs  

Mental/Physical Health or Social 
Need/Issue Identified   

Record details and refer / signpost to 
partner external services 

133

mailto:safeguarding@tunstall.com


 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 14 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Appendix B - Safeguarding Concern Form  

Safeguarding Concerns – This Form should be completed when you have a concern about actual or likely abuse 
or neglect of an adult customer with care or support needs or a child. This includes concerns about customers 
or staff of Tunstall. It should be completed as soon as possible and always within 24hours. 

You should report your concern to the Designated Safeguarding Lead.  In an Emergency - contact the Police 999. 

 

Date of concern:        Time of concern: 

Person Reporting Incident:   (the person completing this form)   

  

 

Is this a concern about a child/young person under 18yrs?   YES             NO      

Is this a concern about an adult?                                                  YES             NO            

Is this a concern about both?                                                         YES            NO       

 

1a. Tell us who you are concerned about (relevant person): 

Please complete as much of this as is known – if not known put N/K.  

Name:  Adult / Child: (delete where appropriate) 

Home address: 

Telephone number: 

Customer/Local Council/Housing Association Name: 

 

Scheme Number if you have it: 

In your opinion does the relevant person have any vulnerability or communication difficulties? (i.e. a physical 

or mental impairment or illness - give details) 

 

 

Is the relevant person aware that the concern is being reported?      

134



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 15 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

  YES            NO  

If no, why? 

 

 

Are you aware if a Safeguarding concern has been made about this person before?  

YES                                          NO                                  NOT KNOWN       

Is the relevant person involved with any other agencies? 

YES                                         NO                                   NOT KNOWN       

If YES provide details 

 

 

 

1b. Details of the relevant person’s main contact:  i.e. spouse/carer/parent/guardian (if known) 

Do you know who the relevant person’s main contact is?   YES      NO       

Contact Name: 

Relationship to the child/adult: 

Is main contact aware of concern?   YES                      NO         

If no, why? 

 

 

Telephone no:  

 

2. Person Reporting: Please tell us who has raised the concern (if different to the person completing this 
form): Please put N/A if it is the same person 

Name: 

Telephone no:  E-Mail: 

135



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 16 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Relationship to relevant person: 

 

3. Details of the concern(s) being raised: 

Please indicate the type of abuse suspected (please tick more than one if appropriate):                      

Physical  Financial/Material  

Sexual  Self-Neglect  

Neglect/acts of omission  Domestic Abuse  

Emotional/ Psychological  Modern Slavery  

Discriminatory  Organisational  

Location of the incident or event subject of the concern: i.e. in which local authority area? 

 

Brief details of the incident being alerted: 

Include clear and factual outline of the concern being raised with dates, times, people and places, and any 

witnesses where appropriate. (please use additional sheet if required) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Current Situation 

Where is the relevant person(s) now in relation to the source of harm or alleged abuser? 

 

 

136



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 17 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

In your opinion does the alleged abuser pose a risk of harm to others? 

 YES           NO    

If yes, please describe the risk and names of others potentially at risk from this concern. 

Have you contacted the relevant person’s GP, Healthcare Professional or the Ambulance Service?  YES           

NO       

    

If criminal activity is suspected have the Police been contacted? 

YES             NO               

If yes what was the outcome? 

 

 

Police Crime / Ref No: 

Indicate who else has been informed of this concern? 

 Agency:                                                                           Contact Name: 

 

Name of person completing Form: 

 

Signature: 

 

Date: 

 

5. SAFEGUARDING LOG 

TIME/DATE: ACTION NAME SIGNATURE 

 

 

   

 

137



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 18 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

5. SAFEGUARDING LOG 

TIME/DATE: ACTION NAME SIGNATURE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Once you have completed this Safeguarding Concern Form you must ensure that the process for reporting is 

followed.  If you do not have all of the information, please send the form with that information missing. 

All telephone discussions, decisions and agreed actions should be recorded on the log as soon as possible after 

the action/event.  All entries should be timed, dated and signed. 

 

 

    

 

138



 

 

 

 

Orginated by: Authorised by: Page 19 of 19 

Yael Bannister – HR Advisor Sonia Belfield - Group HR Director Doc Name: Safeguarding Policy 

Version No: 2 Review Date: 7/01/2020 Reviewed annually 

  

Appendix C - Area Contact Details 

Local Authority Area 
 

 

Safeguarding email address safeguarding@tunstall.com 
 

Designated Safeguarding Lead 
 

Sonia Belfield, Group HR Director 
T: 01977 660577 
M: 07739 979843 
 

Deputy Designated Safeguarding Lead 
 

Yael Bannister, HR Business Partner 
T: 01977 660528 
 
Helen Barrass, HR Business Partner 
 

UK Managing Director  
 

Gavin Bashar 
T: 01977 660282 
M: 07712 899442 
 

Adult Social Services  
 

 

Children’s Social Services 
 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

139

mailto:safeguarding@tunstall.com


This page is intentionally left blank



Proposal for  

November 2017 

 

1 
 

Enabling independent living 

Equality Policy Statement 
 

Group Policy Documents are the highest level of policy definition within Tunstall and are endorsed by the 

Group’s Board of Directors. 

 

Tunstall Group Limited is committed to a policy of equal opportunity for all and opposes all forms of unlawful 

or unfair discrimination on the grounds stated within the Equality act 2010, which includes the following 

protected characteristics: 

 

• Age 

• Disability 

• Gender reassignment 

• Marriage and civil partnership 

• Pregnancy and maternity 

• Race 

• Religion or belief 

• Sex 

• Sexual orientation 

 

Tunstall Group Limited believes that it is in the Company’s best interests and all those who work within it to 

ensure that the resources, talents, and skills available throughout the community are considered when 

employment opportunities arise. 

 

Every step will be taken to ensure that individuals are given equal opportunity, fairly treated and that 

decisions on recruitment, selection, training, promotion, and career development are based solely upon 

objective and job related criteria. 

 

Any breach of this policy will be treated as a disciplinary issue and investigated in line with the Company’s 

disciplinary procedure which could ultimately result in dismissal.  

 

Additionally, if legal obligations are contravened, both the organisation and the employee concerned may be 

liable to legal proceedings and risk having unlimited damages awarded against them. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

141

Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Terms and Conditions for Goods and Services Issue 1.4 1 December 2018

  

Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Limited 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

For the Sale and Supply of Goods and/or Services  

1. PRELIMINARY 

1.1  In these conditions: 

(a) "Tunstall" means Tunstall Healthcare (UK) Limited;  

(b) "the Customer" means the person who buys or has agreed to buy the 
Goods or receive the Services subject to these terms and conditions;  

(c) "Conditions" means Tunstall's terms and conditions set out in this 
document; 

(d) "Contract" means a contract between Tunstall and the Customer for the 
sale and purchase of Goods from Tunstall and/or for the supply of Services 
by Tunstall, incorporating these Conditions; 

(e)  Data Protection Legislation: any data protection legislation from time to 
time in force in the United Kingdom including the Data Protection Act 2018 
or any successor legislation and (for so long as and to the extent that the 
law of the European Union has legal effect in the United Kingdom) the 
General Data Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) (GDPR) and any other 
directly applicable European Union regulation relating to privacy. 

(f) "Goods" means any item of whatsoever nature or part thereof which is to 
be sold or supplied by Tunstall; 

(g) “Intellectual Property Rights” means patents, rights to inventions, 
copyright and related rights, trade marks, trade names, domain names, 
rights in get-up, rights in goodwill or to sue for passing off, unfair 
competition rights, rights in designs, rights in computer software, database 
rights, topography rights, moral rights, rights in confidential information 
(including without limitation know-how and trade secrets) and any other 
intellectual property rights, in each case whether registered or 
unregistered and including without limitation all applications for and 
renewals or extensions of such rights, and all similar or equivalent rights or 
forms of protection in any part of the world; 

(h)  “Services” means the services provided by Tunstall to the Customer 
pursuant to a Contract;   

(i) “Warranty Period” means a period of 12 months commencing on the date 
of despatch of Goods from Tunstall's premises. 

1.2 The headings contained in these Conditions shall not affect the meaning or 
interpretation of these Conditions. 

2.  ACCEPTANCE OF ORDERS 
2.1 THESE CONDITIONS SHALL APPLY TO ANY SUPPLY OF GOODS AND/OR 

SERVICES BY TUNSTALL TO THE CUSTOMER AND ALL OR ANY OTHER 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OR ENQUIRIES (WHETHER IN THE CUSTOMER'S 
ORDER OR OTHERWISE) SHALL BE OF NO EFFECT. 

2.2 When the Customer wishes to order Goods and/or Services it shall do so in 
writing addressed to Tunstall. Each order shall be a separate offer by the 
Customer to buy Goods and/or to receive Services on these Conditions, 
which Tunstall shall be free to accept or decline at its absolute discretion. 
An order shall not be binding unless and until accepted by Tunstall in 
writing. 

2.3 These Conditions and the Contract constitute the entire agreement 
between Tunstall and the Customer. Any modification to these Conditions 
will only be binding if made in writing, signed on behalf of Tunstall and 
containing a specific reference to these Conditions being modified. Tunstall 
may, at its sole discretion, accept amendments to an order after it has 
been accepted. 

2.4 No order which has been accepted by Tunstall may be cancelled by the 
Customer without Tunstall’s agreement in writing. If Tunstall agrees to the 
Customer cancelling an order, the Customer will indemnify Tunstall against 
all losses (including, without limitation, loss of profit) suffered by Tunstall 
arising out of such cancellation. 

2.5 No Contract for the supply of Goods shall be a sale by sample unless 
Tunstall expressly agrees in writing. 

2.6 All specifications, illustrations, colours, drawings and diagrams in Tunstall's 
catalogues, trade literature and other published matter are of a generally 
informative nature and are approximate only and none of them form part 
of any Contract or give rise to any independent or collateral liability of any 
nature whatsoever on the part of Tunstall and Tunstall shall be under no 
liability whatsoever for inaccuracies, changes or alterations in dimensions 
or measurements given, quoted or made by it. 

2.7 Tunstall reserves the right (but does not assume the obligation) to make 
any changes in the specification of Goods and/or Services which are 

required to conform with any legislation and which do not materially affect 
the nature or quality of the Goods and/or Services (as the case may be). 

3. ESTIMATES AND PRICES 
3.1 Where requested by the Customer, Tunstall may at its sole discretion 

provide a price quote to the Customer. Any such quote is valid for a period 
of 30 days and Tunstall may withdraw it at any time by written notice to 
the Customer. 

3.2 Unless otherwise stated in writing the prices for Goods estimated or 
quoted by Tunstall are inclusive of basic packaging but are exclusive of 
freight and insurance charges, charges for delivery, VAT and other 
applicable taxes, duties or levies of any kind whatsoever, all of which are 
payable in addition by the Customer. 

3.3 The price of Goods shall be the quoted price or, where no price has been 
quoted, the price listed in Tunstall’s price list current at the date of 
acceptance of the order.  

3.4 Prices of Goods are based on, amongst others, the cost of materials, 
labour, transport, import duties and levies, currency exchange rates and 
statutory obligations prevailing at the date of Tunstall's acceptance of the 
Customer's order. If before delivery there occurs any increase, howsoever 
arising, in the cost to Tunstall of supplying the Goods, including (without 
limitation) any of the above matters, Tunstall shall be entitled to adjust the 
price for the Goods by a reasonable amount to take account of such 
increases. 

3.5 Charges for Services may be increased no more than once in any 12 month 
period by Tunstall giving the Customer written notice of any such increase 
3 months before the proposed date of increase. 

4. PAYMENT 
4.1 The Customer shall pay the price of Goods and/or Services supplied by 

Tunstall within 30 days of the date of an invoice for the same issued by 
Tunstall. The time of payment shall be of the essence of any Contract 

4.2 Without limiting any other right or remedy of Tunstall, if the 
Customer fails to make any payment due to Tunstall by the due date 
for payment, Tunstall shall have the right at its sole discretion: 
(a) to disapply any discounts applied to in respect of the charges; 

and 
(b) to charge interest on the overdue amount at the rate of 4% per annum 

above the current base rate of the Bank of England accruing on a daily 
basis from the due date for payment of the overdue amount. 

4.3 Tunstall may (at its absolute discretion) refuse to make delivery of any 
further consignment of any Goods or withhold the Services or make a 
charge at the Fee Rates or cancel any Contract, either in whole or part, by 
notice in writing to the Customer without incurring any liability to the 
Customer for any loss caused by such refusal or cancellation: 

(a) where any payment is overdue at a time when performance of the 
Services or the delivery of any Goods is required; 

(b) where access for provision of the Services or delivery of the Goods 
cannot be obtained at the relevant time for such performance or 
delivery; 

(c) where in the Tunstall’s reasonable opinion access for provision of the 
Services or delivery of the Goods cannot be exercised safely; or 

(d) in such other circumstances (if any) listed in the Contract. 

4.4 All payments due to Tunstall under a Contract shall become due 
immediately on its termination regardless of any other provision.  

4.5 VAT shall be added to the price of the Goods and/or Services at the 
prevailing rate. 

4.6 The Customer shall pay all amounts due under these Conditions or any 
Contract in full without any deduction or withholding except as required by 
law and shall not be entitled to assert any credit, set off or counterclaim 
against Tunstall in order to justify withholding payment of any such 
amount in whole or in part. 

5. TRANSFER OF PROPERTY 
5.1 Goods shall remain the sole and absolute property of Tunstall as legal and 

beneficial owner and Tunstall reserves the right to dispose of such Goods 
until such time as payment is received by it in full for all Goods and/or 
Services subject to an order and all other sums which are or become due to 
Tunstall from the Customer on any account. Until ownership in Goods has 
passed, the Customer shall 
(a)  hold the Goods on a fiduciary basis as Tunstall's bailee; 
(b)  store the Goods (at no cost to Tunstall) in satisfactory conditions and 

separately from all the Customer's other Goods or those of a third 
party, so that they remain readily identifiable as Tunstall's property;  

143

Appendix 4



Terms and Conditions for Goods and Services Issue 1.4 2 December 2018

  

(c)  not destroy, deface or obscure any identifying mark or packaging on or 
relating to the Goods; and 

(d)  keep the Goods insured on Tunstall's behalf for their full price against 
all risks with a reputable insurer to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
Tunstall and hold the proceeds of such insurance on trust for Tunstall 
and not mix them with any other money, nor pay the proceeds into an 
overdrawn bank account.  

(e)  keep the Goods in its possession properly maintained in the same 
condition they were in when delivered to it and shall make good any 
damage or deterioration.   

5.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of Condition 5.1, the Customer shall be 
entitled to install Goods in its possession in accordance with Tunstall's 
installation instructions or manuals. 

5.3 The Customer's right to possession of the Goods before ownership has 
passed to it shall terminate immediately if any of the circumstances set out 
in condition 11.2 arise or if the Customer encumbers or in any way charges 
the Goods, or if the Customer fails to make any payment to Tunstall on the 
due date. Where such circumstances arise, Tunstall may (without prejudice 
to any part of its other rights) recover or resell the Goods or any of them. 

5.4 The Customer grants Tunstall, its agents and employees an irrevocable 
licence at any time to enter any premises where the Goods are or may be 
stored in order to inspect them (including, for the avoidance of doubt, 
premises where the Goods have been installed), or where the Customer's 
right to possession has terminated, to remove them. All costs incurred by 
Tunstall in repossessing the Goods shall be borne by the Customer.  

5.5 Tunstall may maintain any action for the price of Goods whether or not 
ownership in them has passed to the Customer. 

5.6 Where the Goods include firmware, intellectual property in such firmware 
shall remain within the ownership of Tunstall. Tunstall grants to the 
Customer a non-exclusive, irrevocable, royalty free licence to use any 
elements of such firmware. 

5.7 Each sub-Condition of this Condition 5 is separate, severable and distinct. If 
any of them are for any reason unenforceable, the others shall remain in 
full force and effect. 

6. RISK AND INSURANCE 
6.1 Subject to Condition 5, Goods are at the Customer's sole risk (and the 

Customer shall be under a duty to insure the Goods to their full value 
against all risks to the reasonable satisfaction of Tunstall) from the first 
point in time of any of the following: 
(a) the passing of property to the Customer in accordance with 

Condition 5 above; or  
(b) the physical delivery of the Goods by Tunstall to the Customer's 

place of business or to such other third party premises as the 
Customer shall have directed; or 

(c) the physical delivery of the Goods to the Customer's carrier or to an 
independent carrier for the purpose of transmission to the Customer 
or his nominee; or 

(d) the physical delivery of the Goods to the Customer at Tunstall's 
premises. 

6.2 Tunstall shall be under no obligation to effect insurance of the Goods once 
risk has passed to the Customer. 

6.3 On termination, Tunstall's rights contained in Conditions 5 and 6 shall 
remain in effect. 

7. DELIVERY OF GOODS 
7.1 Goods will be delivered at the agreed time to the agreed point of delivery  
7.2 Tunstall may at its discretion deliver Goods by instalments in such 

quantities as it thinks fit. Where delivery is made by instalments, each 
instalment shall be construed as a separate contract to which all the 
provisions of these Conditions shall (with any necessary alterations) apply. 
Tunstall shall unload the Goods at the Customer’s risk. 

7.3 The Customer shall have no claim whatsoever against Tunstall for any 
direct or indirect or consequential loss or damage of any kind (including, 
for the avoidance of doubt, loss of profit, loss of reputation and all interest, 
penalties and legal costs) arising from any failure to make delivery or any 
delay in delivery of Goods. 

7.4 Without prejudice to any other rights of Tunstall under these Conditions, if 
the Customer fails to give all instructions reasonably required by Tunstall, 
or fails to provide all necessary documents, licences, consents and 
authorities for forwarding the Goods or otherwise causes or requests 
delay, the Customer shall pay to Tunstall all reasonable storage and other 
costs of whatever nature incurred or arising from such delay. 

7.5 Where Goods are delivered in a damaged state or there is any shortfall in 
numbers delivered the Customer shall notify Tunstall in writing within 
seven days of delivery.  Where the quantity of Goods delivered differs from 
that stated in any applicable contract the Customer shall not have any right 
to reject such Goods and shall have no right to claim for damages for 
breach of contract. In such circumstances, the Customer will only be 

obliged to pay at the appropriate contract price for the quantity of Goods 
delivered. 

8. WARRANTY  
8.1 Tunstall warrants to the Customer that:  

(a) the Goods are free from defects of workmanship and materials and 
will remain so for the Warranty Period and that it will, at its option, 
repair, replace or refund the purchase price of any such defective 
Goods (other than consumable items); 

(b) the Services will be provided using reasonable care and skill. 
Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, any dates, periods or 
times specified in Contract are estimates only and time shall not be of 
the essence for the performance of Tunstall’s obligations; and 

(c) Tunstall will supply all parts and materials necessary for the provision 
of the Service. 

8.2 Tunstall shall not in any circumstances be liable for a breach of the 
warranty contained in condition 8.1(a): 
(a)  unless the Customer gives written notice of the defect to Tunstall 

within seven days of the time when the Customer discovers or ought 
reasonably to have discovered the defect;  

(b)  unless after receiving the notice, the Customer (if asked to do so by 
Tunstall) returns such Goods to Tunstall's place of business for 
examination;  

(c)   where the Customer has made use of the Goods in respect of which it 
has given written notice under condition 8.2(a);  

(d)  where the defect arises because the Customer failed to follow 
Tunstall’s oral or written instructions as to the storage, installation, 
commissioning, use or maintenance of the Goods or (if there are none) 
good trade practice;  

(e)  where the Customer has altered or repaired the relevant Goods 
without the written consent of Tunstall;   

(f)  where the Goods have been used in conjunction with any equipment 
or materials manufactured or supplied to the Customer by a third 
party other than Tunstall; or  

(g)  where the Goods have been used improperly or outside of their 
normal application.  

8.3 Where Goods are repaired or replaced by Tunstall any such repaired or 
replacement Goods shall remain under warranty for any unexpired portion 
of the Warranty Period. 

8.4 The Customer's remedies in respect of any claim under the foregoing 
express warranty or any condition or warranty implied by law or any other 
claim in respect of the Goods or any workmanship in relation to them 
(whether or not involving negligence on the part of Tunstall) shall, in all 
cases, be limited to repair, replacement, or refund of the purchase price.  
All warranties, conditions and other terms implied by statute or common 
law are excluded from these Conditions and any Contract to the fullest 
extent permitted by law. 

8.5 A claim in respect of any defect or failure to comply with the specification 
or in respect of any delivery or instalment or any part of it shall not entitle 
the Customer to cancel or refuse delivery of or payment for any other 
delivery or instalment or any part of the same delivery or instalment. 

8.6 The Customer shall not be entitled to rely on any oral statement or 
representation made by Tunstall or by Tunstall's employees, agents or 
servants and the Customer acknowledges that it will only rely on written 
data and specifications supplied by Tunstall. 

8.7 All batteries supplied with the Goods are excluded from the warranty 
detailed in this Condition 8. 

9. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

THE CUSTOMER’S ATTENTION IS PARTICULARLY DRAWN TO THIS CONDITION 
9 

9.1 Tunstall shall not be liable for any loss or damage to the Customer 
arising by reason of the Services (or any Goods) being temporarily 
unavailable as a result of any cause whatsoever and shall not be 
responsible in any circumstances for any indirect or consequential loss or 
damage however arising (including but not limited to loss of profits, loss 
of business, depletion of goodwill and/or similar losses, loss of use or 
loss or corruption of data or information) which the Customer may 
sustain in connection with the Goods and/or Services. 

9.2 Nothing in these conditions excludes or limits the liability of Tunstall for 
death or personal injury caused by Tunstall’s negligence, or for fraud or 
any other matter for which it would be unlawful for Tunstall to exclude 
or attempt to exclude its liability.  

9.3 All warranties conditions, and other terms implied by statute or common 
law are, to the fullest extent permitted by law, excluded from any 
Contract. 

9.4 If Tunstall’s performance of its obligations under a Contract is prevented 
or delayed by any act or omission of the Customer or failure by the 
Customer to perform any relevant obligation, Tunstall shall not be liable 

144

http://commercial.practicallaw.com/8-201-2262?q=&qp=&qo=&qe=#a376478


Terms and Conditions for Goods and Services Issue 1.4 3 December 2018

  

for any costs charges or losses sustained or incurred by the Customer 
that arise directly or indirectly from such prevention, delay or failure 
and, without limiting its other rights or remedies, Tunstall shall have the 
right to suspend delivery of Goods or the performance of the Services 
until the prevention delay or failure has been remedied and to rely on 
such prevention delay or failure to relieve it from the performance of any 
of its obligations so affected. 

9.5 Tunstall shall not be liable for any indirect or consequential loss arising 
from the non-delivery of Goods or the non-performance of the Services 
including (for the avoidance of doubt) loss of profits, loss of business, 
loss of anticipated savings, loss of goods, loss of contract, loss of use or 
loss or corruption of data or information. 

9.6 Without prejudice to condition 9.2, Tunstall’s total liability arising under 
or in connection with a Contract shall be limited to shall be limited to 
one hundred and twenty five per cent (125%) of the total charges paid 
and/or payable by the Customer under such Contract.  

9.7 The Customer shall (and shall procure that any third party to whom any 
Goods may subsequently be supplied shall) comply with all instructions 
of Tunstall and any other manufacturer in relation to the fitting, 
installation, service and use of the Goods and, notwithstanding such 
compliance, the Customer shall indemnify and keep indemnified Tunstall 
fully and effectually against all costs, claims, demands, expenses and 
liabilities of whatsoever nature and wheresoever arising, including, 
without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, claims for damage 
to property and consequential loss (including loss of profit) which may 
be made against Tunstall or which Tunstall may sustain, pay or incur 
arising out of or in connection with the supply, fitting, installation or use 
of the Goods except to the extent that Tunstall is prevented by law from 
avoiding such liability. 

10 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND CONFIDENTIALITY 
10.1 The Customer acknowledges that all Intellectual Property Rights used by 

or subsisting in the Goods or arising from the performance of the 
Services are and shall remain the sole property of Tunstall or (as the case 
may be) the third party owner of those rights and the Customer shall not 
at any time make any unauthorised use of such Intellectual Property 
Rights, nor authorise or permit any of its agents or contractors or any 
other person to do so. 

10.2 Tunstall shall retain the property and copyright in all materials, drawings, 
data and other documents supplied to the Customer in connection with 
a Contract and it shall be a condition of such supply that the contents of 
such items shall not be communicated either directly or indirectly to any 
other person, firm or company without the prior written consent of 
Tunstall. 

10.3 Except as may be allowed by law, the Customer shall not (and shall not 
permit any third party to) copy, adapt, reverse engineer, decompile, 
disassemble, modify, or make error connects to all or any firmware 
contained within the Goods in whole or in part 

10.4 The Customer shall not at any time disclose to any person any 
confidential information disclosed to it concerning the business or affairs 
of Tunstall, including but not limited to information relating to  Tunstall's 
operations, processes, plans, product information, know-how, designs, 
trade secrets, software, market opportunities and customers 
(Confidential Information), provided that the Customer may disclose 
Confidential Information: 

(a) to its employees, officers, agents, consultants or sub-contractors who 
need to know such information for the purposes of the supply, fitting, 
installation or use of the Goods and shall ensure that such persons are 
subject to confidentiality obligations corresponding to those in this 
Condition; and 

(b) as may be required by law, court order or any governmental or 
regulatory authority. 

10.5 This Condition 10 shall survive termination of a Contract, howsoever 
arising. 

11. TERMINATION 
11.1 Tunstall reserves the right to determine a Contract at any time on giving 

seven days' notice in writing to the Customer and Tunstall shall not be 
obliged to give any reason for determining such Contract in this manner. 

11.2 Without prejudice to Condition 11.1 Tunstall may determine a Contract 
forthwith if the Customer: 
(a) has made any material misstatement in the particulars supplied to 

Tunstall from time to time;  
(i) fails to pay any sums payable under any Contract (or under any 
other agreement between Tunstall and the Customer) in full within 
14 days after such sums have become due (whether demanded or 
not); 
(ii) commits a material breach of any of the other terms or 
conditions (whether express or implied) of a Contract (or of the 

terms and conditions of any other agreement previously 
mentioned);  
(iii) if any distress, execution, or other legal process is levied on or 
against the Goods or any part of the Goods, or against any premises 
where the Goods are, or against any of the Customer's Goods or 
other property, or the Customer permits any judgment against it to 
remain unsatisfied for seven days;  
(iv) if the Customer, being an individual, dies, suffers an interim 
order (within the meaning of the Insolvency Act) to be made against 
him or enters into a voluntary arrangement or suffers the making of 
a statutory demand or the presentation of a petition for a 
bankruptcy order;  
(v) if the Customer, being a body corporate, enters into any 
liquidation, calls any meeting of its creditors, or has a receiver or 
administrative receiver appointed over all or any of its undertaking 
or assets, or suffers the appointment or the presentation of a 
petition for the appointment of an administrator under the 
provisions of Part II of the Insolvency Act, or is deemed by virtue of 
Section 123 of the Insolvency Act to be unable to pay its debts; or 
(vi) being an individual suffers from mental disorder and either: 

(a) the Customer is admitted to hospital in pursuance of an 
application for admission for treatment under the Mental Health 
Act 1983 or, in Scotland, an application for admission under the 
Mental Health (Scotland) Act 1960; or 
(b) an order is made by a court having jurisdiction (whether in 
the United Kingdom or elsewhere) in matters concerning mental 
disorder for the Customer's detention or for the appointment of a 
receiver, curator bonus or other person to exercise power with 
respect to the Customer's property or affairs.  

11.3 The Customer may terminate a Contract: 
(a) by not less than 90 days written notice if, where having been 

notified of an increase in Tunstall’s charges, it notifies Tunstall within 
one month of such notification that it wishes the Contract to be 
terminated; or 

(b) by 30 days written notice if Tunstall has not performed or is unable 
to perform the Services or deliver the Goods (as the case may be) for 
a period of three months or more. 

12. FORCE MAJEURE  
Tunstall reserves the right to defer the date of delivery, or to cancel a 
Contract or reduce the amount of Goods to be delivered or Services to 
be performed, or to extend the time or times for delivery or otherwise 
performing such Contract by a period at least equivalent to that during 
which such delivery or performance has been extended by any of the 
following events if it is prevented from or delayed in carrying on its 
business by acts, events, omissions or accidents beyond its reasonable 
control, including without limitation strikes, lock-outs or other industrial 
disputes (whether involving the workforce of Tunstall or any other 
party), failure of a utility service or transport or telecommunications 
network, act of god, war, riot, civil commotion, malicious damage, 
compliance with any law or governmental order, rule, regulation or 
direction, accident, breakdown of plant or machinery, fire, flood, storm 
or default of suppliers or sub-contractors.  

13. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTORS 
13.1 The Customer or Tunstall shall not assign or transfer or purport to assign 

or transfer any Contract or the benefit thereof to any person 
whatsoever. 

13.2 Tunstall shall be entitled to subcontract any work relating to a Contract 
without obtaining the consent of, or giving notice to, the Customer.  

14. DATA PROTECTION 
14.1 Both parties will comply with all applicable requirements of the Data 

Protection Legislation. This Condition 14 is in addition to, and does not 
relieve, remove or replace, a party's obligations under the Data 
Protection Legislation. 

14.2 The parties acknowledge that for the purposes of the Data Protection 
Legislation, the Customer is the data controller and Tunstall is the data 
processor (where Data Controller and Data Processor have the 
meanings as defined in the Data Protection Legislation).  

14.3 Without prejudice to the generality of Condition 14.1, the Customer will 
ensure that it has all necessary appropriate consents and notices in place 
to enable lawful transfer of the Personal Data to Tunstall for the duration 
and purposes of the provision of the Goods and/or Services. 

14.4 Without prejudice to the generality of Condition 14.1, Tunstall shall, in 
relation to any Personal Data processed in connection with the 
performance by Tunstall of its obligations under any Contract: 
(a) process that Personal Data only on the written instructions of the 

Customer unless Tunstall is required by the laws of any member of 
the European Union or by the laws of the European Union applicable 

145



Terms and Conditions for Goods and Services Issue 1.4 4 December 2018

  

to Tunstall (for so long as and to the extent that they apply to 
Tunstall) or by the Data Protection Legislation or any other law that 
applies in the United Kingdom to process Personal Data (Applicable 
Law); 

(b) ensure that it has in place appropriate technical and organisational 
measures to protect against unauthorised or unlawful processing of 
Personal Data and against accidental loss or destruction of, or 
damage to, Personal Data, appropriate to the harm that might result 
from the unauthorised or unlawful processing or accidental loss, 
destruction or damage and the nature of the data to be protected, 
having regard to the state of technological development and the 
cost of implementing any measures (those measures may include, 
where appropriate, pseudonymising and encrypting Personal Data, 
ensuring confidentiality, integrity, availability and resilience of its 
systems and services, ensuring that availability of and access to 
Personal Data can be restored in a timely manner after an incident, 
and regularly assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of the 
technical and organisational measures adopted by it);  

(c) ensure that all personnel who have access to and/or process 
Personal Data are obliged to keep the Personal Data confidential; 
and 

(d) not transfer any Personal Data outside of the European Economic 
Area unless the prior written consent of the Customer has been 
obtained and the following conditions are fulfilled: 

(i) the Customer or Tunstall has provided appropriate safeguards in 
relation to the transfer; 

(ii) the data subject has enforceable rights and effective legal 
remedies; 

(iii) Tunstall complies with its obligations under the Data Protection 
Legislation by providing an adequate level of protection to any 
Personal Data that is transferred; and 

(iv) Tunstall complies with reasonable instructions notified to it in 
advance by the Customer with respect to the processing of the 
Personal Data; 

(e) assist the Customer, at the Customer's cost, in responding to any 
request from a Data Subject and in ensuring compliance with its 
obligations under the Data Protection Legislation with respect to 
security, breach notifications, impact assessments and 
consultations with supervisory authorities or regulators; 

(f) notify the Customer without undue delay on becoming aware of a 
Personal Data breach; 

(g) at the written direction of the Customer, delete or return Personal 
Data and copies thereof to the Customer on termination of the 
provision of the Services unless required by applicable law to store 
the Personal Data; and 

(h) maintain complete and accurate records and information to 
demonstrate its compliance with this Condition 14. 

14.5 The Customer consents to Tunstall appointing a third-party processor of 
Personal Data under any Contract. Tunstall confirms that it will enter 
with the third-party processor into a written agreement incorporating 
terms which are substantially similar to those set out in this Condition 
14.  

14.6  Tunstall shall have no liability to deliver the Services in respect of any 
data transmitted or processed in connection with the Services which is 
lost or sufficiently degraded as to be unusable.  

14.7 The Customer agrees to indemnify and keep indemnified Tunstall 
against all claims, costs, expenses, damages or liabilities suffered or 
incurred by Tunstall as a result of the Customer's withdrawal or 
amendment of instructions given in accordance with condition 14.4(a). 

15. CONSUMER SALES 
Nothing in these Conditions or in any Contract shall affect the 
statutory rights of any person dealing with Tunstall as a consumer. 

16. HEALTH AND SAFETY 
16.  The Customer agrees  
16.1. to comply with any information or any revisions to such information 

supplied to it by Tunstall relating to the use for which the Goods are 
designed or have been tested or the conditions necessary to ensure that 
the Goods will be safe and without risk to health at all times when they 
are being set, used, cleaned or maintained by any person at work or 
when they are being dismantled or disposed of; 

16.2. to ensure that its employees and agents comply with the information 
and revised information referred to in Condition 16.1;  

16.3. to take such steps as may be specified by the above information to 
ensure that, as far as reasonably practicable, the Goods will be safe and 
without risk to health at all times as mentioned above;  

16.4. that it will pass on to any person to whom it supplies the Goods any 
information supplied to it pursuant to Condition 16.1 and shall be solely 

responsible for ensuring that such persons are adequately informed and 
trained in the use of the Goods; and 

16.5. to indemnify and keep indemnified Tunstall against all claims, costs, 
expenses, damages or liabilities suffered or incurred by Tunstall as a 
result of the Customer's failure to comply with its obligations and 
responsibilities under this Condition 16. 

17. NOTICES 
17.1 Any notice or other communication to be given under a Contract must 

be in writing and may be delivered by hand or sent by prepaid first class 
letter post or email. 

17.2 Any notice or document shall be deemed served:  
(a) if hand delivered, at the time of delivery;  
(b) if posted, 48 hours after posting; and  
(c) if sent by email, where sent before 4:00pm on any working day, on 

the day that the email was sent or, in any other case, on the working 
day following that on which the email was sent 

provided that this Condition 17 does not apply to the service of any 
proceedings or other documents in any legal action or, where applicable, 
any arbitration or other method of dispute resolution. 

18. INVALIDITY 
If any Condition (or part of a Condition) is found by any court or 
administrative body of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 
unenforceable or illegal, the other Conditions shall remain in force. 

19. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 
A person who is not party to a Contract shall have no right under the 
Contracts (Right of Third Parties) Act 1999 to enforce any term of the 
Contract.  This Condition does not affect any right or remedy of any 
person which exists or is available otherwise than pursuant to that Act. 

20. DELAY AND WAIVER 
20.1 Failure or delay by Tunstall in enforcing or partially enforcing any 

provision of these Conditions shall not be construed as a waiver of any of 
its rights under a Contract.  

20.2 Any waiver by Tunstall of any breach of, or any default under, any 
provision of these Conditions by the Customer shall not be deemed a 
waiver of any subsequent breach or default and shall in no way affect 
the other terms of a Contract. 

21. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
If any dispute arises in connection with the Service Agreement, directors 
or other senior representatives of the parties with authority to settle the 
dispute will, within fourteen days of a written request from one party to 
the other, meet in a good faith effort to resolve the dispute. If the 
dispute is not resolved at that meeting, the parties will attempt to settle 
it by mediation in accordance with the Centre for Effective Dispute 
Resolution (CEDR) Model Mediation Procedure. Unless otherwise agreed 
between the parties, the mediator will be nominated by CEDR.  

22. SPECIAL CONDITIONS  
22.1 Communication Costs 

The supply of the Goods does not include connection to an approved 
telecommunications service. Where the Goods supplied require 
connection to such a service the Customer is wholly responsible for 
arranging such connection and for payment of the costs of such 
connection.  

22.2 Standards 
Where any Goods are classified as a medical device (as defined in 
Regulation (EU) 2017/745 of 5 April 2017) the Customer shall 
(i) comply with all statutory and regulatory requirements in connection 

with the use of the Goods;  
(ii) keep adequate records of medical devices to ensure that each item's 

location is known at any point in time; and   
(iii) maintain each such medical device in accordance with the 

manufacturer's recommendations 
and where equipment is returned to Tunstall under the terms of 
warranty or repair the Customer shall ensure that it has been cleaned in 
accordance with the Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory 
Agency requirements prior to return. 

22.3 Calibration 
The supply of Goods does not include the cost of any necessary 
calibration required during or following expiration of the Warranty 
Period. 

22.4 Harmful Substances 
The Customer acknowledges that Tunstall has not inspected the 
properties at which the Services are to be performed and as a 
consequence Tunstall may recover from the Customer any additional 
costs arising from the presence at such properties (or any of them) of 
any materials, substances or organisms which alone or in combination 
with others is capable of causing harm (including radioactive substances 
and materials containing asbestos) and which require the performance 

146



Terms and Conditions for Goods and Services Issue 1.4 5 December 2018

  

of additional works (whether by Tunstall or a third party) to make the 
properties (or any of them) safe for the performance of the Services. The 
Customer further acknowledges that Tunstall shall not be liable for any 
failure or delay in the performance of the Services arising as a result of 
the discovery of any such materials and/or the performance of any 
associated works of rectification. 

22.5 Anti-Bribery/ Anti- Slavery 
Tunstall confirms that it shall: 
(a) comply with all applicable laws, regulations, codes and sanctions 

relating to anti-bribery and anti-corruption including but not limited 
to the Bribery Act 2010; and 

(b) comply with all applicable anti-slavery and human trafficking laws, 
statutes, regulations and codes from time to time in force including 
but not limited to the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 

23. LAW  
All Contracts, and any non-contractual disputes or claim arising out of 
such a Contract, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with 
the laws of England and the parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of 
the English courts. 

 

 

 

 

147



This page is intentionally left blank



Proposal for  

November 2017 

 

1 
 

Enabling independent living 

Tunstall Healthcare Business Continuity 
 
Tunstall maintains a detailed Business Continuity and Disaster Recovery (BCDR) Plan which covers all 

Tunstall’s critical systems and technical and physical infrastructures.  

 

All critical systems are replicated across two geographically separate sites with each site maintaining a 

dedicated Business Continuity Planning Centre for use by staff in the event of a Disaster Recovery scenario. 

Data is backed up in real time to ensure that all client data remains immediately available to the secondary 

site with no loss of facility to clients and service users. 

 

The plan is reviewed and updated annually or when a substantial change occurs that has an effect on the 

details within the plan. 

 

The BCDR plan is tested biannually using a mixture of real and desktop scenarios, the results of which are 

documented and fed into the review process. 

 

There has never been a need to instigate these comprehensive measures. However should there be an 

occasion when normal operation is compromised, all customers will be informed immediately of the 

potential threat to services by the management team. 

 

Tunstall’s Information Systems Director has overall responsibility; the Information Systems team have 

responsibility for the implementation of the technical recovery systems.  

 

Heads of individual business units are responsible for the implementation of the plan within their specific 

business unit and for communication with staff throughout their area of responsibility. 

 

Additional Contingency Plans 
 

Where required, the plan is augmented by additional plans designed to mitigate specific events. For 

example, Tunstall instigated an additional plan for business continuity in the event of a Swine Flu Epidemic, 

and an Influenza Pandemic mitigation plan remains in place. 

                

Tunstall has a policy of dual sourcing for key products, components and services therefore ensuring 

continuity of Tunstall’s supply chain. 
 

Plans to Combat Potential Negative Circumstances 
 

The most dangerous risks to service delivery are the unknown ones – by their very nature they are difficult to 

mitigate, and for this reason Tunstall’s continuous improvement efforts focus on learning lessons from 

everything we do. Our extensive experience of delivering identical services to those being procured has 

enabled us to hone our methodologies into robust, scaleable practices which mitigate all risks as far as 

possible. 

 

149

Appendix 5



Proposal for  

November 2017 

 

2 
 

Enabling independent living 

Any new incidents feed into revisions to our business continuity plan, and contingency measures are defined 

and implemented as they arise as part of our continuous improvement activities.  

 

For example, Tunstall instigated an additional plan for business continuity in the event of the swine flu 

epidemic which has been further developed to assess and mitigate any wider risks to the health of our 

workforce and the people we serve.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

150



 

 

 

Cabinet 
13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Barry Dobson 

  The Deputy Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Lease of Linchfield Road 

The existing leisure centre at Deeping St James is approaching the end of its life and the Council 
is currently undertaking feasibility work with a view to developing a new leisure centre in this 
location.  Negotiations have taken place with a view to acquiring a leasehold interest in the 
Linchfield Road Playing Field site to secure this for the development of a new leisure centre.  

 

Report Author 

Karen Whitfield, Head of Leisure 

Tel: 01476 406239 

Email: karen.whitfield@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Growth Key Deeping St James 

 

Reviewed by: Chris Pike, Assets and Estates Manager 25 September 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive  5 October 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Barry Dobson, The Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

5 October 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. Notes the contents of this report and approves the Council entering into a leasehold 
arrangement to secure the Linchfield Road Playing Field site for development and to 
agree to meet third parties legal costs.  

2. Provides delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader 
of the Council, to agree the final terms of the lease. 

3. Agrees to provide a Letter of Intent to the Football Foundation in order to commence 
an application for funding to develop an ATP on the site. 

 

151

Agenda Item 8

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Background to the Report 

1.1 The Council is currently undertaking feasibility work in order to identify schemes of 

improvement to the Council leisure facilities across the district. 

1.2 Due to the age and condition of the current leisure centre in Deeping St James, the feasibility 

work has focused on providing a new leisure facility in this area.  In September 2019 the 

Council announced the playing field site on Linchfield Road, Deeping St James to be the 

preferred location for a new centre. 

1.3 The work completed to date has included a proposed site masterplan. This has 

demonstrated that the Linchfield Road playing field site is large enough to accommodate 

the necessary footprint of a leisure centre and provide associated parking for the facility, 

with minimal impact on the existing playing fields. 

1.4 There are complex land ownership arrangements in relation to the site, and Lincolnshire 

County Council (LCC), Deeping St James Parish Council and the Anthem Schools Trust 

(Deepings School) all currently have a legal interest in the two parcels of land that make up 

the site. 

1.5 Appendix One to this report is a site plan, the area of land outlined in blue is the part of the 

site which is owned by Deeping St James Parish Council.  This land is currently leased to 

the Anthem Schools Trust and, in order for Deeping St James Parish Council to grant a 

lease to South Kesteven District Council, the school will need to surrender their interest in 

the land.  They have agreed to do this subject to obtaining the necessary consent from the 

Department of Education.   

1.6 Appendix Two to this report is a site plan detailing the part of the site currently owned by 

Lincolnshire County Council, this again is outlined in blue.  As negotiations have progressed 

it has become apparent that Lincolnshire County Council should have transferred their 

interest in the site to the Anthem Schools Trust when the school became an Academy.  As 

a result of this Lincolnshire County Council are currently in the process of formalising these 

arrangements and therefore it will be for the school to agree the lease arrangements to the 

District Council.  

1.7 Draft Heads of Terms have been agreed with both Deeping St James Parish Council and 

the Anthem Schools Trust.  It is proposed that South Kesteven District Council be granted 

a lease of each of the parcels of land that make up the site at a peppercorn rent of £1.   

1.8 The proposed term for the land owned by Deeping St James Parish Council is for 99 years.  

The Anthem Schools’ Trust have requested a term of 125 years as this is a standard length 

of term that is accepted by the Department of Education.  Appropriate break clauses have 

been considered to ensure the Council can break the terms of both leases concurrently 

should this be necessary at an appropriate time in the future. 

1.9 There are conditions associated with the proposed arrangements.  These include: 

a) South Kesteven District Council will be responsible for the Anthem Schools Trust’s 

legal costs in relation to surrendering their leasehold interest in the land owned by Deeping 

St James Parish Council and obtaining the necessary consent from the Department of 

Education.  The District Council will also be responsible for the legal costs of Deeping St 

James Parish Council. 

b) The Anthem Schools Trust will have sole use of the playing fields only for the duration 

of the school day during term time as these are required to support the school curriculum.  

152



 

 
 

The Council will receive a contribution towards the upkeep and grounds maintenance 

arrangements in return for this and a service level agreement will be developed which sets 

out how the contribution will be calculated. 

c) The District Council will be responsible for the costs associated with the demolition of 

the current leisure facility once the new centre is operational.  These costs have been 

assessed to be circa £370,000 as part of the feasibility work undertaken and have been 

included as part of the capital cost of developing the new centre.  In addition to this the 

District Council will need to make good an adjoining wall on one of the school buildings to 

ensure this is safe and watertight.  The District Council are in the process of obtaining a cost 

for these works, and it may be possible to add this into the main works contract for the 

development of the leisure centre.  The school have indicated that they will accept the most 

cost effective option for the Council.  

d)   Deeping St James Parish Council have requested that the District Council continue to 

explore the purchase of additional land should this be necessary, and also that the Parish 

Council receive regular updates with regard to the proposed leisure centre development. 

1.10 Once the current Deepings Leisure Centre has been demolished it is the intention of 

Lincolnshire County Council and the Anthem Schools Trust to build a new sports hall on the 

school site for sole use by the school.  The school and Lincolnshire County Council have 

agreed to enter into an agreement with the District Council that this facility will not be used 

for community leisure purposes and therefore will not compete with the new leisure facility. 

1.11 There is currently an old sand based artificial pitch on the Linchfield Road site.  

Unfortunately, the District Council had to make the decision to close this facility in January 

2020 due to health and safety concerns relating from the age and condition of the pitch.   

1.12 This decision has had a significant impact on the users of Linchfield Road playing fields and 

resulted in a lack of available training facilities.  These issues were particularly exacerbated 

by the condition of the grass pitches due to the adverse weather experienced at the start of 

this year. 

1.13 As a result of the closure of the artificial pitch the District Council were contacted by the 

Football Foundation who have identified the Deepings as a priority area for the provision of 

a artificial turf pitch (ATP).  As a result of early discussions, the Council have been invited 

to submit an application for funding and have set aside £200,000 as part of the capital 

budget to support this application, if it is successful.   

1.14 In order to open the funding application, the District Council will need to demonstrate that 

the terms of a lease of the site are agreed and also provide a letter of intent, that they intend 

to formally enter into a lease for the site.  This is necessary due to the considerable costs 

the Football Foundation will incur in the early stages of the application process in relation to 

site feasibility works. 

1.15 If the application for funding is successful, the District Council will need to have entered into 

the respective leases in advance of any funding being drawn down.  It is currently proposed 

that the funding application should be submitted by January 2021, this will allow 

consideration of the application in the April 2021 funding round.  This could see the 

development of the ATP completed by October 2021.  

1.16 Any funding provided by the Football Foundation is in the form of a grant, and a condition 

of the grant will be that the Football Foundation will place a restriction on the title information 

held at the Land Registry for a period of twenty-one years.  This is to protect the Football 

153



 

 
 

Foundation’s investment and to ensure that the site cannot be sold at a later date without 

them being notified. 

1.17 Although the application is to the Football Foundation there are opportunities to ensure 

additional sports can use the ATP for training.  In addition, as a condition of the funding 

there will be a need to ensure that activities are provided for under-represented groups. 

2 Consultation and Feedback Received, Including Overview and Scrutiny 

2.1 Since October last year there have been a number of meetings held with representatives of 

Deeping St James Parish Council, The Deepings School (Anthem Schools Trust) and 

Lincolnshire County Council.   

2.2 The District Council have commissioned LK2 to advise on the application process to the 

Football Foundation.  Before the formal application process can commence a suggested 

programme of use has been developed to demonstrate that the ATP will serve a wide range 

of the local community and that there will be provision for under-represented groups.  LK2 

have undertaken some initial consultation with local sports clubs to assist with the 

development of the programme of use.  

2.3 The potential to develop an ATP on the Linchfield Road site has been met very positively 

with the majority of the local community and sports clubs in the area.  The exception to this 

is a local hockey club who have expressed dissatisfaction that the District Council are not 

proposing to develop a dedicated hockey pitch.  Conversations have taken place with the 

club to explain the rationale and the District Council have also engaged in conversation with 

England Hockey. 

2.4 The feasibility work currently being undertaken by the District Council in relation to the 

leisure enhancement programme has also identified a latent demand for a 3G football pitch 

as part of the new leisure centre development.   

3 Available Options Considered 

3.1 The current centre in Deeping St James is a well-used and valued community facility which 

was built in 1974.  The option to refurbish the centre has been considered but, as the centre 

is approaching the end of it’s economic life, this is not an appropriate or cost effective 

solution.  Therefore, the feasibility work undertaken has focused on a replacement build and 

identification of a suitable site. 

3.2 Prior to the District Council announcing the Linchfield Road site as the preferred location for 

the new leisure centre developments discussions had taken place with various landowners 

in the Deepings area.  At the time, all discussions were centred on residential land values 

which would add in significant costs to the capital envelope required.  

4 Preferred Option 

4.1 The playing field site at Linchfield Road is already an established area for sport and leisure.  

The development of a leisure centre on this site will complement the existing provision and 

provide a focal point for sports provision. 

4.2 The proposed leasehold arrangements provide the District Council with a cost-effective 

solution to secure a site for leisure development.  This will ensure the funds available can 

be invested on developing the local facility instead of land costs.  

 

154



 

 
 

 

5 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

5.1 There is a real commitment from all parties to bring forward a new leisure centre on the 

Linchfield Road Playing Field site.  Acquiring a leasehold interest in the land will allow the 

District Council to begin the work to bring the new centre forward, subject to the business 

case being approved and a capital envelope secured for the development. 

5.2 Whilst the draft Heads of Terms are agreed at this stage, there may be final details to be 

worked through.  Providing delegated authority to the Chief Executive, in consultation with 

the Leader of Council to agree the final terms of the lease will allow for any minor changes 

to be incorporated. 

5.3 The Football Foundation have identified Deepings as a priority area for the development of 

an ATP.  If the District Council cannot secure the land and begin the application process, 

the Football Foundation may need to consider alternative sites. 

5.4 The proposed “letter of intent” will allow the District Council to begin the necessary 

application process to the Football Foundation in order to bring forward a new ATP 

development at the earliest opportunity.  As early consultation has shown this is a much-

needed facility to bridge the gap in provision left by the closure of the artificial pitch on this 

site. 

6 Next Steps – Communication and Implementation of the Decision 

6.1 Should the recommendations within this report be supported, instructions will be provided 

to the District Council’s legal advisers in order to begin the necessary work to enter into final 

negotiations with the relevant parties and to begin preparing the leases.  

6.2 A “letter of intent” will be provided to the Football Foundation in order for the District Council 

to commence the formal application process.  This will include full consultation with all 

interested stakeholders and potential users of the site. 

6.3 The District Council is currently developing the business case for the proposed new leisure 

centre.  A further report is scheduled for the Cabinet meeting on the 3 November 2020, this 

report will contain proposals for the new centre including the results of the feasibility work, 

and the revenue and capital implications of the development. 

6.4 Prior to the November meeting of Cabinet there is a commitment to hold a joint meeting of 

Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Finance, Economic 

Development and Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  This will provide 

an opportunity to share the plans and rationale behind them and allow for appropriate input 

and scrutiny. 

6.5 It is also proposed that an update is provided on the proposed new leisure centre as part of 

an All Member Briefing session scheduled to be held on the 20 October 2020. 

7 Financial Implications  

7.1 The capital budget for the current financial year includes an allocation of £200k towards the 

replacement ATP.  It will be necessary to re-allocate the budget into the 2021/22 capital 

programme to match the grant funding process of the Football Foundation.  As set out in 

the report, there are no significant financial implications arising from the lease arrangement 

for Linchfield Road. 

155



 

 
 

Financial Implications reviewed by: Richard Wyles, Interim Director of Finance 

8 Legal and Governance Implications  

8.1 This lease arrangements puts the lease holdings of the site on a proper legal footing so 

that there is clarity for all parties. 

Legal Implications reviewed by: Shahin Ismail, Director of Law and Governance 

9 Equality and Safeguarding Implications  

9.1 As part of the Football Foundation application process the District Council will need to 

evidence that there are appropriate Safeguarding and Equality and Diversity policies in 

place and that the facility will be managed in accordance with those. 

9.2 As part of the proposed programme of use the District Council will need to ensure that under-

represented groups are actively encouraged to use the 3G facility. 

10 Risk and Mitigation 

10.1 There is a risk that the District Council will be unsuccessful in the application to the 

Football Foundation.  Support has been commissioned from LK2 who have an excellent 

track record of securing Football Foundation funding for Councils and other organisations. 

11 Community Safety Implications  

11.1 None. 

12 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

12.1 Any development funded by the Football Foundation will need to be constructed by one of 

their nominated contractors to strict development guidelines.  These guidelines include 

energy efficiency measures including LED floodlighting. 

12.2 The existing leisure centre building was built in 1974 and does not have the same level of 

thermal insulation as a modern building. The boilers and other mechanical equipment are 

now in excess of 40 years old and inefficient.  The proposed new leisure centre will be 

designed and built in line with the current building standards, this will include a new efficient 

boiler and associated plant which will assist the Council in reducing its carbon footprint.  

13 Appendices 

13.1 Appendix One – Site Plan, Deeping St James Parish Council land. 

13.2 Appendix Two – Site Plan, LCC/Anthem Schools Trust land. 

 

Report Timeline:  Date of Publication on Forward Plan (if 
required) 

14 September 2020 

Previously Considered by: Not applicable 

Final Decision date   13 October 2020 

 

156



© Crown copyright and database rights 2013
Ordnance Survey 10018662

Scale 1/2105 Date 25/9/2019

Centre = 515261 E 310212 N

157

Appendix 1

ChrisPike
Polygonal Line

ChrisPike_1
Text Box
NOT TO SCALE

ChrisPike_2
Text Box



This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2013
Ordnance Survey 10018662

Scale 1/2105 Date 25/9/2019

Centre = 515261 E 310212 N

159

Appendix 2

ChrisPike_3
Text Box
NOT TO SCALE

ChrisPike_4
Polygonal Line



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 

13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Matters referred to Cabinet by Council and the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
This report highlights any matters referred to the Cabinet by Council or the Council’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees since the last meeting of Cabinet on 8 September 2020. 

 

 

Report Author 

Zena West, Scrutiny Officer  

Tel: 01476 406047 

Email: zena.west@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 24 September 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 October 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 5 October 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. To direct the Climate Change Reserve Fund towards an upgrade of light fittings at 
the Guildhall Arts Centre, with the remainder directed towards the acceleration of 
the existing upgrade of streetlights project across the District. 

2. To note that the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee has requested that 
another Climate Change Reserve, of at least £20,000, be considered in the 2021/22 
budget. 

3. To note that all other recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny Committees are 
included within separate reports to Cabinet. 

161

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

1.1 No matters have been referred to Cabinet by Council since the Cabinet’s last meeting on 8 

September 2020. 

1.2 A meeting of the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee was held on 10 

September 2020. The agenda and action notes (when available) can be found here: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=3995&Ver=

4  

1.3 The following items were discussed: 

1.3.1 Equality Impact Position Statement – The Committee approved the Equality Impact 

Position Statement for publication, subject to minor amendments. 

1.3.2 Review of Community Funding - Comments included in a report to Cabinet on 13 

October 2020. 

1.3.3 Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy Review – The Committee received an 

overview of work taking place at Lincolnshire County Council and provided feedback 

on the South Kesteven perspective. 

1.4 A meeting of the Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny Committee was held 

on 15 September 2020. The agenda and action notes (when available) can be found here: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=629&Year=0 

1.5 The following items were discussed: 

1.5.1 Deepings Literary Festival – The Committee received an overview on the planning 

for the Deepings Literary Festival 2021, and provided suggestions for events, 

authors and locations which should be included. 

1.5.2 Tourism Action Plan – The Committee received an overview of work undertaken so 

far on the Tourism Action Plan, and resolved to feed into the consultation. 

1.5.3 Digital Arts Update – The Committee received an update on digital engagement with 

regard to the arts and culture offering, and provided feedback and suggestions on 

how work could continue post-Covid. 

1.5.4 Leisure Objectives - Comments included in a report to Cabinet on 13 October 2020. 

1.6 A meeting of the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee was held on 22 September 2020. The agenda and action notes (when 

available) can be found here: 

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=4012&Ver=

4  

1.7 The following items were discussed: 

1.7.1 Quarter 1 Financials / Quarter 1 Performance – The Committee received an 

overview of financials and performance information for the 2020/21 year to date. 

1.7.2 Loans from SKDC – The Committee received information on loans made by SKDC 

to Council-owned Companies, and requested further information following the 

meeting. 

1.7.3 Growth Directorate Outturn 2019/20 – The Committee received more detailed 

information on the outturn for the Growth Directorate and were satisfied with the 

additional information provided. 

162

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=3995&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=665&MId=3995&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=629&Year=0
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=4012&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=664&MId=4012&Ver=4


 
 

1.7.4 St. Martin’s Park Project - Comments included in a report to Cabinet on 13 October 

2020. 

1.8 A meeting of the Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee is due to be held on 6 

October 2020, after the agenda for Cabinet has been published. The agenda and action 

notes (when available) can be found here:    

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4029&Ver=

4 

1.9 The following items are due to be discussed: 

1.9.1 Environmental Performance Indicators – following a workshop held in September 

2020, Committee members are expected to agree standard environmental 

performance indicators. 

1.9.2 Statement of Licensing Policy – The Committee is expected to support the draft 

Statement of Licensing Policy 2021-2026 proceeding to Public Consultation. 

1.9.3 Climate Reduction Projects – The Committee is expected to support 

recommendations from the Chief Executive’s Climate Change Reduction Task and 

Finish Group, and recommend the following to Cabinet: 

1.9.3.1 the Climate Change Reserve Fund be directed towards an upgrade of light 

fittings at the Guildhall Arts Centre, Grantham, with the remainder directed 

towards the acceleration of the existing upgrade of streetlights project. 

1.9.3.2 another Climate Change Reserve, of at least £20,000, be considered in 

the 2021/22 budget. 

1.9.4 Climate Change Annual Statement - Comments will be included in a report to 

Cabinet on 3 November 2020. 

163

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4029&Ver=4
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=630&MId=4029&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

Cabinet 

13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Key and Non-Key Decisions taken under delegated 
powers 
This report provides an overview of decisions taken by individual Cabinet Members since the last 
meeting of the Cabinet on 8 September 2020. 

 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

Tel: 01476 406152 

Email: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Julie Edwards, Elections Team Leader 25 September 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 October 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 5 October 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

165

Agenda Item 10

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
1.1 Since the Cabinet last met on 8 September 2020, the following Key and Non-Key 

decisions have been taken under delegated authority:  

1.1.1 Rough Sleeper Initiative Funding 

Non-Key decision taken by the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning on 3 
September 2020 

Date decision effective: 12 September 2020 

Report and decision notice attached as Appendix 1 

1.2 Any decision made after the publication of the agenda will be reported at the next meeting 

of the Cabinet.  

 

 

166



 

 

 

Non-key Decision 

28 August 2020 

Councillor Robert Reid 

 Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 

         
  

 

Rough Sleeper Initiative Funding 

South Kesteven District Council to be the lead Authority when working in partnership with South 
Holland District Council, West Lindsey District Council and North Kesteven District Council to 
receive and manage the awarded Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) funding through the Rough Sleeping Initiative programme.   

 

 

Report Author 

Helen Clarke, Head of Housing Services 

Tel: 01476 406080 

Email: helen.clarke@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Approved for 
publication: 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for Housing 
and Planning 

24 August 2020 

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

      It is recommended that South Kesteven District Council be approved as the lead 
Authority for the awarded Rough Sleeper Initiative year 3 funding, both in terms of 
financial administration and recruitment of staff to the project, when working in 
partnership with South Holland District Council, West Lindsey District Council and 
North Kesteven District Council.  

167

Appendix 1

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 

 
 

1 The Purpose of the Report 

1.1 To seek approval for South Kesteven District Council to be the lead Authority in receiving 

the awarded Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) funding 

through their Rough Sleeping Initiative programme.  The award allocation is: £595,523 and 

this is to be shared between the four Local Authorities; South Kesteven District Council, 

South Holland District Council, West Lindsey District Council and North Kesteven District 

Council. 

1.2 MHCLG advertised an opportunity to bid for the Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) funding.  A 

bid was submitted, in December 2019, as a result of the rise in the number of rough sleepers 

in the South Kesteven area. The number has the potential to rise even more, as experienced 

across the rest of the county and the UK.  The funding is to prevent rough sleeping and not 

just to assist those persons currently sleeping rough. Details of how the funding will be 

utilised is detailed in the attached appendix. The bid was submitted in partnership with three 

other Lincolnshire local authorities. The partnership consists of South Kesteven District 

Council; North Kesteven District Council; South Holland District Council and West Lindsey 

District Council 

1.3 The number of rough sleepers is anticipated to increase to 36 people across the 4 areas 

over the next year which could be avoided with the RSI funding. An added pressure is that 

the housing support service is being decommissioned by Lincolnshire County Council in 

July 2020 and the outreach service in April 2021. These services provide supported 

accommodation and outreach workers to liaise directly with street homeless individuals. The 

decommissioning of these services will likely lead to a further increase of people sleeping 

rough, especially without proactive intervention.   

1.4 The four Local Authorities will have bi-monthly meetings with a MHCLG representative.  

MHCLG also requires that South Kesteven District Council submits bi-monthly statistical 

returns, on a count/estimate, of rough sleepers, taking into account all rough sleepers 

across the four local authority areas. 

1.5 The four Councils will have regular discussions regarding the budget, what works and does 

not work well, and how best to distribute resources and funding. 

2 Available Options Considered  

2.1 Do not submit a bid, which would, very likely, result in: 

• An increase in temporary accommodation costs, both in terms of bed and breakfast and 
use of the Council’s own stock (takes the property out of the general supply). 

• An increase in staff costs, as there would, very likely, be an increase in people 
approaching the Council, at a crisis stage, with their housing situation and hence more 
resource intensive. 

• The Council would be likely to owe more people a full homelessness duty. 

• Negatively affecting the reputation of the Council 

• Worsened outcomes for local residents and businesses because of an increased amount 
of rough sleepers in the district due to the visibility of people sleeping rough. 

2.2 The option to use existing Council monies and other MHCLG grant funding would potentially 

prevent other services being funded, as the money would be spent on rough sleepers 

needing emergency accommodation and longer term housing.  The funding will also assist 

168



 

 
 

to prevent a ‘revolving door’ situation, whereby there are repeat homelessness approaches 

to the service by achieving longer term solutions to housing need. 

2.3 One of the other Local Authorities to act as lead authority has also been considered but 

advice from MHCLG stipulated that the Local Authority submitting the bid must receive the 

funding. 

3 Preferred Option 

3.1 South Kesteven District Council to act as the lead authority in receiving and managing the 

awarded MHCLG funding. 

4 Reasons for the Recommendation (s) 

4.1 To reduce the risk of the rise of the amount of people sleeping rough across the four districts.   

5 Financial Implications  

5.1 South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) will be the accountable body for the grant and will 

monitor all expenditure incurred by the partnership to ensure that it meets the terms and 

conditions of the grant. Each Council is responsible for ensuring any expenditure it incurs 

can be recovered through the grant which will mitigate any financial exposure for SKDC as 

the accountable body.  The expenditure anticipated to be incurred by SKDC will be covered 

by the grant.  

Financial Implications reviewed by: Alison Hall-Wright, Head of Finance 

6 Legal and Governance Implications  

6.1 South Kesteven District Council will be the accountable body for the allocation of the funding 

monies and it must ensure it acts in accordance with the grant’s terms and conditions.   

Legal Implications reviewed by: Director of Law and Governance 

7 Equality and Safeguarding implications 

7.1 This scheme will have a positive impact on rough sleepers in the District in that it will provide 

services out in the Districts to those most in need and prevent a revolving door of rough 

sleeping. 

7.2 All staff recruitment will be in line with SKDC working practices and all staff once recruited 

will receive equality and diversity and safeguarding training.  

7.3 Delivery of the service will be based upon needs of vulnerable individuals, and in partnership 

with other relevant agencies and completion of equality impact assessments where 

necessary. 

8 How will the recommendations support South Kesteven District 

Council’s declaration of a climate emergency? 

8.1 The recommendation is carbon positive as the provision proposed encourages all staff to 

be based remotely across the districts, replacing the current provision of travelling into the 

office. This provision is the same for all four local authorities during the Covid-19 lockdown 

and requires the use of cars to commute across the county. 

8.2 Staff will be encouraged to only visit the applicants where only absolutely necessary, and 

avoid paper usage, where possible – making effective use of online forms and 

communication methods. 

169



 

 
 

 

9 Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1: Copy of successful funding bid. 

Report Timeline:  Date decision due to be made 3 September 2020 

Call-in deadline 11 September 2020 

Date decision effective (subject to call-in)  14 September 2020 

 

170



1 
 

Rough Sleeping Initiative: Local Authority Funding Proposal  
This template is for local authorities to submit proposals for funding to prevent and reduce rough 

sleeping. A first draft should be completed in advance of a conversation with an MHCLG adviser with 
the final form due by 6th December.  Please return the first draft to your adviser at least three 

working days prior to your conversation with them. 
 

Section 1: Background and contextual information 
This information will help to inform discussion with your adviser. 
 

Local Authority 

Lincolnshire Authorities Joint Proposal :-  
 
North Kesteven South Holland, South Kesteven and West Lindsey District Councils 

Lead Contact (Name, Job title, address & contact details including e-mail and telephone) 

 
Celia Bown, Senior Housing Policy and Strategy Officer, South Kesteven District Council, Council 
Offices, St. Peter’s Hill, Grantham, Lincs, NG31 6PZ, c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk 01476 406063 
 

Partnerships  

• Identify your key partners on rough sleeping 

• What strategic and/or case management arrangements are in place?  

Partner Authorities 
This joint proposal is submitted as a partnership of 4 Lincolnshire authorities working collaboratively 
to prevent rough sleeping in line with statutory responsibilities:- 

• North Kesteven District Council (NKDC) 

• West Lindsey District Council (WLDC) 

• South Holland District Council (SHDC) 

• South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) 
 

The delivery of successful rough sleeping initiatives are undertaken in a wider partnership with key 
partners :-  

• Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) – Funded Street Outreach Service and Floating Support Service 

• P3 – Commissioned by LCC to deliver street outreach service and floating support 

• Registered Providers 

• Police 

• Health Services  

• Third sector partners eg. Citizens Advice and faith groups 
 
Existing Case Management  
 
Case management systems used across the 4 districts are: Abritas; Locata; Home Connections, Jigsaw 
and Northgate.  The information from these systems is used to complete the HCLIC returns. 
 
The CRM system used by P3 for the street outreach service is called ‘The Avenue’ and is operated by 
Lincolnshire County Council.  For the P3 floating support services (including the Intensive Support 
Worker which SKDC hosts through the RSI 2nd year funding), a system called ‘CRIS’ is used.   
 
The Lincolnshire wide Homelessness Strategy 2017 – 2021 provides the strategy context for rough 
sleeping for the South Kesteven area Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017 - 2021 
 
Lincolnshire wide rough sleeping strategy, currently subject to stakeholder consultation 

Who is Sleeping Rough? 
Please provide a profile of rough sleepers in your area; numbers, support needs and demographics; 

171

mailto:roughsleepinginitiative@communities.gov.uk
mailto:c.bown@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3448&p=0


2 
 

Category Detail Numbers/description 

Street Count 2018 Estimate/ Count 12 

2017 count/estimate 13 

Person Specific – at 
the street count or 
on a ‘typical’ night in 
your area  

Gender Male:  11 Female: 1 

Ethnicity White: 12 

Age 16 – 25: 0 25 - 59: 12 60+: 0 

Nationality/Immigration status UK: 9 EU: 3 Other: 0 

Entrenched/revolving door Y 

Short term/intermittent Y 

Misc. couples, pets etc. Y 

Not known (with reasons why) N/A 
 
 

Primary Support 
Needs of above (as 
far as is known)  

Drugs/Alcohol Y 

Mental Heath Y 

Other Health Y 

Institutional history (care, prison, 
armed forces) 

Y 

Area Connections of 
above  

Local Connection to your LA Y 

England  Y 

UK (other than England)  Y 

NON- UK Y 

Not known  N/A 

Service plans for 
above  

How many have a Single Service 
Plan/Multi Agency Plan in place? 

 

How is the above 
info collected? 

e.g. single integrated case management system 
One single integrated case management system is used for the collation of 
this data.  It is called ‘The Avenue’ and operated by Lincolnshire County 
Council. 

How many single homeless people are there in your area? 

Count of a total of 20 across the 4 district areas (NKDC 1; SKDC 6; SHDC 12; WLDC 1) and a total 

cohort of 80. The 80 figure is the approximate number that you will be engaging with over the 

course of 20/21.  

The number of rough sleepers is anticipated to increase to 36 without the interventions in this 

proposal. An added pressure is that the housing support service is being decommissioned by 

Lincolnshire County Council in July 2020 and the outreach service in April 2021 (although the service 

will, in practical terms, taper off as vacated posts will be difficult to fill in 20/21). These issues will 

lead to further increase without proactive intervention. So without additional funding and resulting 

from decommissioning, the figure will be 144. 

What are/is the top (3) challenge(s) to reducing your rough sleeping population? 

 
The 2019 Rough Sleeper count identified 20 rough sleepers across the 4 authorities. This ‘snapshot ‘ 
supports the Authorities’ view that the rough sleeping cohort is up to 80 individuals , comprising new, 
entrenched and returning rough sleepers who are rough sleeping due to changing or challenging 
personal circumstances, inability to afford , access or sustain suitable accommodation.  
 
The figure is an increase on the previous year’s count and the partnership faces significant challenges 
to successfully reduce and ultimately prevent rough sleeping going forward.  
 

172



3 
 

The area faces issues, such as the availability of single person accommodation (Council, private 
registered providers and private renting) and affordability pressures which are particularly acute in 
Stamford (in the South Kesteven District) exacerbated by external factors. These include the proximity 
to Peterborough, Lincoln and other urban centres with significant rough sleeping, and the East Coast 
main line runs through the South Kesteven District. Some of the rough sleepers in the South Kesteven 
area are people who have had to leave the train due to fare non-payment. 
 
The partnership is also acutely aware that existing rough sleeping initiatives (P3 street outreach 
funding will be ending in March 2021, and Lincolnshire County Council Floating Support and 
Supported Accommodation is currently under procurement with a significantly reduced budget.  
 
Therefore without further investment to replace this provision, rough sleeping will only increase. As 
such the ‘do nothing’ option is not an option.  
 
The three key challenges are;  

 
1. Securing emergency access to safe to stay/supported accommodation- there is no direct 

access emergency accommodation within the 4 authorities’ area and we are reliant on 
external provision (Lincoln Night Shelter and Pathways Provision). Not only is there a capacity 
issue with this accommodation, as it is in high demand by rough sleepers in Lincoln, rough 
sleepers are frequently reluctant to travel to these locations to secure a bed space.  
 

2. Securing access to longer term single person accommodation – there are challenges in 
securing accommodation with partners and in particular the private rented sector for rough 
sleepers without appropriate guarantees and support.  
 

3. Rough Sleeper access and engagement with appropriate support agencies to improve health 
outcomes for rough sleepers (e.g. drug/alcohol addiction, mental health, physical health 
support) 
and to contribute to sustainable tenancies  

 

Any information on routes to the street for your rough sleepers 
Have you identified opportunities for upstream prevention? 

Causes of rough sleeping are usually either a relationship breakdown or eviction from supported or 
private rented accommodation. Loss of employment, particularly those employed on 0 hours 
contracts can be a root cause of homelessness for EU nationals sleeping rough.   
 
NKDC: 
 

• North Kesteven has operated a limited ‘call before you serve’ early warning arrangement with 
Registered Provider Partners and has promoted it extensively with private sector landlords. The 
partnership is keen to roll out the arrangement across its area.   

• Cold Weather Fund bid has been submitted for £10,000 by North Kesteven and the other partner 
authorities are looking at submitting a bid. 

 
South Holland:  
 

• Proactive work with employers within the district would enable the council to promote education 
for those leaving employment to ensure they claim appropriate assistance to retain their worker 
status/sustain employment. 

• Increased partnership working with DWP to promote longer term housing options planning. A 
number of UC claimants are taking advance payments due to the delays in processing their claim. 
Once their claim is live the on-going deductions impact on affordability for accessing privately 
rented and some social accommodation. This has the greatest impact on those under 25.  

• Lack of early intervention with Private Sector landlords. The availability of HMO accommodation 
in the district is high and easily accessible to those who are working. Where employment is 

173



4 
 

 

disrupted, accommodation appears to be quickly ended by either the tenant or the landlord. 
Additional resources to promote tenancy sustainment in the private sector would reduce the 
number of people at risk of being street homeless.   

 
WLDC: 
 

• 2 x letting agents (including the main one) are now referring persons at risk of homelessness 

• 3 x Registered Providers are referring customers who are at risk of court action 

• Vulnerable Adult Panel, ASBRAC and Neighbourhood Network Teams identifying persons who  
are at risk of losing tenancies 

• Neighbourhood Network Teams who are in place and are focusing on repeat hospital  
admissions for people who are not receiving appropriate clinical assistance. 

• Working with voluntary sector to identify persons at risk and refer in to the local authority.   

• Private rented support officer engaging with landlords to ensure any available properties 
are directly matched. 

• We operate a risk matrix to determine how much money is given for certain customers for RIA 
and deposit.   The riskier they are the more money can be given to a landlord.  

• Direct payments of UC for appropriate customers have seen a bigger engagement from landlords. 
 
SKDC: 
 

• Negotiation with landlords e.g. agreeing a payment plan for rent arrears; liaison between the 
tenant and landlord in respect of any disputes, etc. 

• Loans/grants for an applicant, through our Homelessness Prevention Fund to clear rent arrears 

• Reasonable preference banding on our Housing Register and offers/nominations from our waiting 
list 

• Property adaptations to make their current property suitable/future proof 

• Assistance through our Rent Deposit Scheme into suitable alternative accommodation 

• Signposting of clients to appropriate support providers – such as CASL for financial advice, P3 for 
tenancy support, Adult Services for access to care, EDAN Lincs for advice regarding domestic 
abuse, etc. 

• Advising clients to apply for help with their housing costs, through benefits – UCHE and DHPs (if 
there has been a change in circumstances) 

• Referrals to supported accommodation, if client needed additional help within a tenancy 

• Additional security measure installations to allow clients to remain in their current homes. 
 

Funding 
Current expenditure and source of funding to reduce rough sleeping/support rough sleepers 
including from sources other than MHCLG. 

Across all of Lincolnshire: 

• Lincolnshire County Council funding for P3 Housing Related Support services until July 2020 
and Street Outreach Service until March 2021. 

• Social Impact Bond (ACTion Lincs Project) 

• P3 Re-connection service  
 
SKDC received an allocation of £35,000 through the second round of the Rough Sleeping Initiative. 
 

SKDC: 

• Rent deposit and bond payments – £18080.55 

• General prevention payments - £17502.38 

• Sanctuary scheme payments - £390.54 

• Backdated housing benefit payments – £14984.56 

• DHP payments - £117223.74 (April 2019 to date) 

174



5 
 

• New burdens funding - £27,536              

• Flexible support grant - £198,226            
 
NKDC:  
 
NKDC does not currently have any specific funding for rough sleeping prevention and support 
activities, but utilises other prevention budgets and tools as with other cases at risk of homelessness. 
 

• £12k on rent in advance and deposit guarantee 

• £10k on general prevention payments 

• £10k sanctuary scheme 

• NKDC DHP allocation - £113,943 – administered by HB service used 

• 12K on NKDC Homeless prevention grant 

• £18,115K on NKDC new burdens funding 

• £139, 970 on NKDC Flexible support grant 

• 2018/19 – £60k remodelled temporary accommodation provision for 5 units shared 
accommodation improved ability to use powers to accommodate rather than just duties, 
2020-21 £60k proposal for another 5 unit provision to meet need in north of district 

• Winter 2019/20 NKDC has submitted a cold weather fund submission for £10k to assist up 
to 10 potential rough sleepers in NK (based on evidence from previous years) 

 
SHDC: 
 
SHDC does not currently have any specific funding for rough sleeping activity. Prevention budgets 
and tools have been deployed as follows (year to date).  

• £24k on rent in advance and deposit guarantees. 

• £1k on general prevention activities. 

• £36k DHP payments for activities related to preventing homelessness. 

• New burdens funding of £65,987 (used for additional Officer Resource). 

• Flexible Homelessness support grant £23,700 (used for additional Officer Resource).  

• SHDC has submitted a cold weather fund application for £20k to assist up to 6 entrenched 
rough sleepers in the district based on evidence from our previous counts. 

• LCC funding for P3 Housing Related Support services until July 2020 and Street Outreach 
Service until March 2021. 

• Social Impact Bond (ACTion Lincs Project). 

• P3 Re-connection service. 

• £23k Debt Advisor for Citizens Advice. 
 
WLDC: 
 
WLDC are using DHP and charitable funds as well as their homeless prevention budget. 
Spend in 2018/19: 

• £27, 124 on rent in advance and £19,197.46 on rent arrears 

• £27,818 has been spent from the homeless prevention budget 

• £13,949.19 from DHP or backdated housing benefit 

• £4553.59 from external charitable funding 
 

Forecast RSI and RRP underspend for 2019/20 

• How much of your allocation(s) for this financial year will be unspent as of 31st March 2020? 

£35K total allocation for SKDC 

Project started 1st August and will have been in place for 8 months by end of March 2020. 

35K/12 = £2916.66 monthly cost 

175



6 
 

£2916.66 x 8 months = £23,333.33 

Leaving £11667.67 unspent. 
 

Existing Services 
Outline existing services available to rough sleepers in your local area.  This should include e.g. 
outreach services, day centre, night shelter, floating support, hostel accommodation, specialist 
support, emergency response teams and preventive work. 

Service  Capacity/coverage/client 

group  

Proposed Service Provider and/or 

Commissioning Process and 

Timescales 

LCC Floating Support Lincolnshire wide for 

homeless people; those at 

risk of homelessness and 

people who need tenancy 

sustainment assistance. 

The capacity for both the 

floating support and street 

outreach is 381 placements 

within the service and 1674 

hours of support per week. 

In partnership with P3 (commissioned 

until July 2020) 

LCC Street Outreach Lincolnshire wide to find 

and support any rough 

sleepers. 

In partnership with P3 (commissioned 

until March 2021) 

LCC Supported 

Accommodation 

Lincolnshire wide to 

accommodate anyone in 

need of supported 

accommodation (who fulfil 

the criteria of each place). 

Capacity of service units 

across the whole of 

Lincolnshire is: 

Emergency – 53 

Non-emergency - 219 

In partnership with various registered 

providers (commissioned until July 

2020) 

Lincs ACTion Project  Social Impact Bond (commissioned 

until March 2021) 

Nightshelter, Lincoln For persons with a local 

connection to Lincoln 

primarily.   Able to provide 

accommodation for persons 

at risk of homelessness  

YMCA - Nomad, Lincoln (on going) 

Pathways, Lincoln Rough sleepers – 

commissioned by Public 

Framework 

176



7 
 

Health to provide urgent 

accommodation for people 

at risk of rough sleeping. 

Bala House, Grantham 

(SKDC) (non –direct 

access) 

Low to medium support 

needs 

Axiom 

Nacro, Grantham (SKDC) 

(non-direct access) 

Ex-offenders (low to 

medium support needs) 

Nacro 

Advance Housing, 

Grantham (SKDC) 

Mental ill health needs Advance 

My Space, Avenue Rd, 

Grantham (SKDC) 

Longer term self – 

contained housing 

My Space 

Shared accommodation, 

Commercial Road, 

Grantham (SKDC) 

Single homeless people Boston Mayflower (on lease) in 

partnership with SKDC. 

Nightshelter, Grantham 

(SKDC) (from 6th Jan 2020 

for limited time over 

winter). 

Rough sleepers Churches Together, Grantham 

Free food and advice 

services, Grantham, 

Stamford and Bourne 

(SKDC) 

Homeless people and 

people on a low income. 

Grantham Poverty Concern, St.Mary’s 

Church, Stamford, St.George’s Church, 

Stamford, Salvation Army, Bourne 

NLC Food Larder, Sleaford 

(NKDC) 

 New Life Church. Ongoing. 

NLC Once week meal, 

Sleaford (NKDC) 

 New Life Church.  Ongoing 

Framework 

Accommodation (not 

direct access) (SHDC) 

Rowan House, 2 The 

Meadows, Spalding, PE11 

1XR. 

Anley House, St Matthews 

Drive, Holbeach. 

Emergency and non-

emergency waiting list. 

However, placements are 

limited and applicants can 

be waiting for a significant 

period of time before a 

placement is made. 

Framework Housing Association 

Lighthouse (non-

commissioned service) 

(SHDC) 

Supported accommodation 

for 16-25 year olds and 

Mother & Baby unit. 

Lighthouse 

177



8 
 

Mother & Baby facility, 78 

St Thomas Rd, Spalding, 

PE11 2XT 

Move on accommodation- 

Carisford House, 66 St 

Thomas Road, Spalding, 

PE11 2XT. 

Market Rasen House  

Supported 

Accommodation (WLDC) 

20 bed spaces Commissioned to end of June 2022 

Supported 

accommodation – HATS, 

Gainsborough (WLDC) 

Low needs people who are 
unable to manage a tenancy 
30 bed spaces in shared 

properties of 2 or 3 bed 

houses 

HATS 

Private rented support 

officer (WLDC) 

Case load of 15 at present Contract until Sept 2022.  Aimed at 

identifying persons at risk of 

homelessness early and signposting to 

appropriate services.  Assisting 

landlords to assist their tenants. 

X Church, Gainsborough 

(WLDC 

Provides 1 reduced cost 

meal twice a week as well as 

links into peer support 

workers who can assist with 

signposting to other 

services.   

Café open three days a 

week with reduced cost 

food. 

Ongoing 

Voluntary Peer link 

workers (WLDC) 

Voluntary Peer link workers.  

People with low level 

mental health needs who 

struggle to work, maintain a 

tenancy and unsure of what 

to do.   

Ongoing 

Riverside Training 

Affordable Food (WLDC) Lower cost food and 1 hot 

meal per week plus 

volunteer peer support 

workers 

 

Ongoing – Affordable Foods 

Gainsborough.  Social Enterprise 

within Gainsborough providing 

support and food  

 

178



9 
 

How is your rough sleeper service integrated into the statutory response to homelessness through 
the Homelessness Reduction Act? What actions would help to improve a combined approach to 
reduce rough sleeping? 

56 day relief duty is given to eligible rough sleepers via advice (including a Personal Housing Plan) 
plus accommodation for those in priority need. In addition, referrals are made to LCC commissioned 
supported accommodation provision. 
 
SWEP is implemented when there are 3 consecutive days of ‘feels like’ 0 or below freezing.  In 
addition, it is implemented when there are extreme weather conditions, eg. heavy rain and gale 
force winds. 
 
Funding for direct, emergency accommodation together with an increase in long term 
accommodation for single, homeless people and continued floating and tenancy sustainment 
support, would help to improve the combined approach to reduce rough sleeping. 
 
An Increase in housing benefit subsidy would increase homeless prevention budgets to assist with 
rough sleeping and more support from DWP to access rural communities. 

Gaps in provision 

• Outline the gaps in provision that prevent you from reducing rough sleeping 

• Outline any blockages / pinch points in your pathway and the activity required to unblock 

 
The gaps in the provision are :-  
 

• There is no direct access to safe emergency accommodation within the 4 authorities area 
The direct access provision is situated in Lincoln and Peterborough. There is a high local 
demand for this accommodation and rough sleepers from the 4 authorities are reluctant to 
/decline to travel to these locations if accommodation is available.  The provision also has 
criteria which often restricts people with higher support needs in accessing it. 
 

• Access to suitable and affordable settled accommodation is significantly restricted due to 
the  lack of extend rent guarantee funding because of the client group  
 

• The level of outreach and tenancy support services to sustain emergency, temporary and 
long term accommodation.  Access to support services is difficult due to the area being 
largely rural and the lack of public transport. 

 
o P3 Street Outreach funding expires 31/3/2021. This fact and the reality that case officers 

are likely to seek alternative accommodation prior to the end of the contract, will 
significantly impact on capacity to support Rough Sleepers.  

 
o Current tenancy sustainment for Rough Sleepers and those at risk.  in the form of LCC 

procured floating support and supported accommodation workers  is currently out to 
procurement with an anticipated reduced service from July 2020 because of the reduced 
budget  

 

• Reluctance of some private landlords to let properties to homeless people on Universal 
Credit/Housing Benefit and poor credit history/debt problems. 

• Reluctance of some private registered providers to let to homeless people with low 
disposable income. 

• Rents above Local Housing Allowance rate and in some districts up to 4 different LHA rates 
that vary considerably. 

• Migrant workers moving in and out of employment without informed support and advice. 

• An emerging ‘at risk’ cohort of people who are currently housed but lose their habitual 
residence when switching over from legacy benefits to Universal Credit. 

179



10 
 

• Lack of liaison between private sector landlords, tenants and the council. A Landlord Liaison 
Line with a dedicated Tenancy Relations Officer would be of benefit to support landlords 
who may consider they have no option but to serve notice. Where advice and intervention 
could remove the risk of homelessness by ensuring the tenure is put back on track would 
ensure effective prevention against an ‘at risk’ cohort.  

• Demand for scarce supported accommodation placements means that need outstrips 
supply. Therefore applicants who are given ‘emergency status’ often experience long waits 
to access accommodation. Applicants may only access accommodation where they are 
eligible. 

• Where accommodation is provided outside of the main district centres,  
applicants find it extremely challenging to access services and it is not uncommon for 

applicants to give up accommodation and opt to sleep rough where access to health and 

support services is required. It is not uncommon for applicants to do this in search of 

employment. 

What is/is not working well for you currently (if applicable; in particular from your current RSI / 
RRP funding) and what impact has this had?   

• What is working well? 

• What lessons have you learnt from previous interventions/funding rounds? 

Working Well:  
 

• The outreach service has been effective in engaging with rough sleepers.  

• Clear pathways and partnerships across Lincolnshire however they are restricted by the 
availability and accessibility due to the size/geography of the area   

• South Kesteven, Boston, Lincoln and East Lindsey rapid rehousing and rough sleeper 
initiatives have proved effective in reducing rough sleeping so the partnership is keen to 
build upon this success with this proposal and provide a consistent service across 
Lincolnshire  

 
Working well from the SKDC RSI funding: 

• Access to private rental accommodation has improved due to the support given to the 
landlords as well as the tenant. The success so far will help to bring private rented landlords 
on side and develop this further as a landlord incentive offer. 

• Additional help with accessing social and supported accommodation. 

• The revolving door scenario has reduced. 
 
Lessons Learnt:  

 

• The importance of outreach services and tenancy sustainment  

• The need to explore further the issues and circumstances that have caused rough sleeping 
with rough sleepers to tailor prevention and support measures to maximise effectiveness 

• The need to augment the existing outreach service with additional activities  

• The need for direct access provision situated more locally to where rough sleeping occurs 

• The need to engage with landlords and offer enhanced financial and support arrangement 
guarantees for them to accept clients with greater risk.  

• The need for coverage across the entirety of Lincolnshire building on the existing successes 
 

Latest Rough Sleeping Strategy Action Plan  

• Do you have a homelessness strategy that includes reducing and preventing rough sleeping?  

• Please provide your strategy and action plan, or a link to where it can be found   

• Yes and priority one “Protect” includes tackling rough sleeping. 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017 - 2021 

• Lincolnshire wide rough sleeping strategy, currently subject to stakeholder consultation 
 

180

http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/CHttpHandler.ashx?id=3448&p=0


11 
 

 

Section 2: Proposals for MHCLG funding 

Outline your funding proposal for the 2020/21 financial year. Please clearly demonstrate that your 
key partners are bought into your proposals and agree that they are deliverable. 
 

If applicable: Which of the interventions that MHCLG currently funds would require continuation 
of funding? How would you change/tweak these interventions to optimise their effectiveness? 

• If you believe that your existing interventions are performing optimally please evidence this. 

• Explain clearly how and why proposed changes to interventions would make a positive impact. 

• If any of your existing interventions require an uplift in funding please explain what the 
additionality is. 

• Would any of your interventions benefit from being focussed more on prevention or recovery? 

• Are there any interventions that you would want to stop doing? 

SKDC 1 x Intensive Support Worker @ £35,000 

• Always a full case load (up to 10 people) and waiting list (3 – 4 people at any given time) 

• Intensive Support makes a positive impact by reducing the Revolving Door scenarios and 
sustained accommodation plus no re-referrals – demonstrating successful intervention. 

• SKDC covers a large geographical area, which is mostly rural (country roads and time consuming 
to make journeys) – affecting number of people who can be supported.  Need a further support 
worker in addition to current worker due to this, as always has a waiting list. 

• Referrals currently made to alternative agencies eg. Citizens Advice when instead, they really 
need to see an intensive support worker. 

• Both prevention and recovery interventions are needed. 

• All interventions still very much needed. 
 
Additionality - a further 1 x Intensive Support Worker @ £35,000 
There is consistently always a waiting list for the Intensive Support Worker.  An additional worker 
would be able to take on this case load plus the anticipated extra amount of rough sleepers. 
 

How could additional funding meet these gaps and have an immediate impact? 

• Please make reference to the Toolkit, attached separately. 

• Identify how services could be in place to prevent/reduce rough sleeping by Spring 2020 
(assumption that it takes at least 3 months to recruit suitable staff etc. from the point at which 
funding is confirmed). 

• Please quantify the impact you expect this additional funding to have (number of successful 
prevention or relief outcomes you expect to have). 

 As identified, the area has a cohort of approximately 80 rough sleepers. The basis of our proposal is 
to secure sufficient resources to deliver a coordinated and coherent approach to address the issue 
of rough sleeping.  
 
This approach is firmly rooted in prevention with robust and effective prevention activities to be 
delivered by core housing options services in each partner authority , enhanced by the proposed roll 
out of ‘call before you serve’ arrangements. 
  
Where rough sleeping cannot be prevented, our proposal is to deliver fluid response services 

deployed across 4 district geographical areas in a four stage pathway. This is summarised as:   

1. Identification  

• Identifying and engaging with rough sleepers 

• The provision of a responsive service on the basis of a no longer than 6 hour  

(acknowledging the geography of the area) response time to reports of rough 

sleeping. 

  

181



12 
 

2. Alleviation  

• Alleviate immediate issues  

o Increase provision and improve access to emergency accommodation.  This 

is to include a partnership with a private registered provider for this 

provision and let the accommodation on licence as temporary 

accommodation. Staffing for this is part of this bid (see ‘proposed staffing 

provision’ section). 

o SWEP provision through a combination of Local Authorities temporary 

accommodation stock; B&Bs and Community Halls across the districts will 

be used where there are hotspot needs.  ‘SWEP battle boxes’ will be used.  

These would have all the basics to set up a night shelter which can be 

obtained from any of the participating Local Authorities.  The Rough 

Sleeping Coordinator would have a remit of engaging the voluntary/church 

groups to be able to be mobilised depending on need. 

o Work with partner agencies who provide supported accommodation to 

ensure they can be accessed easier.    

o Secure access to a physical health professional  

o Award personalised budgets e.g. payment of transport expenses to get to 

accommodation 

3. Accommodation /Local Lettings and Support Lettings 

• Improve Rough Sleeper access to settled accommodation by;  

o Developing local letting arrangements 

o Setting up a rent top up fund linked to differences in the Local Housing 

Allowance Rate and current private sector market, acknowledging that 

private sector landlords frequently require a premium to accommodate 

this cohort 

o Set up a guarantee rent scheme for up to 12 months 

o Set up a damage protection scheme  

• We anticipate this will result in 40% of the cohort (32 people) will be housed using 

tenancies secured in the private sector. 

4. Support  

• Build on the anticipated reduced LCC tenancy sustainment/floating support 

services to maximise rough sleepers ability to sustain their tenancy and ensure 

ongoing access and engagement with appropriate support services  

To achieve this – 
 
 

1. Proposed Staffing Provision 

1 x FTE  Co-ordinator/Navigator @ £40,000 
Hosted by South Kesteven District Council but working across the 4 authority areas this role 
will have a strategic overview of rough sleeping and will work closely with key partners and 
stakeholders (including their equivalents in Lincoln and Peterborough) to reduce rough 
sleeping within the four district areas.  This role is particularly important because a 
significant proportion of service delivery is commissioned through Lincolnshire County 
Council and this can result in the client/commissioner relationship being more detached 
from the districts than is ideal. 
 

182



13 
 

• To ensure compliance with the Governments Rough Sleeper Strategy as well as the 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy and the objectives of the Rough Sleeper Initiative 
funding bid. 

 

• To ensure accurate and up to date information is held about each person sleeping 
rough within the district areas. 

 

• The role will develop solutions and interventions through the use of problem-solving 
and collaborative working with a range of partner agencies. Solutions will be designed 
to ensure rough sleeping issues are understood more widely with the aim of 
preventing and reducing the number of people who find themselves roofless. 

 

• To allocate and direct resources across the 4 districts with the ability to swiftly move 
resources to respond to identified need in the different localities. 

 

• To establish a co-ordinated local voluntary sector response for each district. 
 

• To ensure local provision is in conjunction with others within Lincolnshire. 
 

• The co-ordinator will report into the senior service managers in the 4 districts.  
 

4 x FTE Outreach Worker(s) @ £120,000 

To support the Councils within the four district areas of NKDC, SKDC, SHDC, WLDC to 

reduce and prevent rough sleeping, the Outreach Workers will: 

• Respond to reports of rough sleeping 

• Provide housing related support to people at risk of rough sleeping and those recently 

rehoused from the street or short-term accommodation.  

• Develop detailed action plans with service users, which assist them to: 

o maintain their tenancy/licence 

o access appropriate and timely support from a range of agencies 

o maximise their income and reduce any debts 

o support clients to build independence and become more involved in their 

community. 

• Ensure accurate and up to date information is held about each person at risk of 

sleeping rough within the district and those that have recently been rehoused 

4 x FTE Supported Lettings Officers  @ £120,000 

• To engage with rough sleepers who have been accommodated  

• To identify issues and support them with their tenancy  

• To assist in ensuring clients secure entitled benefits  

1 x FTE Physical health professional @ £50,000 

• To respond to immediate rough sleeper health needs  

• To alleviate physical health concerns and ensure access to appropriate health 

facilities  

 

183



14 
 

2. Proposed Funding for Improving Access to Accommodation  

Rent Top Ups for Improved Access to Private Rented £31,200 

• £30 per client per week - LHA rate top up    £1560 per client per annum estimated  

for 20 clients  

 

Rent Guarantee Scheme  £ 50,000 

• Rent guarantee estimated at £5000 per client for estimated 20 clients  

Enhanced Bond Payments  £30,000 

• (£1500 per bond for 20 tenancies) 

Emergency Access Accommodation £30,000 

Replication of successful ELDC model - private registered provider involvement to support 

current absence of council accommodation, remodel into shared units - this links 

Lincolnshire provision @ £30,000 

3. Proposed Funding for Rough Sleeper Support  @£6000 

Personal budget and transport costs.  Top up to existing budgets £150 per client for estimated 40 

clients  

Specialist Roles and Provision: 
 
2 x FTE Intensive Support Workers @ £70,000 
 
Target driven workers to support the four partner council’s specific aims, i.e. prevention of rough 
sleeping through those identified as prison leavers, care leavers, those with employment issues, drug 
or alcohol or those in need of specialist benefit and debt advice.  
 
To provide intensive support, advice or education to those leaving prison, care or employment or 
those facing challenges with drug or alcohol, benefits or debt issues. Requirements would be 
specifically defined to meet the needs of each local authority area. (Learning could be lifted and 
shifted to all participating authority areas, or specialisms required to deliver cross district working)   
 
Develop detailed action plans with service users, which assist them to: 

• maintain their tenancy/licence 

• access appropriate and timely support from a range of agencies 

• maximise their income and reduce any debts 

• retain or seek alternative employment 

• support clients to build independence and become more involved in their community. 
 
2 x FTE Local Lettings Officers @ £60,000 
A dedicated free telephone service for private landlords operating across the four districts. One of 
the district councils will host the officer.  
 
Provision of a specialist landlord advice line specifically for landlords who are considering taking 
enforcement action against people who may be threatened with rough sleeping within the four 
district areas of NKDC, SKDC, SHDC, WLDC. 
 
Specific advice and guidance to be provided for landlords and tenants needing support with: 
 

184



15 
 

• rent arrears 

• mediation 

• communication issues 

• help and advice 

• recovering possession legally  

• DHP applications 

• Negotiating repayment arrangements 

• Protecting and register deposits  
 
Total - £607,200 

Impact of Funding  

The funding will achieve homeless prevention, reduction and health benefits to ensure compliance 
with the Governments Rough Sleeper Strategy, the Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy and the 
objectives of the Rough Sleeper Initiative funding bid. 
 
The funding of the bid will have a positive impact on Lincoln as well as it may stop some level of 
gravitation towards the city. 

What are the risks associated with your proposals detailed above and what are your proposed 
mitigations? 

 
The overarching risk is the commencement of service delivery on April 1st 2020. Partners are 
confident that the correct mitigation of key risks are in place and have commenced preparatory work 
‘at risk’ :  
 

1. Timely Recruitment of Personnel 
 

o Partners are reviewing existing capacity and potential secondment opportunities of existing 
personnel  

o Early discussions have commenced with Human Resources Teams to gear up for prompt 
recruitment of additional personnel needed immediately if we receive notification of a 
successful allocation of funding 

 
2. Provision of Accommodation  

 

o Partners have commenced the identification of potentially suitable accommodation with 
their existing housing stock for potentially suitable accommodation  

 
o Initial discussions are being held with a Registered Provider seeking to replicate the 

successful model with East Lindsey District Council. 
 

3. Effective Delivery of Outcomes 
 
Due to the current uncertainty with commissioned providers, this proposal will be local 
authority lead and delivered (rather than delivery contracted to a third party). This will 
ensure the correct and consistent strategic oversight whilst working in partnership with the 
other authorities in Lincolnshire currently in receipt of Rough Sleeper funding as well as our 
statutory and voluntary established partnerships.  

 

Please estimate the reduction in your 2020 annual rough sleeping return (count or estimate) on 
the assumption that MHCLG awards full funding for your above proposal. 

 

• It is estimated that funding this proposal will reduce the rough sleeping count for November 
2020 to 15 and to be reduced further by March 2021 to 12.  This reduction is within the context 

185



16 
 

of likely increases to the overall number of rough sleepers that will require our services due to 
the reductions in existing provision. 

 
This outcome will be achieved by ;  

• Increase prevention of those at risk of rough sleeping  

• Reduce the number of ‘repeat’ rough sleepers  

• Reduce the number of rough sleepers that are likely to become entrenched  

• Improve physical and mental health and wellbeing  

• Greater levels of effective support in settled accommodation  
 

 

186



17 
 

Section 3: Delivery Plan 

Use the below template to detail milestones and deliverables, costs and timescales for your funding proposal. Please ensure that your key/prospective partners are bought into 
your proposals and agree that they are deliverable. Delivery dates should be based on the assumption that allocations will be confirmed in January. The below examples are 
purely illustrative, we expect more detail to be included than below. 
 
 

Rough Sleeping Initiative Delivery Plan  

 Lead Local Authority South Kesteven District Council 
 

Outputs (Please detail expected milestones and 
deliverables required to make each element operational) 

Cost (Not applicable to all 
outputs) 

Delivery Date (not 
applicable to all outputs)  

Comments  (as appropriate) 
 

Revenue 
(egg. 

training, 
staffing) 

Capital (e.g. 
equipment 
purchase) 

Intervention 1: 
Rough Sleeper 
Co-Ordinator 

1 x FTE Rough Sleeper Co-ordinator/Navigator salary (including 
recruitment; training; expenses etc) 

£40,000 N/A 01/04/2020  

     

     

      

Intervention 2: 
Street Outreach 

4 x FTE Outreach Workers recruitment salary (including 
recruitment; training; expenses etc) 

£120,000 N/A 01/04/2020  

Rough Sleeper support – personalisation pot £6000 N/A 01/04/2020  

     

      

Intervention 3: 
Specialist Support 

1 x FTE Physical Health Professional salary (including 
recruitment; training; expenses etc) £50,000  N/A  01/04/2020   

 2 x FTE Intensive Support Workers salary (including recruitment; 
training; expenses etc). 

£70,000   N/A 01/04/2020   

  
     

Intervention 4: 
Access to 

Emergency 
Accommodation 

Emergency Access Accommodation N/A £30,000 01/04/2020  

     

     

 
 
  

     

Rent Top Ups for Improved Access to Private Rented £31,200  01/04/2020 
£30 per client per week - LHA rate top up. 

187



18 
 

Intervention 5: 
Securing longer 

term 
accommodation  

£1560 per client per annum estimated  for 20 clients  

Rent Guarantee Scheme £50,000  01/04/2020 

Rent guarantee estimated at £5000 per client for estimated 20 clients.  Assuming 50% (given 

vulnerability of client group) needs to be set aside so £50k requested. 

 

Enhanced Bond Payments £30,000  01/04/2020 

(£1500 per bond for 20 tenancies) 

 

 2 x FTE Local Lettings Officers salary (including recruitment; 
training; expenses etc) 

 £60,000  N/A  01/04/2020   

      

Intervention 6: 
Supported 

Lettings (Tenancy 
Sustainment) 

     

4 x FTE Supported Lettings Officers salary (including recruitment 
training; expenses etc) 

£120,000 N/A 01/04/2020  

     

     

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

188



 
 

CABINET MEMBER 
DECISION 

 
 
Decision:    
 
That approval is granted for South Kesteven District Council to be the lead Authority 
for the awarded Rough Sleeper Initiative year 3 funding, both in terms of financial 
administration and recruitment of staff to the project, when working in partnership 
with South Holland District Council, West Lindsey District Council and North 
Kesteven District Council. 
 
(1) Details of Decision 

 
 To seek approval for South Kesteven District Council to be the Lead Authority 

when working in partnership with South Holland District Council, West 
Lindsey District Council and North Kesteven District Council to receive and 
manage the awarded Ministry of Housing Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) funding through the Rough Sleeping Initiative 
programme.   
 

(2) Considerations/Evidence 
 

 MHCLG advertised an opportunity to bid for the Rough Sleeper Initiative 
(RSI) funding.  A bid was submitted, in December 2019, as a result of the rise 
in the number of rough sleepers in the South Kesteven area.  The number 
has the potential to rise even more, as experienced across the rest of the 
county and the UK.  The funding is to prevent rough sleeping and not just to 
assist those persons currently sleeping rough.  Details of how the funding will 
be utilised is detailed in the attached appendix. The bid was submitted in 
partnership with three other Lincolnshire Local Authorities. The partnership 
consists of South Kesteven District Council; North Kesteven District Council; 
South Holland District Council and West Lindsey District Council. 
 
The number of rough sleepers is anticipated to increase to 36 people across 
the 4 areas over the next year which could be avoided with the RSI funding. 
An added pressure is that the housing support service is being 
decommissioned by Lincolnshire County Council in July 2020 and the 
outreach service in April 2021.   These services provide supported 
accommodation and outreach workers to liaise directly with street homeless 
individuals. The decommissioning of these services will, highly likely, lead to 
a further increase of people sleeping rough, especially without proactive 
intervention.   
 
The four Local Authorities will have bi-monthly meetings with a MHCLG 

189



 

representative.  MHCLG also requires that South Kesteven District Council 
submits bi-monthly statistical returns, on a count/estimate, of rough sleepers, 
taking into account all rough sleepers across the four local authority areas. 
 
The four Councils will have regular discussions regarding the budget, what 
works and doesn’t work well, and how best to distribute resources and 
funding. 
 

(3) Reasons for Decision: 
 

 To reduce the risk of the rise of the amount of people sleeping rough across 

the four districts.   

 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
(Any conflict of interest declared by any other Cabinet Member consulted in 
relation to the decision to be recorded). 
 
None 
 
Dispensations 
 
(Any dispensation granted by the Monitoring Officer in respect of any declared 
conflict of interest to be noted). 
 
None 
 
Decision taken by: 
 
Name: Councillor Robert Reid 
Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
 
Date of Decision: 03 September 2020 
 
Date of Publication of Record of Decision: 04 September 2020 
 
Date decision effective (i.e. 5 days after the date of publication of record of 
decision unless subject to call-in by the Chairman of an Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee or any 5 members of the Council from any political groups): 
 
14 September 2020  

190



 

 

 

Cabinet 

13 October 2020 

Report of: Councillor Kelham Cooke 

  The Leader of the Council 

         
  

 

Cabinet Forward Plan for the period 1 November 2020 
to 31 October 2021 

This report highlights matters on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan for the period 1 November 2020 to 31 
October 2021. 

 

 

Report Author 

Jo Toomey, Head of Governance 

Tel: 01476 406152 

Email: j.toomey@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

Corporate Priority: Decision type: Wards: 

Administrative Administrative All Wards 

 

Reviewed by: Julie Edwards, Elections Team Leader 25 September 2020 

Approved by: Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 5 October 2020 

Signed off by: Councillor Kelham Cooke, The Leader of the Council 5 October 2020  

 

Recommendation (s) to the decision maker (s) 

1. It is recommended that the Cabinet notes the contents of this report. 

191

Agenda Item 12

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


 
 

 
1.1 The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 

(England) Regulations 2012 set out the minimum requirements for publicity in connection 

with Key Decisions. The Council meets these legislative requirements through the monthly 

publication of its Forward Plan. 

1.2 Cabinet may also receive reports on which it is asked to make recommendations to Council, 

or review the contents and take necessary action. These items are also listed on the 

Forward Plan. 

1.3 To help Cabinet understand what issues will be put before it in the longer-term, items for 

consideration during the proceeding year have been included in the Cabinet’s Forward Plan. 

The Forward Plan also includes details of items scheduled for each of the Council meetings 

due to be held within the plan period. 

1.4 The Forward Plan for 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2021 is attached as Appendix 1. 

 

 

192



 
 
 

 
 

CABINET FORWARD PLAN 
 Notice of decisions to be made by Cabinet  

1 November 2020 to 31 October 2021 
 

 
At its meetings, the Cabinet may make Key Decisions and Non-Key Decisions. It may also make recommendations to Council on 
matters relating to the Council’s budget or its policy framework. 
 
A Key Decision is a Cabinet decision that is likely: 
 

1. To result in the District Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to 
the District Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates (for these purposes, South Kesteven 
District Council has agreed £200,000 as the threshold at which a decision will be considered significant); or 

2. To be significant in terms of its effects on communities that live or work in an area comprising two or more wards. 
 
A Non-Key Decision is one that is not a Key Decision. 
 
The Forward Plan 
 
The Cabinet Forward Plan is a rolling, 12-month plan that will be updated on a regular basis. It includes those matters that are 
scheduled to be considered by Cabinet during the plan period. This plan also includes details of those decisions that are due to be 
made by the full Council. 
 
Overview and Scrutiny 
 
The Forward Plan will be circulated to all Overview and Scrutiny Committees and considered at each meeting when Members set 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes. Members of the Scrutiny Committees will be able to pick those items from 
the Forward Plan that are relevant to their remit which they wish to scrutinise. 
 
  

193

A
ppendix 1



Notice of future Cabinet decisions and recommendations to Council  
 
Summary Date Action Contact 

 
Cabinet – 3 November 2020 

 
South Kesteven District Council Climate Change and Carbon Reduction Annual Position Statement (Key Decision) 

To give an update on progress since 
South Kesteven District Council declared a 
climate emergency 

3 Nov 
2020 

To note the current position Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Strategic Director, Commercial and Operations 
Tel: 01476 40 63 44 
Email: gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Statement of Community Involvement – Review (Key Decision) 

To review the document to take account of 
statutory changes and to consider 
opportunities for greater flexibility in 
undertaking consultation, particularly in 
light of Covid-19 

3 Nov 
2020  

To approve changes to 
document 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning  
 
Head of Planning Policy  
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document – Approval of Consultation Draft (Key Decision) 

The document will provide guidance to 
applicants and decision makers in order to 
improve the design quality of new 
development proposals as a supplement 
to the Local Plan policies 

3 Nov 
2020 

To approve the 
Supplementary Planning 
Document for consultation 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 
Head of Planning Policy  
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Procurement of Contract for Property Upgrades (Key Decision) 

The contract will include electrical 
testing and upgrades, electric heating 
upgrades, replacement of solid fuel 
heating with electric heating and solar 
PV and structural and conversion 
works. 
 

3 Nov 
2020 

To approve the contract Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 
Interim Assistant Director, Housing  
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 

194

mailto:gary.smith@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Procurement of Property Improvement Works (Key Decision) 

To enter into a contract providing 
Property Improvement Works to our 
council stock including Major Voids, 
Kitchens and Bathrooms 
 

3 Nov 
2020 

To agree to enter into a 
contract  

Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
(Councillor Robert Reid) 
 
Interim Assistant Director of Housing 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 
Council – 26 November 2020 

 
Leisure Centre Proposals (Budget)  

To set the Council budget to support the 
Council Company and to appoint the 
Board Directors 

26 Nov 
2020 

To approve the budget to 
support the Council 
Company and confirm the 
Directors 
 

Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of 
the Council 
 
Strategic Director, Growth  
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Asset Management Strategy  

To consider the draft Asset Management 
Strategy 
 

26 Nov 
2020 

To adopt an Asset 
Management Strategy 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 
 
Strategic Director, Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 61 77 
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 
Cabinet – 1 December 2020 

 
Housing Allocation Policy 2021 to Include Choice Based Lettings (Key Decision) 

To consider the policy and 
recommendations from the Rural and 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

1 Dec 
2020 

To adopt a refreshed 
Housing Allocation Policy 
incorporating a Choice 
Based Lettings Scheme 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 

Interim Assistant Director, Housing  
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 

195

mailto:chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Leisure Centre Proposals (Key Decision) 

To consider leisure improvement 
proposals and business cases 
 

1 Dec 
2020 

To approve improvement 
proposals and business 
cases 
 

Councillor Barry Dobson, the Deputy Leader of 
the Council  
 
Strategic Director, Growth  
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Housing Asset Management Strategy 2021-2026 (Key Decision) 

To consider the draft Housing Asset 
Management Strategy 2021-2026  
 

1 Dec 
2020 
 

To adopt a Housing Asset 
Management Strategy 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 
Interim Assistant Director, Housing  
E-mail: chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 

Council Tax Base 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To determine the Council Tax base for 
2021/22, which will form the basis of the 
Budget proposals for the year 

1 Dec 
2020 

To determine the Council 
Tax base to form the basis 
of the 2021/22 Budget 
proposals to be 
recommended to Council 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 

Draft Budget Proposals 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To consider the draft Budget proposals for 
2021/22 

1 Dec 
2020 

To agree the draft Budget 
proposals for 2021/22 for 
consultation  

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Review of the Licensing Act 2003 Policy Statement (Policy Framework Proposal) 

To consider any changes to the Policy 
Statement 

1 Dec 
2020 

To recommend any 
changes to Council 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Head of Public Protection 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
Email: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

196

mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:chris.stratford@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

 

Proposed Development Brief for Land at Stamford North (Key Decision) 

To consider the proposed development 
brief for land at Stamford North prior to 
consultation 
 

1 Dec 
2020 

To approve the draft 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of land 
at Stamford North for 
consultation 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 
Head of Planning Policy  
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

Food Waste Collection (Key Decision) 

To provide an update on food waste 
collection 

1 Dec 
2020 
 

To make decisions around 
food waste collection within 
South Kesteven and any 
consequential budget 
changes  
 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations 
 
Assistant Director Commercial and Operations 
Tel: 01476 40 62 01 
E-mail: i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 
Cabinet – 19 January 2021 

 

Budget Proposals 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To agree the Budget proposals for 
2021/22 

19 Jan 
2021 
 

To recommend the Budget 
proposals 2021/22 to 
Council 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 
Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

South Kesteven District Council’s Carbon Reduction Plan (Key Decision) 

To consider the Council’s carbon reduction 
plans  

19 Jan 
2021 
 

To make a decision around 
the Council’s carbon 
reduction plans and make 
any consequential budget 
changes 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations 
 
Sustainability & Climate Change Officer 
Tel: 01476 40 60 80 
E-mail: serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

197

mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:i.yates@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:serena.brown@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

 

Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Policy (Key Decision) 

To consider any proposed changes 
following consultation 
 

19 Jan 
2020 

To approve the policy 
 

Councillor Dr Peter Moseley, Cabinet Member 
for Commercial and Operations 
 
Head of Public Protection 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
E-mail: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Rectory Farm Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision)  

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft document 
 

19 Jan 
2021 

To recommend to Council a 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of 
Rectory Farm 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning  
 
Special Projects Manager 
Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
E-mail: p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 

 
Council – 28 January 2020 

 

Review of the Licensing Act 2003 Policy Statement (Policy Framework Proposal) 

To consider any changes to the Policy 
Statement 

28 Jan 
2021 

To approve the Licensing 
Act 2003 Policy Statement 

Cabinet Member for Commercial and 
Operations (Councillor Dr Peter Moseley) 
 
Head of Public Protection 
Tel: 01476 40 63 19 
Email: a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

Rectory Farm - Supplementary Planning Document (Key Decision) 

198

mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:a.coulthard@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

To consider the Rectory Farm 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following consultation on a draft document 
 

28 Jan 
2021 

To approve a 
Supplementary Planning 
Document in respect of 
Rectory Farm 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning  
 
Special Projects Manager 
Tel: 01476 40 61 64 
E-mail: p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 

 
Council – 1 March 2021 

 
Budget 2021/22 (Budget Framework) 

To consider the Cabinet’s Budget 
proposals 

1 Mar 
2021 

To agree the Budget for 
2021/22 

Councillor Adam Stokes, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

Interim Director of Finance 
Tel: 01476 40 62 10 
E-mail: r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk  
 
 

Pay Policy Statement (Legislative) 

To receive recommendations from the 
Employment Committee on the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement 2021/22 

1 Mar 
2021 

To approve the Council’s 
Pay Policy Statement 
2021/22 for publication 

Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council 
 

Head of Organisational Development and 
Change 
Tel: 01476 40 61 32 
E-mail: e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk 
  

 
Cabinet – 20 May 2021 

Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document - Final (Key Decision) 

To consider the Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Document 
following public consultation 
 

20 May 
2021 

To approve the Design 
Guide Supplementary 
Planning Document 
 

Councillor Robert Reid, Cabinet Member for 
Housing and Planning 
 
 

Head of Planning Policy  
Tel: 01476 40 64 38 
E-mail: r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk 
 

 

199

mailto:p.moore@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.wyles@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:e.pepper@southkesteven.gov.uk
mailto:r.ranson@southkesteven.gov.uk


Summary Date Action Contact 

Other Items – dates pending 

 
Strategic Regeneration Acquisitions (Key Decision) 

To make strategic regeneration acquisitions   Councillor Kelham Cooke, the Leader of the 
Council  
 
Strategic Director, Growth 
Tel: 01476 40 63 75 
E-mail: p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk 

Information relating to this decision is exempt under 
paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 as amended because it contains information 
which relates to the financial or business affairs of an 
individual or organisation 

 

200

mailto:p.thomas@southkesteven.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

201

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

211

Appendix A



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

231

Appendix 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

233

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

235

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

237

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

239

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

241

Appendix 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

245

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

247

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

249

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

253

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

255

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

259

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

263

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

265

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

267

Appendix 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Review of Public Space Protection Orders
	Appendix 1 letter
	Appendix 1 map
	Appendix 2: Draft Public Space Protection Orders
	Appendix 3: PSPO survey
	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Question Title
	1. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	2. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to tell us about it.

	Question Title
	3. Is dog fouling an issue that concerns you?

	Question Title
	4. If yes, please give details below:


	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Question Title
	5. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	6. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to tell us about it.

	Question Title
	7. Have you experienced or are concerned about nuisance behaviour from dogs not being kept under control by their owners€whilst being walked?

	Question Title
	8. If yes, please give details below:


	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Question Title
	9. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	10. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to tell us about it.

	Question Title
	11. Are you concerned about or have experienced dogs being permitted to enter and/or remain in enclosed children’s play areas?

	Question Title
	12. If yes, please give details below:


	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Question Title
	13. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	14. If you would like to see this order amended in any way, or no longer apply, please use the space below to tell us about it.

	Question Title
	15. Are you concerned about or have experienced problematic behaviour associated with drinking in public spaces?

	Question Title
	16. If yes, please give€details below:

	Question Title
	17. The council wants to understand and be aware of€any impacts€extending or not renewing the existing public space protection orders may have. Please use the space below to tell us about them.


	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Question Title
	18. To what extent do you agree or disagree with this proposal? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	19. Are you concerned about or have experienced issues with the behaviour of dogs being off their lead(s) within the Spinney?

	Question Title
	20. If yes, please give details below:

	Question Title
	21. Will the introduction of a Public Space Protection Order for the area in Market Deeping Cemetery known as the Spinney have a significant negative impact on you?

	Question Title
	22. if yes, please give details below:

	Question Title
	23. Do you think there are any other options the council could consider?

	Question Title
	24. If yes, please use the space below to tell us about them.


	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Question Title
	25. Please tell us if you are …….? Please tick all that apply.

	Question Title
	26. What is your gender? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	27. Which of the following age bands do you belong to? Please tick one only.

	Question Title
	28. Do you consider yourself to have a disability? Please tick one only

	Question Title
	29. Please tell us the first four/five digits of your postcode eg NG31 7 or PE6 2. This will only be used to see if we have received responses from across the district. It will not be used to identify you in any way.


	Public Space Protection Orders Consultation August 2020
	Question Title
	30. If you have any questions or would like to comment on anything included in this survey, please use the space below:

	Question Title
	31. If you would like a response to your query, please give us your contact details. They will only be used to contact you in relation to this query and will not be used for any other purpose or passed onto anyone else.



	Appendix 3: PSPO stakeholder feedback
	Appendix 3: PSPO consultation feedback report
	Appendix 4

	5 Community Funding
	Appendix A - Criteria Application Process and Conditions

	6 Planning White Paper Consultation Response
	Appendix 1 - White Paper response

	7 Award of Contract to Tunstall for Sheltered Housing Telecare System
	13.10.2020 - Appendix 1 - Contract Award Notice
	13.10.2020 - Appendix 2 - Tunstall Safeguarding Policy 2020
	13.10.2020 - Appendix 3 - Tunstall Equality Policy Statement
	13.10. 2020 - Appendix 4 - Tunstall Terms and Conditions for Goods and Services
	13.10.2020 - Appendix 5 - Tunstall Business Continuity overview

	8 Lease of Linchfield Road
	Appendix 1 - Demise Plan - Parish Council
	Appendix 2 - Demise Plan - Anthum Schools Trust

	9 Matters Referred to Cabinet by the Council or Overview and Scrutiny Committees
	10 Key and Non Key Decisions taken under Delegated Powers
	NonKeyDecisionReportRoughSleepingInitiativeFunding
	AppendixRoughSleepingInitiativefundingbid
	RR Rough Sleeper Inititative 03.09.20

	12 Cabinet Forward Plan 1 November 2020 to 31 October 2021
	131020-Appendix1-Forward Plan amended

	13 St Martin's Park, Stamford project update
	Appendix A - SMP Sales and Marketing Recommendation Report
	Appendix 8 - B&F Summary (Emp)
	Appendix 8 - B&F Summary (MU)
	Appendix 8 - B&F Summary (Resi)
	Appendix 8 - B&F Summary (Retire)
	Appendix 8 - Copy of B&F Summary
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (1)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (2)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (3)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (4)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (5)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (6)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (7)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (8)
	Appendix 9 - SMP - Final Scoring Matrix (9)
	Appendix 10




